
 

 

 

Simon Hobbs 
Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
County Hall 
Matlock 
Derbyshire 
DE4 3AG 
 
Extension 38327 
Direct Dial 01629 538327 
Ask for Roy Ackrill 
 

 
PUBLIC 

 
To:  Members of Cabinet 
 
 
 

Wednesday, 15 January 2020 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
Please attend a meeting of the Cabinet to be held at 2.00 pm on 
Thursday, 23 January 2020 in Committee Room 1, County Hall, Matlock, 
DE4 3AG, the agenda for which is set out below. 
 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Simon Hobbs 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services  
 
A G E N D A 
 
PART I - NON-EXEMPT ITEMS  
 
1.   To receive apologies for absence  

 
2.   To receive declarations of interest (if any)  

 
3.   To consider Minority Group Leader questions (if any)  

 
4 (a)   Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019-20  (as at 31 October 2019) (Pages 1 - 

20) 
 

4 (b)   Budget Consultation Results (Pages 21 - 50) 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

4 (c)   Revenue Budget Report 2020-21 (Pages 51 - 132) 
 

4 (d)   Cabinet Programme Approvals, Treasury Management and Capital 
Strategy (Pages 133 - 182) 
 

4 (e)   Revised Vision and Future Strategy for Direct Care Homes for Older 
People 2020-2025 (Pages 183 - 248) 
 

 



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 1 
 

Agenda Item No 4(a) 
 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

CABINET 
 

23 January 2020 
 

Report of the Director of Finance & ICT  
  

BUDGET MONITORING 2019-20 (as at 31 October 2019) 
(STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP, CULTURE AND TOURISM) 

 
1 Purpose of the Report 
 
To provide Cabinet with the Revenue Budget position for 2019-20 as at  
31 October 2019. 
 
2 Information and Analysis 
 
The report summarises the controllable budget position by Cabinet Member 
Portfolio as at 31 October 2019.  Further reports will be considered at Audit 
Committee and Council in accordance with the Budget Monitoring Policy and 
Financial Regulations. 
 
The projected outturn compared to controllable budget is summarised below.  
This includes the use of one-off funding to support the Highways, Transport 
and Infrastructure and Young People portfolios.  It also allows for the transfer 
of £5.000m additional Business Rates Relief Grant into an Earmarked 
Reserve as approved at the Cabinet Meeting of 21 November 2019. 
  

Page 1

Agenda Item 4(a)



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 2 
 

 Budget 
Forecast 
Actuals 

Projected 
Outturn 

 £m £m £m 

Adult Care 249.954 248.287 (1.667) 

Corporate Services 47.755 45.544 (2.211) 

Economic Development and Regeneration 0.701 0.616 (0.085) 

Health and Communities (exc. Public Health) 1.848 1.730 (0.118) 

Highways, Transport and Infrastructure 79.843 79.058 (0.785) 

Strategic Leadership, Culture and Tourism 12.825 12.569 (0.256) 

Young People 110.503 116.208 5.705 

Total Portfolio Outturn 503.429 504.012 0.583 

Interest and Dividend Income   (0.597) 

Debt Charges   (0.621) 

Risk Management   (4.535) 

Levies and Precepts   0.000 

Corporate Adjustments   0.680 

Total   (4.490) 

 

A summary of the individual portfolio positions is detailed below.  
 
Adult Care  

There is a projected year-end underspend of £1.667m.  The main variances 
are: 

Purchased Services, £4.768m overspend – relates to an increase in the cost 
of complex care packages and a reduction in Continuing Health Care funding. 

Unallocated Budgets, £2.145m underspend – relates to budgets awaiting 
allocation during the year. 

Health Funding, £1.807m underspend – relates to Winter Pressures grant 
funding which has now been allocated and had not been budgeted for 
originally. 

Commissioning and Service Delivery, £0.959m underspend – due to vacancy 
control and new posts in the Management Team and Transformation Service 
being filled later than originally budgeted. 

Assistive Technology and Equipment, £0.702m underspend – more targeted 
issuing has ensured that only the most appropriate equipment is supplied, 
saving on the procurement of less suitable equipment. 

Due to the high projected underspend on the portfolio and the estimated 
increase in Better Care Fund grant income in addition to this, £5.000m of base 
budget has been transferred from Adult Care to the Risk Management budget. 

Page 2



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 3 
 

The budget savings target for 2019-20 is £5.732m. Of this target, £6.083m is 
expected to be achieved by the end of the financial year. 
 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2019-20 budget for the main 
growth items: 
 

 Adult Social Care Precept and Improved Better Care Fund - £12.439m, 
to cover the additional cost of independent sector fees, the pay award 
relating to staff working in Adult Care and to address the equitable 
allocation of budgets across the eight districts. 

 

 Transformational Care Programme - £0.456m, to move 24 clients from 
long stay hospitals to social care provision in line with the independent 
living agenda. 

 
The main risks which could impact on the portfolio’s outturn position are 
contained in Appendix Two. 
 
Corporate Services 
 
There is a projected year-end underspend of £2.211m. The main variances 
are: 
 
Human Resources, £0.618m underspend – due to vacancy control.  
Departmental Human Resource functions are currently being centralised.  
Holding vacancies will assist in managing a planned restructure of the function 
as a whole which is expected to deliver significant savings in 2020-21 and 
2021-22. 
 
Finance and ICT, £0.525m underspend - due to vacancy control.  This will 
assist in managing a planned restructure aiming to deliver significant savings 
over the three years from 2020-21. 
 
Strategic Management, £0.345m underspend - relates to savings arising from 
previous restructures of senior management. 
 
A budget savings target for 2019-20 of £1.367m has been allocated.  Of this 
target, £1.229m of savings initiatives have been identified, all of which are 
expected to be achieved by the end of the financial year. 
 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2019-20 budget for the main 
growth items: 
 

 Legal Services - £0.300m (one-off), to support the high levels of 
demand for the service 

 ICT Strategy - £0.200m, to ensure that ICT is aligned with the needs of 
the business and delivery of the Enterprising Council programme. 

Page 3



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 4 
 

 Enterprising Council - £0.150m (one-off), to support transformational 
change. 

 Learning Management System - £0.083m (one-off), to manage the 
replacement of the Council’s Learning Management system. 

 HR SAP Development - £0.045m (one-off), to support the HR SAP 
Development team to generate financial savings. 

 
The main risks which could impact on the portfolio’s outturn position are 
contained in Appendix Two. 
 
Economic Development and Regeneration 
 
There is a projected year-end underspend of £0.085m.  The main variances 
are: 
 
Economic Development, £0.126m underspend – Part of the budget for the 
Enhanced Enterprise and Investment Service is set aside to lever in external 
funding.  Suitable projects which deliver sufficient value for money have not 
yet been identified and recruitment to posts within the service is not yet 
complete, so this budget is not currently forecast to be spent. 
 
Employment and skills, £0.075m overspend – relates to salary overspend, 
resulting from a budget deficit when the Head of Employment and Skills post 
was established.  
 
No budget savings target has been allocated to this portfolio for 2019-20. 
 
No additional funding has been provided to this portfolio in the 2019-20 
budget. 
 
It is possible that demand from businesses for additional relief and support 
with trading arrangements will increase as a result of the process of the United 
Kingdom’s departure from the European Union.  It has not been possible to 
quantify the scale of the resources required to provide this support or the 
potential impact on the portfolio’s outturn position. 

Health and Communities  

The Health and Communities portfolio includes the Public Health budget of 
£39.477m, which is fully funded by the ring-fenced Public Health Grant for 
2019-20.  The forecast year-end position for the portfolio is an underspend of 
£0.056m.  However, excluding Public Health, the portfolio is forecast to 
underspend by £0.118m.  The main variances are: 
 
Trading Standards, £0.173m underspend – progress towards future planned 
savings for the period to 2022 and one-off funding yet to be committed to 
support older people in respect of scams and doorstep crime. 

Page 4



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 5 
 

A budget savings target of £0.157m has been allocated for 2019-20. A total of 
£0.206m of savings initiatives have been identified, of which it is anticipated 
that £0.206m will be achieved by the end of the financial year. 
 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2019-20 budget for the following 
growth items: 
 

 Coroners - £0.270m, to establish new posts and increase daily fees to 
Assistant Coroners. 

 Trading Standards (Older People Support) - £0.048m (one-off), to 
provide a programme to increase awareness and reduce instances of 
fraudulent activity against older people. 

The main risks which could impact on the portfolio’s outturn position are 
contained in Appendix Two. 
 
Highways, Transport and Infrastructure 

The Highways, Transport and Infrastructure portfolio is forecast to overspend 
by £1.215m, against a total budget of £77.843m.  However, after the allocation 
of £2.000m of one-off funding from the Budget Management Earmarked 
Reserve, the portfolio is projected to underspend by £0.785m.  Funding has 
been set aside in the Budget Management Earmarked Reserve for the 
purpose of meeting the shortfall in the Economy, Transport and Environment 
department’s identified savings target.  The intention is to allocate £2.000m of 
savings to Highways Maintenance in a future financial year, but the 2019-20 
Highways budget remains the same as last financial year because of the use 
of this funding from reserves.  Use of the reserve for this purpose was 
approved in the Revenue Budget reported to Council on 6 February 2019. 
 
Before the allocation of the reserve funding detailed above, the main 
variances are: 
 
Unallocated Budget Savings, £5.250m overspend – savings targets not yet 
allocated to specific services. 
 
Planning and Development, £1.778m underspend – mainly due to additional 
inspection fee income, paid to the Council by building developers, under 
Section 38 and 278 of the Highways Act (1980).  The high levels of fee 
income reflect the present state of the local economy and the large number of 
developments currently underway. 
 
Winter Maintenance, £1.777m overspend – of the £1.473m budget for the 
winter service, £1.189m had already been spent by the end of October 2019.  
Further expenditure of £2.061m is forecast for the remainder of the year.  The 
Winter Service budget does not provide for more than a mild winter, so the 
Council is reliant on using contingency reserves for additional costs incurred 
as a result of a moderate or severe winter. 
 

Page 5



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 6 
 

Highways Maintenance, £1.869m underspend – due to staff costs being 
allocated to capital budgets rather than revenue.  The underspend is also due 
to vacancies; however, these will reduce as the new Highways staff structure 
is filled. 
 
Waste Management, £1.647m underspend – lower than expected waste 
tonnages and savings under the service continuity arrangements. 
 
Costs of £0.567m were incurred in response to the Toddbrook Reservoir 
incident at Whaley Bridge, predominantly by the Highways Maintenance 
service.  The Highways and Maintenance service costs of £0.547m have been 
funded from the General Reserve.  Use of the General Reserve for this 
purpose has been reflected in the forecasts above. 
 
The budget savings target for 2019-20 is £2.609m, with a further £3.321m 
target brought forward from previous years.  Of this total target of £5.930m, 
£0.680m is expected to be achieved by the end of the financial year, with the 
expected base budget overspend being met from one-off funding, as 
explained above.  Therefore there is currently a £5.250m forecast shortfall in 
achievement of budget savings, however the multi-year savings programme to 
2023-24 does allow for some slippage to be covered by prior years’ 
underspends, still delivering the savings target in total. 
 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2019-20 budget for the main 
growth items: 
 

 Waste Management - £1.500m, to cover the increased cost of delivering 
the waste treatment and disposal contracts across Derbyshire and 
increased cost of recycling credits. 

 Highways Maintenance - £1.000m (one-off), to provide a co-ordinated 
programme of maintenance improvements. 

 Public Transport - £0.500m, to maintain reasonable levels of public 
transport accessibility across Derbyshire. 

 Water Body £0.100m (one-off), to enable the Council to meet its 
obligations to manage its water bodies under new regulations 

 HS2 Co-ordination Officer £0.064m (one-off), to support representation 
of the Council’s interests as the HS2 route is developed. 

 Street Lighting Energy - £0.048m (one-off), to meet inflationary 
increases to the cost of street lighting energy. 

 
The main risks which could impact on the portfolio’s outturn position are 
contained in Appendix Two. 
 
Any additional costs incurred from the identified risks will be met from the 
Budget Management earmarked reserve, the Economy, Transport and 
Environment Prior Year underspends earmarked reserve and the Winter 
Maintenance earmarked reserve, therefore none of these issues are expected 
to impact on the overall budget position for 2019-20. 

Page 6



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 7 
 

Strategic Leadership, Culture and Tourism 
 
A year-end underspend of £0.256m is projected.  The main variances are: 
 
Policy and Research, £0.176m underspend – due to vacancy control and 
reduced running costs. 
 
Call Derbyshire, £0.134m underspend – due to vacancy control and staff 
turnover. 
 
Heritage, £0.063m overspend – the Environmental Studies Service has been 
allocated a savings target which has yet to be achieved. 
 
Tourism and Twinning, £0.057m underspend – reduced expenditure on 
tourism related activities. 
 
The budget savings target for 2019-20 is £0.515m, with a further £0.159m 
target brought forward from previous years.  All of this total target of £0.674m 
is expected to be achieved by the end of the financial year. 
 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2019-20 budget for the following 
items: 
 

 Community Managed Libraries - £0.742m (one-off), to fund the 
commitment to introduce community managed libraries. 

 Thriving Communities - £0.368m, to focus on radically reshaping 
demand, unlocking community potential and creating an alliance for 
work and skills. 

 Enterprising Council - £0.094m, to support transformational change. 
 
There are no significant risks expected to impact on the portfolio’s outturn 
position. 

Young People 

The Young People portfolio is forecast to overspend by £7.087m, against a 
total budget of £109.121m.  However, after the allocation of £1.382m of one-
off funding from the Budget Management Earmarked Reserve, the portfolio is 
projected to overspend by £5.705m.  Funding has been set aside in the 
Budget Management Earmarked Reserve for the purpose of meeting the 
shortfall in the Children’s Services department’s identified savings target.  The 
intention is to allocate £1.382m of savings to Children’s Services budgets in a 
future financial year, but the 2019-20 budgets have not been reduced by this 
amount because of the use of this funding from reserves.  Use of the reserve 
for this purpose was approved in the revenue budget reported to Council on  
6 February 2019. 
 

Page 7



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 8 
 

However, it should be noted that the eventual overspend could be as high as 
£8.500m depending on the continued trend in the rate of placements for 
children in care. 
 
The forecast outturn position includes £6.756m of Dedicated Schools Grant 
income, as a contribution to the cost of supporting Early Help services and 
children with additional needs.  Income from this source is not guaranteed to 
continue at the same level in future years. 
 
Before the allocation of the reserve funding detailed above, the main 
variances are: 
 
Placements for Children in Care, £5.060m overspend – placement numbers 
have continued to rise steadily over the last six months.  There are currently 
more placements required than can be funded from the allocated budget.  The 
forecast overspend has increased since August due to new placements. 
 
Unallocated Budget, £2.946m underspend – this represents budget released 
as a result of changes to the Early Help offer.  It is being held to cover an 
anticipated £1.767m of grant income which the government has signalled will 
be withdrawn in 2020-21.  In the interim it will help offset some of the 
portfolio’s underspend against its current budget. 
 
Home to School Transport, £1.316m overspend – an increase in the number 
of journeys provided to children with Special Educational Needs (SEN) and an 
increase in the cost of those journeys, driven by economic factors and the 
need to provide more specialised vehicles. 
 
Children’s Safeguarding Services, £1.027m overspend – reliance on more 
expensive agency social workers to meet an increasing caseload.  The 
number of children with child protection plans is impacting on that team’s staff 
costs.  Also, payments to support families without recourse to public funds, 
short term support associated with Universal Credit and the cost of 
accommodating children whilst court proceedings are concluded has 
increased the pressure on budgets to support children and families in need. 
 
Education Support Services, £0.883m overspend – an increase in the number 
of children with SEN driving demand for the Psychology and the Planning and 
Assessment teams.  Also, a growing number of children who are electively 
home educated is increasing the cost to the Council undertaking its statutory 
duties in respect of these children. 
 
Support to Children with Disabilities, £0.832m overspend – increasing demand 
for support and complexity of some individuals’ needs. 
 
Early Help and Preventative Services, £0.769m overspend – a shortfall in 
contributions from schools towards the Early Help offer. 
 

Page 8



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 9 
 

Pensions Payable to Former Staff, £0.206m overspend – enhanced pension 
obligations payable to staff who left during the early 1990s. 
 
A savings target of £3.013m has been allocated for 2019-20. Savings 
initiatives totalling £3.013m have been identified, of which £2.323m are 
expected to be achieved by the end of the financial year. 

Additional funding has been provided in the 2019-20 budget for the main 
growth items: 
 

 Placement Demand Pressures - £3.000m plus one-off funding of 
£5.000m, to support the increase in the demand for placements and the 
increasing complexity of children and young peoples’ needs. 

 Social Worker Recruitment - £1.300m plus one-off funding of £2.600m, 
as part of a four year recruitment plan to increase the number of social 
workers to ensure caseloads are at a healthy working level consistent 
with good practice. 

 Home to School Transport (SEN) - £1.450m, to support the increased 
cost of transporting children and young people to school, pupil referral 
units or alternative provision when they have been excluded from 
mainstream schools.  

 Increase in Special Guardianship Placements - £1.097m, to ensure the 
budget is sufficient to meet the current level of costs payable to those 
who have parental responsibility under a special guardianship order. 

 Children in Care Legal Proceedings - £1.050m (one-off), reflecting the 
greater number of court proceedings and the increased use of external 
legal firms to present cases. 

 Children’s Homes - £0.450m, to provide additional staffing required to 
meet the needs of children and young people placed in homes. 

 Care Leavers - £0.402m (one-off), to meet the cost of additional 
statutory duties towards care leavers. 

 SEND Assessment and Planning - £0.275m, to provide additional 
staffing. 

 Mobile Working - £0.260m (one-off), to develop solutions to enable 
more flexible working with the aim of achieving cost benefits and 
improvements to the timeliness of information. 

 Complex Case Pooled Budget - £0.250m (one-off), contingency for the 
Council’s contribution to the pooled budget reflecting the increasing 
levels of expenditure in recent years. 

 Child Protection - £0.105m (one-off), to fund the cost of staff needed to 
respond to an increased number of children on protection plans.  Staff 
will be reduced if the number of children on plans reduces. 

 Children’s Participation - £0.080m (one-off), to fund a delay to a planned 
budget reduction to the support provided to children and young people 
to participate in decision making.  The service is seeking to identify 
alternative savings options. 

 Foster Carers - £0.060m, to cover the inflationary increase to foster 
carer allowances from April 2019. 

Page 9



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 10 
 

The main risks which could impact on the portfolio’s outturn position are 
contained in Appendix Two. 
 
Dedicated Schools Grant 
 
The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is a ring-fenced grant comprising four 
individual blocks: Schools Block, High Needs Block (HNB), Early Years Block 
and Central Block.  Allocations of the blocks are governed by the Schools and 
Early Years Finance Regulations.  Any underspend or overspend on the grant 
is carried forward to future years within the accumulated balance of the DSG 
Earmarked Reserve. 
 
After utilising available balances from the DSG reserve, it is anticipated that 
2019-20 HNB expenditure will exceed the allocated grant income by £2.739m.  
This has increased since the last forecast because of the number of 
increasingly complex placements with independent and non-maintained 
providers.   It is anticipated that surpluses in other blocks will offset the HNB 
deficit, bringing the overall balance on the DSG reserve to carry forward to 
2020-21 to nil.  However, there are commitments to be paid out to new 
schools over the next five years from these other blocks.  Therefore, it is 
important that the HNB deficit is recovered before these commitments fall due.   
These deficits accumulate in the DSG reserve.   
 
On 4 September 2019, in the Spending Review 2019, the Government 
announced an additional £700m of High Needs Funding for special 
educational needs.  The Department for Education intends to distribute this 
between authorities based on the HNB within the DSG over the coming three 
years.  It is anticipated that this additional funding will enable balanced 
spending plans to be set in the financial years to 2022-23, including recovery 
of the 2019-20 HNB deficit.   Any remaining overall deficit on the DSG reserve 
would have to be funded by earmarking that amount from the General 
Reserve. 
 
Summary 
 
A Council portfolio overspend of £0.583m is forecast, after the use of £3.382m 
of Earmarked Reserves to support the Highways, Transport and Infrastructure 
and Young People portfolios.  Any underspends in 2019-20 will be used to 
manage the budget in 2020-21. 
 
Interest and Dividends received on balances is estimated to underspend by 
£0.597m, assuming that returns on the Council’s investments in pooled funds 
remain robust and that these investments are held for all of the financial year.  
The interest base rate is currently 0.75%, however, the Council utilises a 
range of investments to maximise its income. 
 
 
 

Page 10



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 11 
 

The Debt Charges budget is projected to underspend by £0.621m.  This is 
based on forecast interest payments, anticipated Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR), a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) of 2.5% in keeping 
with the policy reported to Cabinet on 22 November 2016 and a £4.500m one-
off reduction in the Council’s Capital Adjustment Account Reserve.  This 
reduction is made on the basis that the amounts set aside to repay debt over 
the last ten years are well in excess of what is required to ensure the Council 
can repay its debts. 
 
The Risk Management Budget is forecast to underspend by £4.535m.  This 
includes a virement of £5.000m of budget from the Adult Care portfolio.  In 
2019-20 a contingency amount of £1.000m was budgeted for burdens 
associated with complying with the new General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR).  Use of this contingency amount is controlled by the Deputy Director 
of Legal Services.  To date, £0.316m of this funding has been awarded to 
departments.  Further awards in the remainder of the financial year are 
anticipated and additional costs required to comply with GDPR are anticipated 
to be incurred in 2020-21, therefore it is proposed to establish an earmarked 
reserve for £0.684m to carry forward any residual balance of this funding. 
 
Corporate Adjustments are forecast to overspend by £0.680m.  This is based 
on a prudent allowance for potential credit losses on the Council’s non-rated 
investments. 
 
Details of the Council’s Earmarked Reserves balances as at 31 October 2019 
are set out in Appendix One.  In addition to these balances, £5.000m of 
additional Business Rates Relief grant funding received will be transferred to a 
newly established Business Rates Relief Earmarked Reserve and £1.015m 
will be released from Earmarked Reserves to the General Reserve as 
approved by Cabinet on 21 November 2019. 
 
A summary of the expected achievement of budget savings targets is provided 
at Appendix Three.  The budget savings target for 2019-20 is £13.393m, with 
a further £3.480m target brought forward from previous years.  The savings 
initiatives identified to meet this target currently fall short by £5.362m, 
therefore further proposals will need to be brought forward to ensure the 
Council continues to balance its budget.  Of this total target of £16.873m, 
£11.145m is expected to be achieved by the end of the financial year.  
Therefore, there is a £5.728m forecast shortfall in achievement of budget 
savings.  The resulting base budget overspend is offset to some extent by 
one-off underspends or is being met from one-off funding from earmarked 
reserves. 
 
The age profile of debts owed to the Council and the value of debts written off 
is disclosed in Appendix Four.  This information is collected on a departmental 
rather than a portfolio basis. 
 
 
 

Page 11



  Public 
 

PHR-1043 12 
 

A forecast of the Council’s General Reserve balance for the period 2019-20 to 
2023-24 is detailed in Appendix Five.  The forecast shows that the level of 
General Reserve is expected to be between 3% to 10% of the Council’s Net 
Budget Requirement in the medium term.  The majority of chief financial 
officers consider 3% to 5% of a council’s net spending to be a prudent level of 
risk based reserves. 
 
3 Financial Considerations 
 
As set out above. 
 
4 Other Considerations 
 
In preparing this report the relevance of the following factors has been 
considered: legal, prevention of crime and disorder, equality and diversity, 
human resources, environmental, health, property, transport and social value 
considerations. 
 
5 Background Papers 
 
Papers held in Technical Section, Finance & ICT, Room 137, County Hall. 
 
6 Key Decision 
 
No. 
 
7 Is it necessary to waive the call-in period?  
 
No. 
 
8 Officer’s Recommendation 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
8.1 Notes the 2019-20 budget monitoring position as at 31 October 2019. 
8.2 Approves the establishment of a GDPR Compliance Earmarked 

Reserve and a contribution of £0.684m from the Contingency budget 
into this reserve. 

 
 
 
 
 

PETER HANDFORD 
 

Director of Finance & ICT

Page 12



APPENDIX 1  Public 

PHR-1043 13 
 

Earmarked Reserves as at 31 October 2019  

  

Adult Care £m 

Older People's Housing Strategy 30.000 

Other reserves 0.033 

Total Adult Care 30.033 

  

Corporate Services  
Loan Modification Gains 28.440 

Insurance and Risk Management 20.069 

Budget Management 19.626 

Revenue Contributions to Capital 16.591 

Planned Building Maintenance 5.932 

Business Rates Strategic Investment Fund 4.889 

Business Rates Pool 4.716 

Prior Year Underspends 3.879 

Computer Purchasing 3.615 

Uninsured Financial Loss 3.500 

Property Insurance Maintenance Pool 2.837 

Property DLO 2.503 

Change Management 2.311 

PFI Reserves 1.981 

Community Priorities Programme 1.025 

Other reserves 4.047 

Total Corporate Services 125.961 

  

Economic Development and Regeneration  
D2 Growth Fund 0.200 

Markham Environment Centre 0.114 

Skills Training 0.101 

Other reserves 0.391 

Total Economic Development and Regeneration 0.806 

  

Health and Communities  
Domestic Abuse 2.060 

S256/External Funding 0.254 

Other reserves 0.349 

Total Health and Communities 2.663 

  

Highways, Transport and Infrastructure  
Prior Year Underspends 10.713 

Winter Maintenance 2.000 

Road Safety Public Service Agreement (PSA) 1.182 

Waste Recycling Initiatives 0.598 

Page 13



APPENDIX 1  Public 

PHR-1043 14 
 

IT Reserve 0.559 

Derby and Derbyshire Road Safety Partnership Reserve 0.500 

Other reserves 1.254 

Total Highways, Transport and Infrastructure 16.806 

  

Strategic Leadership, Culture and Tourism  
Policy and Research 1.044 

Community Managed Libraries 0.742 

Derbyshire Challenge Fund 0.466 

Library Restructure 0.429 

Derwent Valley Mills World Heritage Site 0.193 

Other reserves 0.590 

Total Strategic Leadership, Culture and Tourism 3.464 

  

Young People  
Tackling Troubled Families 4.083 

Standards Fund (Schools) 1.170 

Childrens Services IT Systems 0.746 

School Rates Refunds 0.721 

Youth Activity Grants 0.330 

Foster Carer Adaptations 0.326 

Other reserves 0.578 

Total Young People 7.954 

  

Total Portfolio Earmarked Reserves 187.687 

  

Schools  
Schools Balances 25.776 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 3.561 

  

Total balances held for and on behalf of schools 29.337 

  

Public Health Grant 7.601 

  

Page 14



APPENDIX 2  Public 

PHR-1043 15 
 

Service Risk Sensitivity* 
 

£m 

Likelihood 
(1 = Low, 
5 = High) 

*Sensitivity represents the potential negative impact on the outturn position 
should the event occur. 

 

Debt Charges 

Interest 
Payments 

If the Council needed to take 
out extra borrowing to fund 
additional capital expenditure, 
such as that associated with 
the purchase of the Waste 
Treatment Plant at Sinfin, this 
would impact on its annual 
interest payments. 
 
For example, an additional 
£30.000m of borrowing, from 
the Public Works Loans Board, 
repayable on maturity in 40 
years, would cost an additional 
£0.951m each year at the 
current rate of 3.17%. If this 
borrowing were taken out in 
January 2019, the 3 month 
impact on the budget would be 
£0.238m. 
 

0.238 3 

Minimum 
Revenue 
Provision 

An additional £30.000m of 
borrowing, from the Public 
Works Loans Board, repayable 
on maturity in 40 years would 
require an additional £0.750m 
to be provided each year for 
repayment of the debt. 
 
If this borrowing were taken out 
in January 2019, the 3 month 
impact on the budget would be 
£0.188m. 
 

0.188 3 

Adult Care 
None No single risks over £0.500m - - 

Corporate Services 
County 
Property 

Loss of key personnel due to 
uncertainty over a review 
planned to be implemented 
from January 2020.  Potential 
net loss of income. 

0.200 3 

Page 15



APPENDIX 2  Public 

PHR-1043 16 
 

Service Risk Sensitivity* 
 

£m 

Likelihood 
(1 = Low, 
5 = High) 

Health and Communities 
Coroners National shortage of 

Pathologists may impact by 
increasing fees 

0.090 5 

Highways, Transport and Infrastructure 
Highways and 
Countryside 

Failure of assets such as 
roads, pavements, bridges, 
retaining walls, street lighting 
columns, safety fencing, 
gullies, countryside assets, 
canals, reservoirs. 

1.500 4 

Winter 
Maintenance 

Impact of a severe winter. 1.500 4 

Street Lighting 
Energy and 
Maintenance 

Further energy price increases, 
or further slippage in 
implementation of the LED 
programme. 

0.300 2 

Flooding 
and/or extreme 
weather 

Emergency response 
procedures are in place to 
minimise the impacts of these 
emergencies. However there is 
the potential subsequent costs 
of remedial activities. 

1.000 3 

Waste 
Management 

Costs associated with resolving 
the future of the Waste 
Treatment Plant at Sinfin, 
including the possibility that 
some of these costs may not 
be considered capital in nature. 

3.000 5 

Young People 
Placements Increased number of children 

requiring placements. 
 

1.500 4 

Social Care 
services 

Increase in number of referrals 
meeting social care thresholds. 
 
Inability to recruit and retain 
sufficiently experienced social 
workers. 

0.200 
 
 
 
 

1.000 

4 
 
 
 
 
5 

Department 
wide 

Data security breaches 
resulting in fines. 

0.500 3 

Multi-Agency 
Teams 

Not meeting targets for 
Troubled Families data 
collection resulting in loss of 
income 

0.300 3 

Page 16



Public 

PHR-1043  17  
 

APPENDIX 3 
  

Budget Savings Monitoring 2019-20         

            

 Budget Savings Targets  Savings Initiatives Identified  

Target not 
Identified 

Actual 
Savings 
Forecast 

Savings 
Shortfall 

Portfolio 

 
Not yet 

achieved 
Brought 
Forward 

 
Prior 
Year 

Current 
Year 

Total 
Target  

Still to be 
Achieved 

 
Prior 
Year 

Current 
Year 

Total 
Identified  

(Shortfall)/ 
Additional 
Identified 

Savings 

Forecast to 
be achieved 
by Financial 

Year End 

Actual 
(Shortfall)/ 
Additional 

Achievement 
of Savings 

Target 

 £m £m £m  £m £m £m  £m £m £m 

AC 0.000 5.732 5.732  0.000 5.732 5.732  0.000 6.083 0.351 

CS 0.000 1.367 1.367  0.000 1.229 1.229  (0.138) 1.179 (0.188) 

EDR 0.000 0.000 0.000  0.000 0.000 0.000  0.000 0.000 0.000 

HC 0.000 0.157 0.157  0.000 0.206 0.206  0.049 0.206 0.049 

HTI 3.321 2.609 5.930  0.000 0.680 0.680  (5.250) 0.680 (5.250) 

SLCT 0.159 0.515 0.674  0.159 0.542 0.701  0.027 0.674 0.000 

YP 0.000 3.013 3.013  0.000 3.013 3.013  0.000 2.323 (0.690) 

            

Total 3.480 13.393 16.873   0.159 11.402 11.561   (5.312) 11.145 (5.728) 

            

AC = Adult Care ; CS = Corporate Services ; EDR = Economic Development and Regeneration ; HC = Health and Communities; 

HTI = Highways, Transport and Infrastructure ; SLCT = Strategic Leadership, Culture and Tourism ; YP = Young People 

P
age 17



  Public 

PHR-1043 18  
 

APPENDIX 4 
 
 
Age profile of debt, relating to income receivable, at 31 October 
2019 

       

0 - 30 31 - 365 1 - 2 2 - 3 3 - 4 Over 4 Total 

Days Days Years Years Years Years   

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Adult Care 

1.561 6.132 1.111 0.849 0.303 0.611 10.567 

14.8% 58.0% 10.5% 8.0% 2.9% 5.8% 100.0% 

Children's Services 

1.036 0.832 0.053 0.059 0.008 0.018 2.006 

51.6% 41.5% 2.6% 2.9% 0.4% 0.9% 100.0% 

Economy, Transport and Environment 

1.521 3.795 0.447 0.045 0.017 0.013 5.838 

26.1% 65.0% 7.7% 0.8% 0.3% 0.2% 100.0% 

Commissioning, Communities and Policy 

5.492 1.876 0.273 0.089 0.024 0.175 7.929 

69.3% 23.7% 3.4% 1.1% 0.3% 2.2% 100.0% 

All Departments 

9.610 12.635 1.884 1.042 0.352 0.817 26.340 

36.5% 48.0% 7.2% 4.0% 1.3% 3.1% 100.0% 
       

       

The value of debt written off in the 12 months up to 31 October 
2019 

       

Department £m 

Adult Care 0.764 

Children's Services 0.031 

Economy, Transport and Environment 0.014 

Commissioning, Communities and Policy 0.057 

All Departments 0.866 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 18



  Public 

PHR-1043  19  
 

APPENDIX 5 
 
 

General Reserves Forecast      

      

 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Opening Balance 64.570 42.686 26.880 22.144 15.494 

      

Forecast Contributions 12.610 2.500 2.500 2.500 2.500 

Forecast Use (34.494) (18.306) (7.236) (9.150) (4.150) 

      

Forecast Closing Balance 42.686 26.880 22.144 15.494 13.844 

      

Net Budget Requirement (NBR) 521.292 560.211 553.604 566.550 581.160 

As Forecast in the Five Year Financial Plan in the Revenue Budget Report 23 January 2020   

      

General Reserve Balance as % of 
NBR 8.19% 4.80% 4.00% 2.73% 2.38% 

 

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Public 
 

1 
PHR-1033 

 
Agenda Item No 4(b) 

 
DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
CABINET 

 
23 January 2020 

 
Report of the Director of Finance & ICT 

 
BUDGET CONSULTATION RESULTS 

(STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP, CULTURE AND TOURISM) 
 
 
1 Purpose of the Report 

To enable Cabinet to consider the outcome of the Council’s budget 
consultation exercises in formulating its budgetary proposals to Full Council 
regarding the Revenue Budget for 2020-21.  
 
This report should be read alongside the following reports to this Cabinet 
Meeting: the Budget Monitoring 2019-20 (as at 31 October 2019) Report; the 
Revenue Budget Report 2020-21 and the Capital Programme Approvals, 
Treasury Management and Capital Strategies for 2020-21. 
 
2 Information and Analysis   

The Council has, for a number of years, undertaken a variety of consultation 
exercises, using a range of methods, in the preparation of its annual revenue 
budget.  For 2020-21 the Council devised a “Your Council, Your Voice 2019” 
survey.  The online survey, which was developed using the findings from a 
number of focus groups held across the county at the end of September and 
early October 2019, combined both budget and residents’ consultations and 
ran for just over six weeks, from 18 October 2019 to 1 December 2019.  The 
headline findings from the survey are being used to refresh the Council Plan 
for 2020-21 and the budget consultation elements are reported on here.  
Plans are being formulated to undertake further analysis to support wider 
strategy development across the Council and engagement with residents and 
local communities.   An infographic summarising key outcomes and 
demographic information from the budget consultation focus groups has been 
produced and is included at Appendix One. 
 
Participation in the survey has been encouraged using various means, 
including social media and a Facebook campaign, features on the Council’s 
website and articles in Derbyshire Now and the Our Derbyshire employee 
newsletter.  The social media advertising used to publicise the survey reached 
330,812 people, which is 41% of the Derbyshire population.  In addition, over 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4(b)



Public 
 

2 
PHR-1033 

7,200 residents who had previously agreed to take part in further consultation 
with the Council were e-mailed the survey directly.   However, the number of 
residents completing the survey has reduced.  A total of 3,763 Derbyshire 
residents completed the 2020-21 survey.  Last year, the Council attracted 
6,718 responses to its 2019-20 budget consultation.  The 2020-21 survey was 
designed to be more in depth and combined both budget and residents’ 
consultations, to provide even more useful information that previous surveys.  
The survey therefore took longer to complete than in previous years and it is 
believed that this is the reason for the reduced number of responses.   
 
To promote participation amongst residents who are less familiar with, or have 
no internet access, copies of a paper consultation questionnaire, containing 
the same questions, were made available on request.  A freepost address was 
used to encourage participation.  Only one paper questionnaire was returned.  
All the other responses were completed online. 
 
The average age of respondents was 53 years, with the age of respondents 
ranging from 14 to 101 years old.  Responses from the over 65 group have 
increased by six percentage points compared to the 2019-20 consultation 
response.  Of those responding 42% were male and 58% were female.  
 
A map showing the Derbyshire location of respondents is attached at 
Appendix Two.  If survey response rates were to follow the percentage of 
population in each district the Council would expect 9% of respondents to be 
resident in Derbyshire Dales.  The analysis shows that residents from 
Derbyshire Dales are over-represented in the sample, as 16% of all 
respondents live in Derbyshire Dales.  High Peak residents are also over-
represented (3% higher), whilst those in Erewash and South Derbyshire are 
under-represented, with figures being 5% and 4% lower respectively. 
 
A total of 15% of respondents identified themselves as having a disability, 
compared to 13% for the 2019-20 consultation. This compares to 20% of the 
population identified in the 2011 Census who said their day to day activities 
were limited.  The Census also showed that 96% of Derbyshire’s population 
classed themselves as White British whilst 97% of the survey respondents 
described their ethnic group as White. 
 
Further demographic analysis is attached for consideration at Appendix Three. 
 
Local people were asked six budget consultation questions to establish their 
views on what the Council’s top and bottom three priority services should be 
and why they had chosen these, to rank in order of importance nine options 
the Council could use to save money or raise additional revenue and whether 
they had any other suggestions for how the Council could save money or raise 
additional revenue.   
 

Page 22



Public 
 

3 
PHR-1033 

Of the six budget consultation questions, three required respondents to select 
their answers from options given in the consultation and three allowed 
respondents to comment freely.   Fewer responses were received where 
respondents were asked to comment freely.  
 
An infographic showing headline results in respect of the budget consultation 
has been produced and is attached at Appendix Four.  In summary, the 
following views were expressed: 
 

 From a choice of 25 Council services, respondents thought that the top 
three priorities, with the most popular listed first, should be: highways 
services and maintenance (selected by 42% of respondents as being in 
their top three priority services), waste and recycling centres (25%) and 
support for older adults (21%).  These “top priority” services were not the 
least frequently selected from the same list requiring respondents to select 
their “bottom three priorities”.  The least selected service as a bottom 
priority was safeguarding and child protection (2%), followed by support for 
vulnerable children and families (3%), then day care or residential care for 
older adults (3%). 

 The top Council service priority selected by both males and females is 
highways service and maintenance, although 53% of males, compared to 
33% of females, chose this service priority.  A similar proportion of males 
and females selected waste and recycling centres as the second most 
popular service priority for both genders.  The third most popular service 
priority for females is support for older adults but for males it is transport 
planning. 

 Most people (1,719 respondents) did not give a reason for choosing their 
top Council service priorities.  An additional 49 people referred to services 
that were provided by district/borough councils, or other organisations, 
such as the police or the National Health Service (NHS).  An additional 205 
people thought that the 25 services were all important to everyday life, or 
said it was difficult to choose. 

 The most common themes for why respondents have chosen their top 
service priorities are road and public transport issues (636 comments); 
protecting and assisting vulnerable members of society, either old or young 
(620 comments), relevance to them or their family (435 comments) and 
environmental, waste concerns or climate change (409 comments). 

 From the same choice of 25 Council services, the priorities which 
respondents thought should be at the bottom, with the ones most 
frequently selected first, are: museums, heritage and arts services 
(selected by 38% of respondents as being in their bottom three priority 
services), followed by grants and aid to voluntary groups (30%), then 
libraries (21%).  These “bottom priority” services were not the least 
frequently selected from the same list requiring respondents to select their 
“top three priorities” question.  The least selected service as a top priority 
was fostering and adoption services (2%), followed by trading standards 
(2%), then adult community education (3%). 

Page 23



Public 
 

4 
PHR-1033 

 The bottom two Council service priorities above were selected most by 
both males and females.  However, the third most selected bottom Council 
service priority is school admissions for females and libraries for males. 

 Most people (2,052 respondents) did not give a reason for choosing their 
bottom Council service priorities.  An additional 22 people referred to 
services that were provided by district/borough councils, or other 
organisations, such as the police or the NHS.   

 The most common themes for why respondents have chosen their bottom 
service priorities are that other budget priorities are more important, they 
have no relevance to them or their family (385 comments) and the service 
is either already, or should or could be, provided or supported, by others 
(335 comments). 

 Respondents identified the most important of nine options the Council 
could use to save money or raise additional revenue as working with other 
councils to deliver shared services, followed by putting more services on 
line, then using other ways of delivering services such as through local 
trusts, or other “not for profit” partnerships.  Males and females agreed on 
the most important option but differed in their other selections.   

 The least important of the nine options to save money or raise additional 
revenue, as ranked by both male and female respondents, is increasing 
Council Tax, followed by increasing charges for services supplied to the 
public, then maintaining services but doing them less frequently or 
reducing the level of service. 

 Most people (2,965 respondents) did not make any suggestions on 
alternative ways for saving money or raising additional revenue.  An 
additional 128 people referred to services that were provided by 
district/borough councils, or other organisations, such as the police or the 
National Health Service.  A further 89 comments duplicated the nine 
options that respondents had been asked to rank in the previous question. 

 The most common themes for saving money or raising additional revenue 
are around staffing, such as reducing numbers, pay, sick leave and 
pensions and increasing productivity (165 comments); increasing funding 
in various ways such as lobbying Government, by levying local income tax, 
increasing Council Tax or through lottery funding (67 comments) and 
increasing efficiency and reducing bureaucracy (56 comments). 
 

A detailed analysis of the consultation results and themes arising from the 
comments that participants contributed are included at Appendix Five. 
  
Other Consultation  
 
A budget consultation session was held at the Black Minority Ethnic Forum on 
12 November 2019.   Grants for organisations came through strongly as a 
budget priority of the Forum.  The Forum’s priorities for reducing spending and 
increasing income were increasing charges and working with other councils, 
more not for profit partnership working, bringing more services online and 
making efficiency savings. 

Page 24



Public 
 

5 
PHR-1033 

The Council’s Constitution provides that the Improvement and Scrutiny 
Committee should also be notified of the budget proposals.  The Director of 
Finance & ICT presented details of the Five Year Financial Plan to the 
Committee in September 2019.  The proposals were discussed and there was 
a clearer understanding of the financial context in which the Council would be 
operating over the next few years.   
 
The trade unions were consulted at the Corporate Joint Committee held on  
7 November 2019.  The trade unions raised no particular issues but did ask 
for a further meeting with the Director of Finance & ICT, which has yet to take 
place.  
 
In addition, the Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires local authorities 
to consult representatives of business ratepayers in their area about the 
budget proposals for each financial year.  The Council is seeking the views of 
business ratepayers by corresponding with representatives of Derbyshire and 
Nottinghamshire Chamber of Commerce and the Federation of Small 
Businesses on the Council’s budget proposals.  A verbal update will be 
provided at the Full Council meeting on 5 February 2020. 
  
3 Financial Considerations 

The outcomes of these consultations should be used to inform service 
planning and help determine budget priorities. 
 
4 Legal Considerations 

Members are invited to have regard to the advice contained in the Revenue 
Budget Report 2020-21.  
 
5 Equality and Diversity Considerations 

Members are invited to have regard to the advice contained in the Revenue 
Budget Report 2020-21.  
 
 
6 Other Considerations  

In preparing this report the relevance of the following factors has been 
considered: prevention of crime and disorder, human resources, 
environmental, health, property, transport and social value considerations. 
 
7 Background Papers  

Papers held in Technical Section, Room 137, County Hall. 
 
8 Key Decision  

No. 

Page 25



Public 
 

6 
PHR-1033 

 
9 Officer’s Recommendation  

That the views of the consultation respondents are taken into account by 
Cabinet in formulating its proposals to Full Council regarding the Revenue 
Budget for 2020-21.   
 
 
 
 
 

PETER HANDFORD 
 

Director of Finance & ICT

Page 26



Public 
Appendix One 

 

7 
PHR-1033 

Infographic – Budget Consultation Focus Groups Summary 

 

Page 27



Public 
Appendix Two 

 

8 
PHR-1033 

Map - Location of Budget Consultation Survey Respondents 
 

 
 

Page 28



Public 
Appendix Three 

 

9 
PHR-1033 

Demographic Profile of Budget Consultation Respondents 
 
A total of 3,867 people responded to the consultation but the analysis included 
in this report looks at the analysis of 3,763 respondents.  This excludes the 
responses of 45 people who lived outside Derbyshire and those of 59 who 
submitted multiple entries. The total number of respondents will vary for 
individual questions as not all respondents answered all of the questions.  
Only one paper questionnaire was returned and the remaining responses 
were completed online. 
 
The distribution of residents for those that live within Derbyshire has been 
compared to the distribution of the population aged 16+ according to the latest 
Office for National Statistics (ONS) mid-year population estimates for 2018. 
 
Location 
 

 
 

 

Number % Number %

Amber Valley 545 15% 105,359 16% -0.6%

Bolsover 332 9% 65,435 10% -0.6%

Chesterfield 499 14% 86,858 13% 0.9%

Derbyshire Dales 569 16% 61,058 9% 6.8%

Erewash 321 9% 94,708 14% -5.3%

High Peak 530 15% 76,525 12% 3.3%

North East Derbyshire 426 12% 84,695 13% -0.9%

South Derbyshire 332 9% 84,791 13% -3.5%

Total 3,554 100% 659,429 100%

District

 Consultation 

Respondents

Population 16+

 (ONS Mid-2018)

Difference

(Respondents -

Population)

Page 29



Public 
Appendix Three 

 

10 
PHR-1033 

Gender 
 
The gender and age profile of respondents have also been compared to the 
profile of all residents as given by the mid-2018 ONS population estimates.  
 

 
 

 
 
Age 
 

 
 
The average age of respondents was 53 years. 
 

Number % Number %

Male 1,569 42% 321,322 49% -6.3%

Female 2,128 58% 338,107 51% 6.3%

Total 3,697 100% 659,429 100%

Gender

 Consultation 

Respondents

Population 16+ 

(ONS Mid-2018)
Difference

(Respondents -

Population)

Number % Number %

16 - 24 years 161 4% 72,951 11% -8%

25 - 44 years 832 23% 183,081 28% -5.1%

45 - 64 years 1,719 47% 231,714 35% 11.7%

65 - 84 years 940 26% 150,790 23% 2.8%

85 + 15 0% 20,893 3% -2.8%

Total 16 or over 3,667 100% 659,429 100%

Age Band

 Consultation 

Respondents

Population Aged 16+ 

(ONS Mid-2018)

Difference

(Respondents -

Population)

Page 30



Public 
Appendix Three 

 

11 
PHR-1033 

 
 
Disability 
 

 
 
Ethnicity 
 

 
 

Number %

Yes 566 15%

No 3,104 85%

Total 3,670 100%

Do you consider yourself disabled?

 Consultation 

Respondents

Number %

White 3,600 97%

Other 100 3%

Total 3,700 100%

What is your ethnic group?

 Consultation 

Respondents

Page 31



Public 
Appendix Four 

 

12 
PHR-1033 

Infographic – Budget Consultation Summary Results  

 

Page 32



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

13 
PHR-1033 

Budget Consultation - Analysis of Consultation Responses 

All Derbyshire Residents 

From the list of services below provided by Derbyshire County Council 

please select your top three priorities: 

Number Percentage Rank

Highway services & maintenance 1,561 42% 1

Waste & recycling centres 945 25% 2

Support for older adults 774 21% 3

Transport planning 650 17% 4

Environmental policy 620 17% 5

Supporting public & community transport 608 16% 6

Support for vulnerable children & families 599 16% 7

Day care/residential care for older adults 553 15% 8

Public Health 520 14% 9

Safeguarding & child protection 497 13% 10

Special educational needs & disabilities(SEND) support services 494 13% 11

Economic development & regeneration 464 12% 12

Community Safety 464 12% 12

Support services for schools 407 11% 14

Countryside services 383 10% 15

Libraries 300 8% 16

Children’s Centres 289 8% 17

Grants & aid to voluntary groups 180 5% 18

Planning services 174 5% 19

Welfare Rights advice 166 4% 20

Museums, heritage & arts services 145 4% 21

School admissions 128 3% 22

Adult Community Education 100 3% 23

Trading Standards 70 2% 24

Fostering & adoption services 67 2% 25

Total 11,158 300%

Please note the percentages sum to 300% as respondents were asked to choose 3 priorities

Page 33



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

14 
PHR-1033 

 

P
age 34



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

15 
PHR-1033 

Why have you chosen these services as your top three priorities? 

Most people (1,719) did not give a reason for choosing their top priorities.  An 
additional 49 people referred to services that were the responsibility of the 
district/borough councils or other organisations such as police or the NHS.  
 
The remaining comments were grouped into a range of topics including: 
 

 Road and public transport issues (636) 

 Protect and assist vulnerable members of society old / young (620) 

 Relevant to me or my family (435) 

 Environmental / waste concerns / climate change (409) 
 
An additional 205 people thought the services were all important to everyday 
life or said it was difficult to choose.  
 
Examples of comments include: 
 

 “Environment is a crisis that needs addressing”  

 “The youngest and oldest people are vulnerable” 

 “These services support the most vulnerable, however, I believe 
preventative services are key” 

 “Important the Council protects the most vulnerable in society, and the 
environment” 

 “I think providing support to vulnerable people is the Council's most 
important role” 

 “Important to maintain and build for a brighter future for Derbyshire” 

 “Because older people, children’s centres and the environment have all 
suffered too many cuts recently and currently critical elements of our 
society” 

 “We MUST address the climate and ecological crisis. Time is rapidly 
running out” 

 “Library is very valuable to local community and is a contact point for 
local issues” 

 “The more care for the elderly and their families the less strain on NHS”

Page 35



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

16 
PHR-1033 

From the list of services below provided by Derbyshire County Council 

please select your bottom three priorities: 

 

Number Percentage Rank

Museums, heritage & arts services 1,303 38% 1

Grants & aid to voluntary groups 1,034 30% 2

Libraries 726 21% 3

School admissions 675 20% 4

Welfare Rights advice 669 19% 5

Adult Community Education 601 17% 6

Planning services 578 17% 7

Trading Standards 527 15% 8

Fostering & adoption services 440 13% 9

Countryside services 439 13% 10

Economic development & regeneration 397 12% 11

Transport planning 383 11% 12

Support services for schools 298 9% 13

Children’s Centres 285 8% 14

Environmental policy 276 8% 15

Supporting public & community transport 235 7% 16

Community Safety 233 7% 17

Public Health 175 5% 18

Highway services & maintenance 164 5% 19

Waste & recycling centres 161 5% 20

Special educational needs & disabilities(SEND) support services 151 4% 21

Support for older adults 123 4% 22

Day care/residential care for older adults 113 3% 23

Support for vulnerable children & families 92 3% 24

Safeguarding & child protection 79 2% 25

Total 10,157 300%

Please note the percentages sum to 300% as respondents were asked to choose 3 priorities

Page 36



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

17 
PHR-1033 

P
age 37



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

18 
PHR-1033 

Why have you chosen these services as your bottom three priorities? 

Most people (2,052) did not give a reason for choosing their bottom priorities. 
An additional 22 people referred to services that were the responsibility of the 
district/borough councils or other organisations such as police or the NHS.  
 
The remaining comments were grouped into a range of topics including: 
 

 Other budget priorities are more important (561) 

 Not relevant to me or my family (385) 

 Service either already is or should / could be provided / supported by 

others (335) 

 

Examples of comments include: 

 

 “All services are essential, but at least no one suffers harm if these 

three underfunded (Adult Education, Museums, heritage & arts 

services, Grant aids to voluntary groups)” 

 “I pay an additional premium on my council tax for adult social care why 

should they keep getting more” 

 “All the above are still priorities of a caring council!” 

 “It’s difficult to say where money is best spent I don't envy your job” 

 “I do not want to be responsible for identifying an important service 

which will then be cut!” 

 “There shouldn't be any bottom priorities - neglecting the least popular 

choice is not acceptable” 

 “You are asking permission to abdicate responsibility by asking the 

public to do your decision making” 

 “Not the role of council to give away money or preach to people 

(Welfare Rights advice, Public Health and Grant aid to voluntary 

groups)” 

 “I think these are nice to have rather than top priorities” 

 “Because I don't believe these are Council responsibilities” 

 “Services I don't use and they could be delivered by other partners” 

 “Informing people of their rights in welfare, trading standards and 

adoption could be out sourced” 

 “Adult education should be self-funding, unless it is to get someone into 

a job” 

 “Less impact on those who are vulnerable” 

 “Other services have greater impact on communities” 

 “Libraries, museums, art centres are luxuries that come after everything 

else is paid for” 

Page 38



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

19 
PHR-1033 

 “Police should provide community safety; Public health should be 

provided by the NHS” 

 “Wouldn't want to do without but effectively not life threatening” 

 “Support for adults and adult education isn't as important as children 

who need to learn” 

 “Schools and children services get too big a share of budgets already” 

 “Sick of funding people who should fund themselves (Support for older 

adults and Support for vulnerable children & families)” 

 “We should all take more responsibility for our own welfare and not rely 

on the Council (Adult Community Education, Welfare Rights advice, 

Grants & aid to voluntary groups)” 

 “Prevention and helping people take responsibility for their well-being is 

better than crisis care” 

 “Need public not private transport” 

 “New models of delivery for libraries” 

 “The things I’ve selected are not of great importance to the majority of 

people (Libraries, Museums, heritage & arts services, Grants & aid to 

voluntary groups)” 

 “All areas which can be paid for by the users rather than through council 

tax (Supporting public & community transport, Children’s Centres)” 

 “If money is limited, focus on areas which the majority of the population 

will benefit, not the few”

Page 39



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

20 
PHR-1033 

Rank the following options that the Council could use to save money or 

raise additional revenue from 1 to 9 in order of importance. (Please rank 

the option you consider most important as 1, the second most important as 2 through 

to the least important option as 9) 

 

1
Work with other councils to deliver ‘shared 

services’

2 Put more services on-line

3
Use other ways of delivering services such as 

local trusts or other ‘not for profit’ partnerships

4
Reduce or stop delivery of less important 

services

5
Use Council assets to win business from the 

private sector

6
Reduce the number of properties the Council 

owns

7
Maintain services but do less frequently or 

reduce level of service

8
Increase charges for services supplied to the 

public

9 Increase Council Tax

Rank

Page 40



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

21 
PHR-1033 

If you have any other suggestions for how you think the Council could 

save money or raise additional revenue please provide details. 

Most people (2,965) did not make any suggestions on alternative ways for 

saving money or raising additional revenue.  An additional 128 people referred 

to services that were provided by district/borough councils or other 

organisations such as police or health.  A further 89 comments duplicated the 

9 options that respondents had been asked to rank. 

 

The remaining comments were grouped into a range of topics including: 

 Staffing issues (165) - including reducing the number, pay, sick leave 

and pensions of managers and staff and increasing productivity 

 Increasing funding (67) by various ways including lobbying central 

government, local income tax, council tax and lottery funding 

 Increasing efficiency and reducing bureaucracy (56) 

 

Examples of comments include: 

 “It is difficult to make suggestions without knowing about the 

budgets/restrictions that the finance committees work with” 

 “Use evidence to prioritise and help make informed decisions.  Listen to 

residents by visiting communities, how can you help from Matlock!” 

 “Cut councillors’ community grants and services that can be funded in 

other ways” 

 “Invite businesses to help services, do talks, etc with contribution and 

promote their business there at same time!  

 “Council take over more essential services for people, eg bulk-buying of 

essential foods to sell on, being electric/gas suppliers” 

 “Crowdfund for extra Capital for some smaller start-up projects LOCAL 

MONEY for LOCAL SERVICES” 

 “Seek sponsorship from the private sector for various activities (naming 

new roads, adverts on parking receipts)” 

 “Promote local schools and clubs for sponsors and scholarships” 

 “Allow advertising on Council websites” 

 “Hire out more facilities such as meeting and workspaces.  Offer paid 

consultancy and training to business.  Run paid for events like concerts 

or conferences”  

 “Fundraising events, encourage outside investment in local services. 

Sell services to other councils. Avoid duplication of services provided by 

other agencies” 

 “Look at other forms of income generators - Business Rates, rental 

income, lettings, charges, commercial incentives, regeneration. 

Page 41



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

22 
PHR-1033 

 Generate more income as a council to support residents and front line 

services” 

 “Create a Derbyshire lottery that would raise additional revenue” 

 “Stop wasting money on the county offices at Matlock and use a more 

efficient building” 

 “Sell and lease back some properties” 

 “Join with NHS and share office blocks/ buildings and sell services e.g. 

Catering for events, event spaces etc, when offices are shut e.g. 

weekends” 

 “Use technology to hold meetings instead of all meeting in one room, 

saves on travel, heating and other experiences” 

 “Means test bus passes, or charge an annual subsidised fee”  

 “Make more use of Parish Councils to help support local residents.  Get 

them more involved in social support” 

 “Need to look critically at the actual benefit from services provided and 

how many people that are actually benefiting from the service and 

bottom line if it's just a nice thing to have then we need to learn to do 

without it” 

 “Services online are OK for younger people with computer skills but 

prevent others gaining access or necessary knowledge” 

 “'Market' what the County Council does: many people still do not know 

of what is on offer and how to get it” 

 “Reduce business rates to encourage new businesses” 

 “Put more money into preventative services e.g. services such as Sure 

START, Local Area Connectors, extra support in schools, crisis and 

community support for mental health and elderly” 

 “Ensure that contracted out services are working correctly”

Page 42



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

23 
PHR-1033 

Analysis of Consultation Responses – By Gender 

From the list of services below provided by Derbyshire County Council please select your top three priorities: 

P
age 43



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

24 
PHR-1033 

From the list of services below provided by Derbyshire County Council please select your top three priorities: 

P
age 44



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

25 
PHR-1033 

From the list of services below provided by Derbyshire County Council please select your bottom three priorities: 

 

Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage

Museums, heritage & arts services 512 35% 778 40% 1290 38%

Grants & aid to voluntary groups 506 35% 515 27% 1021 30%

Libraries 350 24% 367 19% 717 21%

School admissions 262 18% 400 21% 662 19%

Welfare Rights advice 348 24% 308 16% 656 19%

Adult Community Education 277 19% 318 16% 595 18%

Planning services 183 13% 387 20% 570 17%

Trading Standards 157 11% 362 19% 519 15%

Fostering & adoption services 211 14% 227 12% 438 13%

Countryside services 184 13% 250 13% 434 13%

Economic development & regeneration 133 9% 254 13% 387 11%

Transport planning 150 10% 229 12% 379 11%

Support services for schools 140 10% 156 8% 296 9%

Children’s Centres 118 8% 157 8% 275 8%

Environmental policy 120 8% 151 8% 271 8%

Supporting public & community transport 103 7% 130 7% 233 7%

Community Safety 114 8% 115 6% 229 7%

Public Health 83 6% 89 5% 172 5%

Highway services & maintenance 63 4% 98 5% 161 5%

Waste & recycling centres 67 5% 93 5% 160 5%

Special educational needs & disabilities(SEND) support services 66 5% 84 4% 150 4%

Support for older adults 57 4% 65 3% 122 4%

Day care/residential care for older adults 39 3% 73 4% 112 3%

Support for vulnerable children & families 42 3% 48 2% 90 3%

Safeguarding & child protection 41 3% 37 2% 78 2%

Total 4,326 297% 5,691 294% 10,017 295%

Please note the percentages sum to 300% as respondents were asked to choose 3 priorities

Priority

Consultation Responses - By Gender

Males Females All respondents

P
age 45



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

26 
PHR-1033 

From the list of services below provided by Derbyshire County Council please select your bottom three priorities: 

 

P
age 46



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

27 
PHR-1033 

 

 

Males Females All respondents

Overall Rank Overall Rank Overall Rank

Work with other councils to deliver ‘shared services’ 1 1 1

Put more services on-line 2 3 2

Use other ways of delivering services such as local trusts or other ‘not for profit’ partnerships 4 2 3

Reduce or stop delivery of less important services 3 5 4

Use Council assets to win business from the private sector 5 4 5

Reduce the number of properties the Council owns 6 6 6

Maintain services but do less frequently or reduce level of service 7 7 7

Increase charges for services supplied to the public 8 8 8

Increase Council Tax 9 9 9

Please rank the following options that the Council could use to save money or raise additional revenue from 1 to 9 in order of 

importance (Please rank the option you consider most important as 1, the second as 2 through to the least important option as 9)

Consultation Responses - By Gender

P
age 47



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

28 
PHR-1033 

Analysis of Consultation Responses – By Age Group 

 

Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage

Transport planning 29 18% 113 14% 304 18% 185 20% 2 13% 633 17%

Supporting public & community transport 22 14% 86 10% 260 15% 220 24% 5 33% 593 16%

Waste & recycling centres 44 28% 166 20% 447 26% 265 28% 3 20% 926 25%

Countryside services 18 11% 77 9% 197 12% 79 8% 1 7% 374 10%

Economic development & regeneration 17 11% 91 11% 213 12% 133 14% 3 20% 458 13%

Environmental policy 35 22% 146 18% 293 17% 129 14% 2 13% 606 17%

Planning services 6 4% 33 4% 84 5% 50 5% 0 0% 173 5%

Highway services & maintenance 46 29% 290 35% 752 44% 431 46% 6 40% 1526 42%

Trading Standards 3 2% 7 1% 37 2% 20 2% 0 0% 67 2%

Adult Community Education 9 6% 25 3% 42 2% 21 2% 0 0% 97 3%

Children’s Centres 19 12% 124 15% 94 5% 48 5% 1 7% 286 8%

Libraries 7 4% 55 7% 131 8% 95 10% 4 27% 293 8%

Welfare Rights advice 12 8% 35 4% 79 5% 39 4% 0 0% 165 5%

Community Safety 23 15% 123 15% 226 13% 81 9% 1 7% 456 12%

Support for older adults 15 9% 111 13% 380 22% 250 27% 5 33% 761 21%

Day care/residential care for older adults 12 8% 67 8% 295 17% 154 17% 3 20% 531 15%

Public Health 30 19% 154 19% 201 12% 124 13% 2 13% 512 14%

Support for vulnerable children & families 36 23% 151 18% 287 17% 109 12% 4 27% 588 16%

Fostering & adoption services 8 5% 28 3% 21 1% 8 1% 0 0% 65 2%

Safeguarding & child protection 26 16% 158 19% 206 12% 96 10% 1 7% 487 13%

School admissions 7 4% 58 7% 45 3% 16 2% 0 0% 126 3%

Support services for schools 17 11% 173 21% 152 9% 53 6% 1 7% 397 11%

Special educational needs & disabilities(SEND) support services 16 10% 135 16% 237 14% 95 10% 0 0% 484 13%

Museums, heritage & arts services 9 6% 40 5% 60 4% 30 3% 0 0% 140 4%

Grants & aid to voluntary groups 6 4% 43 5% 75 4% 50 5% 1 7% 176 5%

From the list of services below provided by Derbyshire County Council please select your top three priorities:

Priority

Consultation Responses - By Age Band

16 - 24 years 25 - 44 years All respondents45 - 64 years 65-84 years 85 and over

P
age 48



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

29 
PHR-1033 

 

Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage

Transport planning 29 19% 97 12% 161 10% 86 10% 0 0% 373 11%

Supporting public & community transport 9 6% 68 9% 99 6% 53 6% 0 0% 229 7%

Waste & recycling centres 17 11% 46 6% 58 4% 36 4% 0 0% 157 5%

Countryside services 33 21% 104 13% 176 11% 118 14% 0 0% 431 13%

Economic development & regeneration 19 12% 100 13% 169 11% 98 12% 1 8% 387 11%

Environmental policy 13 8% 66 8% 124 8% 68 8% 0 0% 271 8%

Planning services 27 17% 162 21% 263 17% 114 14% 2 15% 568 17%

Highway services & maintenance 16 10% 46 6% 62 4% 35 4% 1 8% 161 5%

Trading Standards 26 17% 149 19% 241 15% 99 12% 1 8% 518 15%

Adult Community Education 18 12% 148 19% 266 17% 153 18% 3 23% 590 18%

Children’s Centres 11 7% 61 8% 130 8% 69 8% 2 15% 273 8%

Libraries 48 31% 171 22% 339 22% 155 18% 2 15% 716 21%

Welfare Rights advice 17 11% 144 18% 284 18% 204 24% 8 62% 658 20%

Community Safety 5 3% 30 4% 124 8% 67 8% 1 8% 227 7%

Support for older adults 10 6% 34 4% 55 4% 22 3% 0 0% 121 4%

Day care/residential care for older adults 8 5% 42 5% 45 3% 17 2% 1 8% 113 3%

Public Health 7 5% 33 4% 93 6% 34 4% 1 8% 168 5%

Support for vulnerable children & families 6 4% 14 2% 47 3% 24 3% 0 0% 91 3%

Fostering & adoption services 15 10% 81 10% 203 13% 132 16% 2 15% 434 13%

Safeguarding & child protection 3 2% 9 1% 38 2% 26 3% 1 8% 78 2%

School admissions 21 14% 122 16% 332 21% 177 21% 5 38% 658 20%

Support services for schools 6 4% 47 6% 156 10% 80 10% 1 8% 290 9%

Special educational needs & disabilities(SEND) support services 8 5% 28 4% 90 6% 20 2% 0 0% 148 4%

Museums, heritage & arts services 62 40% 321 41% 560 36% 327 39% 3 23% 1275 38%

Grants & aid to voluntary groups 25 16% 205 26% 506 32% 272 32% 4 31% 1013 30%

All respondents

From the list of services below provided by Derbyshire County Council please select your bottom three priorities:

Priority

Consultation Responses - By Age Band

16 - 24 years 25 - 44 years 45 - 64 years 65-84 years 85 and over

P
age 49



Public 
Appendix Five 

 

30 
PHR-1033 

 

 

  

 

16 - 24 

years

25 - 44 

years

45 - 64 

years

65 - 84 

years

85 and 

over

All 

respondents

Overall 

Rank

Overall 

Rank

Overall 

Rank

Overall 

Rank

Overall 

Rank
Overall Rank

Work with other councils to deliver ‘shared services’ 2 1 1 1 2 1

Put more services on-line 1 2 3 4 9 2

Use other ways of delivering services such as local trusts or other ‘not for profit’ partnerships 3 3 2 2 4 3

Reduce or stop delivery of less important services 4 5 4 3 1 4

Use Council assets to win business from the private sector 6 4 5 6 7 5

Reduce the number of properties the Council owns 7 6 6 7 5 6

Maintain services but do less frequently or reduce level of service 5 7 7 5 3 7

Increase charges for services supplied to the public 8 8 8 8 8 8

Increase Council Tax 9 9 9 9 6 9

Please rank the following options that the Council could use to save money or raise additional revenue from 1 to 9 in order of importance 

(Please rank the option you consider most important as 1, the second as 2 through to the least important option as 9)

Consultation Responses - By Age

P
age 50



Public 

1 
PHR-1032 

 
Agenda Item No 4 (c)  

 
DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
CABINET 

 
23 January 2020 

 
Report of the Director of Finance & ICT 

 
REVENUE BUDGET REPORT 2020-21 

(STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP, CULTURE AND TOURISM) 
 

 
1 Purpose of the Report 

To make proposals to Full Council regarding the Revenue Budget and Council 
Tax for 2020-21.  This report should be read alongside the following reports to 
this Council meeting: the Budget Consultation Results Report for 2020-21, the 
Budget Monitoring 2019-20 (as at 31 October 2019) Report and the Capital 
Programme Approvals, Treasury Management and Capital Strategies for 
2020-21 Report. 
 
2 Information and Analysis   

The budget has been constructed in the context of currently known 
information.  Details of the Final Local Government Finance Settlement are 
expected to be published in early February 2020.  Information relating to the 
funding and income streams to the Council are set out in Appendix One.  The 
report commences with details of the Spending Round 2019 and the 
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, including Council Tax 
levels, before identifying the service pressures facing the Council and 
consequent budget savings required.  The report concludes with comments on 
the Council’s financial standing and the robustness of the estimates made in 
preparing the budget.   
 
(a) Budget 2019-20 

The latest budget monitoring position for 2019-20 is in a separate report for 
consideration at this meeting.  The Council is forecasting an overall 
underspend for 2019-20, however, this is being achieved, in part, through the 
use of one-off funding measures and underspends on corporately held 
budgets as there is immense pressure on all demand led services, in 
particular those around services to children. 
 
 
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4(c)



Public 

2 
PHR-1032 

(b)  Spending Round 2019  

On 4 September 2019, the Government announced details of the Spending 
Round 2019 (SR 2019), sometimes referred to as the Spending Review.  This 
set out public spending totals for the financial year 2020-21 only, pending a 
full Spending Review which will be published later this year.  The key 
announcements relevant to local government were: 

 CPI inflationary increases in business rates baseline funding levels and 
Revenue Support Grant. 

 Cessation of Business Rates Retention pilots, except for devolution 
areas. 

 Business Rates Retention reform and Fair Funding Review delayed 
until April 2021.  

 Proposal to allow a further 2% Adult Social Care Precept to be levied in 
2020-21.  

 Continuation of “one-off” grants allocated in 2019-20, including £1.8bn 
Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF), £240m Winter Pressures Grant 
(expected to be rolled into iBCF), £410m Social Care Support Grant, 
£918m New Homes Bonus and £81m Rural Services Delivery Grant. 

 £1bn additional Social Care Grant. 

 “Real-terms” increase in the Public Health Grant. 

 £2.6bn increase in core schools funding in 2020-21, including £700m 
High Needs Funding for special educational needs (11% increase). 

 Additional £400m for further education and £66m for early years. 

 £9m additional funding to local authorities to support EU Exit 
preparations.  In total, Government has allocated £77m in funding to 
help local areas prepare. 

 £200m to transform bus services, making better use of technology and 
promoting decarbonisation. 

 £422m to help reduce homelessness and rough sleeping. 

 £24m additional funding for the Building Safety Programme, post-
Grenfell. 

 £10m additional funding for English as a second language provision. 

 £241m funding from the Towns Fund. 

 Continued funding for the Troubled Families Programme, Midlands 
Engine, Northern Powerhouse and Help to Buy Support. 

(c) Local Government Finance Settlement 

 Details of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2020-21 
(Provisional Settlement) were published on 20 December 2019.  It marked the 
start of a four-week consultation period.  The Director of Finance & ICT 
submitted the Council’s response to the Provisional Settlement ahead of the 
deadline for responses, which was 17 January 2020, following consultation 
with the Leader of the Council and Corporate Management Team.  A copy is 
attached at Appendix Two.  Details of the Final Settlement are expected to be 
published in early February 2020.  This is later than normal and may be after 

Page 52



Public 

3 
PHR-1032 

the Council has formally set its budget and Council Tax on 5 February 2020.  
Whilst this presents a risk, it is felt to be manageable within the context of the 
Council’s overall finances. 

Further to the key announcements relevant to local government from SR 
2019, the headlines from the Provisional Settlement and associated Technical 
Consultation, the Queen’s Speech and later announcements, are:  

 To reflect the one-year SR 2019, the Government is proposing to roll 
forward core components of the 2019-20 Settlement, with elements of 
core funding increasing in line with CPI inflation, key Local Government 
grants being maintained at 2019-20 levels and £1bn of additional 
funding provided for social care. 

 Negative Revenue Support Grant has been removed from the 2020-21 
Provisional Settlement. 

 Basic Council Tax precept threshold will be set at 2% for county 
councils.  

 Adult Social Care Precept threshold will remain at 2%.  

 Delay of one year, to 2021-22, of the outcome of the Fair Funding 
Review and the move to increased Business Rates Retention.  The 
Government is committed to conducting a fundamental review of 
Business Rates as a tax, engaging with businesses and local 
authorities.  Presently it is not known how this might affect the Business 
Rates Retention system or future Local Government funding 
arrangements. 

 New Homes Bonus is continuing for 2020-21.   

 Rural Service Delivery Grant is continuing at 2019-20 levels. 

 Pothole funding for 2020-21 is expected to be announced in the 
upcoming Budget. 

 More announcements are expected in the upcoming Budget in respect 
of support for high street rejuvenation and to improve transport links.  

 National Living Wage (NLW) to increase by 6.21% from £8.21 to £8.72 
in 2020-21. 

Future Funding Levels 

 The current multi-year funding offer from Government ends on 31 March 
2020.  The local government sector is seeking a multi-year settlement beyond 
2020-21 to provide funding certainty and stability, similar to the four-year offer 
made by Government in 2015.  

It was expected that a further multi-year funding offer would be available for 
three years from 2020-21.  However, the SR 2019 covers only a single year, 
2020-21.  This leaves the Government more flexibility to respond to future 
developments, against a backdrop of political and economic uncertainty.  It is 
expected that there will be a comprehensive multi-year Spending Round in 
2020. 

 

Page 53



Public 

4 
PHR-1032 

Settlement Funding Assessment 

Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) is made up of Revenue Support Grant, 
Business Rates Top-Up (both of which are received directly from Government) 
and localised Business Rates, which are received directly from the district and 
borough councils.  Details of the allocations are summarised below: 

 
2019-20 

allocations  
£m 

2020-21 
allocations  

£m 
Revenue Support Grant 13.517 13.738 

Business Rates Top-Up 93.370 94.892 

Business Rates - Local 19.195 20.067 

 126.082 128.697 

 

 Revenue Support Grant 

Revenue Support Grant has increased in line with the Small Business Rates 
multiplier (based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) as at September of the 
preceding financial year).   It had previously been expected that Revenue 
Support Grant would be reduced to zero in 2020-21. 

 Business Rates Top-Up 

Business Rates Top-Up has also increased in line with the Small Business 
Rates multiplier.  The Government has fixed, in real terms, authorities’ 
retained business rates baselines until the business rates system is reset. 

 Business Rates – Locally Retained 

The figure for Local Business Rates shown in the table above includes the 
Council’s estimate of its Derbyshire business rates 2020-21 pool gain of 
£1.500m, based on previous years’ pool gains, and the billing authorities’ 
business rates estimates for 2019-20; the billing authorities have until  
31 January 2020 to provide the County Council with the final estimates for 
2020-21 growth to be used in setting the budget.  The amount represents 9% 
of business rates collected locally.  A verbal update of the business rates 
income will be provided at the meeting.  Any changes to the figure shown in 
Appendix One will be managed through the Risk Management Budget or 
Reserves.   

New Homes Bonus (NHB) 
 

The NHB grant was introduced in April 2011.  The scheme is aimed at 
encouraging local authorities to grant planning permission for the building of 
new houses and then share in the additional revenue generated.  The 
allocations tend to favour councils with lower tier responsibilities.  NHB is to 
continue in 2020-21, with a new round of allocations funded by £900m top-

Page 54



Public 

5 
PHR-1032 

sliced from Revenue Support Grant, in addition to an estimated £7m from the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).   
 
The Government has decided not to make any change to the payments 
baseline, remaining at 0.4% for 2020-21 allocations.  No legacy payments will 
be made on these new allocations; meaning that the 2020-21 bonus is not 
included in the calculation of payments in 2021-22 and 2022-23 and future 
income from NHB is expected to decrease.  Legacy payments will be made on 
allocations from earlier years.  This will leave an element of the £900m top-
slice available for reallocation on a different basis in later years.  The 
Government is expected to consult with local authorities on proposed 
revisions to the NHB Scheme later in the year.     
 
The Council’s 2020-21 allocation is £2.326m.   

General Grant 

Details of further grant allocations are set out in the table below:  

 
*  2019-20 figures updated from Revenue Budget Report following announcement/release of 

allocations. 
** For 2020-21 awaiting Government information about this grant; where numbers are included it 

is considered likely that funding will be received at around 2019-20 levels.  
*** Winter Pressures Grant of £3.627m has been rolled into iBCF from 2020-21 and is no longer 

ring-fenced for alleviating winter pressures. 
****For 2020-21, Social Care Support Grant allocations have been rolled into the Social Care 

Grant.  
 

 Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) including Winter Pressures Grant – 
the Comprehensive Spending Review 2015 announced that £1.5bn would 
be added to the ring-fenced Better Care Fund progressively from 2017-18.  
This was later increased by £2bn, at the Spring Budget 2017, allocated 
over a three year period, reaching £1.837bn in 2019-20 nationally.  For 

 2019-20 
£m 

2020-21 
£m 

Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF)*** 31.055  34.682  

Winter Pressures Grant*** 3.627 0 

Business Rates Capping* 6.364 4.524 

Business Rates Retention Levy Account Surplus** 1.704 0 

Social Care Support Grant**** 6.197 21.941 

Independent Living Fund 2.534 2.534 

Extended Rights to Free Travel*/** 0.914 0 

Lead Local Flood Authority** 0.059 0.059 

Troubled Families Grant*/** 0.302 0.302 

Local Reform and Community Voices Grant*/** 0.520 0 

War Pensions Scheme Disregard*/** 0.171 0 

Prison Services*/** 0.110 0 

EU Exit Preparation Grant and Resilience Forum*/** 0.175 0 

Total 53.732 64.042 

Page 55



Public 

6 
PHR-1032 

2020-21, funding has been maintained at 2019-20 levels, additionally 
incorporating £240m which was allocated as a Winter Pressures Grant in 
2019-20.  This amount is no longer ring-fenced for alleviating NHS winter 
pressures. 

 Business Rates Capping – compensates authorities by means of Section 
31 grants for reductions in business rates income, following decisions by 
Government to change the rate relief for some organisations in the 2018 
Budget and for changes in the uprating of the business rate multiplier from 
the Retail Price Index (RPI) to the lower CPI.  The amount included in the 
Council’s 2020-21 budget calculation is the Council’s Provisional 
Settlement allocation for under-indexing of the business rates multiplier.  
Business rates discounts for 2020-21 are currently unknown.  More details 
regarding business rates and reliefs are expected in the upcoming Budget.  
Billing authorities will provide final estimates by 31 January 2020 to be 
used in setting the budget.  A verbal update of business rates income will 
be provided at the meeting.    

 Business Rates Retention Levy Account Surplus – in 2019-20 this 
related to the distribution of surplus on the 2018-19 Business Rates 
Retention Levy Account as a result of business rates growth, originally top-
sliced from Revenue Support Grant.  The Provisional Settlement does not 
include any provision from the Levy Account.  Calculation of the surplus 
has been delayed because of audit delays and the General Election.  It is 
not expected that the surplus will be as significant as in 2019-20.  Whether 
the surplus is rolled over, or is distributed to local authorities, is subject to 
ministerial discretion.  Accordingly, no amount has been included in the 
Council’s 2020-21 budget calculation, pending receipt of further 
information. 

 Social Care Grant including the Social Care Support Grant - The 
£1.41bn Social Care Grant consists of £1bn new funding (announced in SR 
2019) and direct continuation of the 2019-20 £410m Social Care Support 
Grant.  Allocations have been determined according to the Adult Social 
Care Relative Needs Formula, including £150m used to provide 
equalisation of the Council Tax Adult Social Care Precept.  The whole 
£1.41bn Social Care Grant is unringfenced, with no conditions attached.  
There is no prescription regarding the proportion of the grant which should 
be allocated to children or to adults.   

 Independent Living Fund (ILF) – responsibility for administering the ILF 
was devolved to local authorities in England in 2015.  The Government 
originally committed to providing non ring-fenced funding to local 
authorities until 2019-20.  In the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement it was announced that the ILF would be received in 2020-21, at 
2019-20 levels.  

Page 56



Public 

7 
PHR-1032 

 Extended Rights to Free Travel – funding to support extended rights to 
free school travel.  Pending receipt of grant information, no grant income 
has been included in the Council’s 2020-21 budget calculation. 

 Lead Local Flood Authority – to carry out duties under the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010 and for the role as statutory consultee on 
surface water for major development.  Pending receipt of grant information, 
this grant has been included in the Council’s 2020-21 budget calculation at 
the Council’s 2019-20 allocation. 

 Troubled Families Grant – funding to provide intensive support for some 
of the most vulnerable families.  The programme was originally set to run 
for five years from 2015 to 2020 but was extended by a year in SR 2019. 
£165 million of new funding has been confirmed for 2020-21 but pending 
receipt of grant allocation information, this grant has been included in the 
Council’s list of 2020-21 general grants at the Council’s 2019-20 allocation. 

 Local Reform and Community Voices Grant – this grant is comprised of 
funding for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards, local Healthwatch and 
Independent Complaints Advisory Services.  Pending receipt of grant 
information, no amount for this grant has been included in the Council’s 
2020-21 budget calculation. 

 War Pensions Scheme Disregard - compensates authorities for 
disregarding, for the purposes of social care charging, most payments 
made under the War Pension Scheme.  Pending receipt of grant 
information, no amount for this grant has been included in the Council’s 
2020-21 budget calculation. 

 Prison Services – funding for social care in prisons.  Pending receipt of 
grant information, no amount for this grant has been included in the 
Council’s 2020-21 budget calculation. 

Private Finance Initiative Grant (PFI) 
 

The PFI grant is received to support expenditure which is incurred in meeting 
payments to contractors for the capital element of school building projects 
previously undertaken through PFI and similar funding arrangements.  These 
funding arrangements require payments to be made over a 25 year period.  
The capital payments due on these schemes will end in three phases between 
2029 and 2035.  The Council’s allocation for 2020-21 is £10.504m. 

Ring Fenced Grants 

 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
 

Grant is paid to local authorities to provide school, high needs, early years 
and central schools block budgets.  Local authorities are responsible for 
determining the allocation of grant in conjunction with their local Schools 
Forum.  Local authorities are responsible for allocating funding to schools 

Page 57



Public 

8 
PHR-1032 

and academies, high needs and early years providers in accordance with 
their local funding formulae.  DSG school and early years revenue funding 
allocations for 2020-21 were published on 19 December 2019.  Details of 
DSG schools block funding were considered by Cabinet on 16 January 
2020 and the early years block and high needs block will be considered in 
February/March 2020. 

 Public Health  
 
Public Health expenditure is funded from a ring-fenced grant.  The budget 
is largely spent on drug and alcohol treatment services, sexual health 
services, health protection and promoting activities to tackle smoking and 
obesity and to improve children’s health.  The Council’s allocation for  
2020-21 has yet to be announced in detail but a real-terms increase has 
been assumed in line with SR 2019.  The Government has not yet 
confirmed whether the ring-fence and grant conditions will remain in place 
but it is expected that they will, until 31 March 2021, at which point it is 
expected that the funding for Public Health will form part of the revised 
funding mechanisms for local authorities following the Fair Funding and 
Business Rates Retention Reviews to be announced in 2020-21.      

 Better Care Fund 
 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) was announced in June 2013 as part of the 
2013 Spending Round.  It provides an opportunity to transform local 
services so that people are provided with better integrated health and 
social care.  The BCF will support the aim of providing people with the right 
care at the right place at the right time.  This will build on the work which 
the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the Council are already 
doing, for example as part of integrated care initiatives, joint working and 
on understanding of patient/service user experiences. 

 
The 2020-21 allocation for Derbyshire as a whole has yet to be announced 
but the National Health Service (NHS) contribution to the Better Care Fund 
will increase by 3.4% in real terms, in line with the planned additional 
investment in the NHS.  The 2019-20 allocation of £101.477m was split as 
follows:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



Public 

9 
PHR-1032 

 2019-20 
£m 

  
Tameside and Glossop CCG 2.389 
Derby and Derbyshire CCG 54.446 

CCG Minimum Contribution 56.835 
  
CCG Additional Contribution  
Hospital Discharge Support 1.433 

 1.433 
DCC Additional Contribution  
ICES Equipment 1.566 
Disabled Facilities Grant 6.961 
Improved Better Care Fund  31.055 
Winter Pressures Grant  3.627 

 43.209 

 101.477 

 
The funding can be used to improve health outcomes for clients and their 
carers.  Derbyshire will look to invest in services jointly commissioned with 
health services, which include reablement, seven day services, better 
information sharing, joint assessments and reducing the impact on the acute 
sector.  The resources for reducing the impact on the acute sector are 
performance related and will not be paid to the acute service if the targets are 
not achieved. 
   
The BCF has national metrics underpinning its performance, which will be 
used to measure success, include reducing admissions to residential care 
homes, effectiveness of reablement out of hospitals, delayed transfer of care, 
avoidable emergency admissions and patient/service user experience. 
 
This funding system presents opportunities and risks to the Council and these 
are the subject of detailed negotiation with the CCGs.  The additional funding 
helps to bridge the funding gap left by the reduction in Revenue Support Grant 
over the last few years. 
 
(d) Council Tax  
 
District and borough councils are required to provide details of their Council 
Tax taxbases, together with any surplus or deficit figures on their collection 
funds, to the Council.   
 
Taxbase 

The Council Tax is calculated by dividing the Council’s Council Tax 
requirement by the total taxbase figures.  Each of the borough and district 
councils uses a Collection Fund to manage the collection of Council Tax and 
to make an adjustment to reflect the actual collection rate of Council Tax in the 

Page 59



Public 

10 
PHR-1032 

previous year.  Following the introduction of the Business Rates Retention 
Scheme in April 2013, the borough and district councils are required to take 
account of both Council Tax and business rates collected in determining their 
surpluses or deficits. 
 
The billing authorities have until 31 January, the statutory deadline, to confirm 
their taxbase positions, although these are not expected to change.  The total 
taxbase figure for 2020-21 is 251,496.22, based on the number of equivalent 
Band D properties, a 1.71% increase on the previous year.  Individual 
authority information is shown at Appendix Three.    
 
The additional Council Tax due as a result of the increase in taxbase is 
£5.603m.  This is calculated by multiplying the increase in the number of 
properties by the Council’s Equivalent Band D Council Tax rate in 2019-20.  
Previous years have seen increases in the taxbase of 1.17%, 1.47% and 
1.40%.  The Provisional Five Year Financial Plan assumes an increase of 
1.50% on the basis of housing growth seen in recent years.    

Collection Fund 

The collection fund surplus for 2020-21 is estimated at £3.310m, based on 
draft information from billing authorities.  As with the taxbase, billing 
authorities have until 31 January to confirm in writing their collection fund 
positions, although they are not expected to change.  

The collection fund surpluses and deficits for the individual authorities are 
shown at Appendix Three.  

Council Tax Support 

Amber Valley Borough Council (AVBC) has consulted on increasing the level 
of Council Tax Support received by Council Tax Benefit claimants, by 
reducing the amount they are expected to contribute from the current level of 
8.5%, to zero.  The Council does not agree with this proposal and has formally 
responded to the consultation.  AVBC has yet to make a final decision on the 
2020-21 scheme.  The cost to the Council of AVBC increasing Council Tax 
Support is likely to be in the region of £0.350m each year.   

Referendum Principles  

Since 2012-13, local authorities have been required to determine whether the 
amount of Council Tax they plan to raise is excessive.  A set of principles 
defined by the Government is used to determine if the amount to be raised is 
excessive.  An authority proposing an excessive increase in Council Tax must 
hold a local referendum.   

For 2020-21, the Government proposes a 2% threshold for county councils for 
general spending.  In addition, local authorities with adult social care 
responsibilities will be able to increase Adult Social Care spending by levying 
up to a further 2%, making 4% in total.   

Page 60



Public 

11 
PHR-1032 

Council Tax Increase 

The Council’s Five Year Financial Plan, published in September 2019, 
assumed a freeze in Council Tax for two years from 2020-21 and a 2% 
increase in Council Tax for two years from 2022-23.  At the time it was 
assumed that the option to raise additional Council Tax income for Adult 
Social Care would not be available to local authorities in 2020-21.  

Local authorities have urged Government to provide additional funding to 
support vital services, particularly Children’s Social Care and Adult Social 
Care. Additional resources have been allocated to the Council as part of the 
Government’s response.  The additional social care funding announced in SR 
2019 and the continuation of payment of Revenue Support Grant in 2020-21 
has helped to keep general Council Tax low whilst helping to fund the rising 
costs for social care and other vital front-line services.  However, it is clear 
from SR 2019 that Government has a clear and definite expectation that part 
of the additional pressures in adult care will be funded by levying additional 
Adult Social Care Precept in 2020-21.  Latest information indicates that every 
County Council will comply with the Government expectation and levy the 
Adult Social Care Precept. 

Pressures across both Children’s and Adult Social Care (including the effect of 
the recently announced increase in the NLW) far outstrip the additional grant 
offered by the Government.  These costs are likely to increase significantly in 
later years. 

Adult Social Care Precept 

The Government has stated that “councils will be required to publish a 
description of their plans, including changing levels of spend on adult social 
care and other services”.  This must be signed off by the Chief Finance 
Officer.  Councils complying with the Government expectation to levy the Adult 
Social Care Precept in 2020-21 must also show how they plan to use this 
extra money to improve social care.  The Government will write to Adult Social 
Care authorities with further details on the conditions of the scheme in the 
near future.  

Billing authorities will be required to include information on the face of the 
Council Tax bill, with a narrative statement on the front of the bill highlighting 
any Council Tax attributable to levying this funding for Adult Social Care, as 
well as providing further information to the taxpayer.  Further information is 
also required to be included with the Council Tax bill.   

The Council’s preference is for Government to recognise costs associated 
with Social Care through the re-distribution of national taxation.  However, the 
clear expectation from Government is that local taxation is also part of the 
solution.  Therefore, it is recommended that the Council accepts the need to 
levy the Adult Social Care Precept but continues with the commitment to a nil 
increase on the basic Council Tax. 

Page 61



Public 

12 
PHR-1032 

(e) Price Increases 
 

There will be no increase to departmental budgets for specific price rises, 
other than for business rates, Coroners’ fees and specific software licences, 
as inflation is expected to remain low over the medium term.    
 
The total impact of price increases is estimated at £0.400m.   
 
Pay Award 

The Conservative Manifesto proposed to increase NLW to two thirds of 
average earnings, currently forecast at £10.50 an hour, by 2024.  It has since 
been announced that for 2020-21 NLW is to increase by 6.21%, from £8.21 to 
£8.72, in 2020-21.  Local authorities are currently negotiating with unions on 
the offer for 2020-21.  The Council’s Five Year Financial Plan published in 
September 2019 assumed a general pay award of 2%.  The final offer is still to 
be agreed, however it appears realistic, at this stage, to assume a general 
offer of a 2% increase.  This equates to £5.403m, which will be held in the 
Council’s contingency budget, until such time that a final agreement has been 
made, when the budget will be allocated to departments.  If the pay award is 
agreed at a level above 2%, the additional cost will have to be found from 
within existing budgets.   

(f) Corporate Budgets 

 Contingency Budgets  
 

Pay and Price Inflation - £20.181m 
 

The Council maintains a Contingency Budget which is used to help manage 
pay and price increases over which there is some uncertainty.  Details of the 
Contingency Budget for pay and price inflation are set out below.   
 

 Independent Sector Fees Increases - £12.000m 

Due to the increase in the NLW each year, there has to be an above 
inflation increase in the Independent sector care home fees the Council 
pays, to reflect the additional cost pressures on the providers.  For 2020-
21, the NLW will increase by 6.21%, from £8.21 to £8.72.  This increase is 
higher than expected and is considerably higher than increases in recent 
years, which has surprised both the public and private sectors.  This 
amount is to be held in Contingency budgets until negotiations are 
complete.  

 Pay Award - £5.403m 

A general increase of 2% has been assumed (see section (e) above), 
however, negotiations are still ongoing.   

 

Page 62



Public 

13 
PHR-1032 

 

 Pension Fund - £2.500m 

This is the estimated increase in pension costs to the Council, as a 
participating employer in the Derbyshire Pension Fund, arising from the 
Actuarial Valuation as at 31 March 2019, which requires a 1% increase in 
employer’s contributions. 

 Street Lighting Energy - £0.278m  

Energy consumed by street lighting has fallen year-on-year, as a result of 
the LED Invest to Save Project.  However, the cost of energy has 
continued to rise.  This is an estimate of the overall increase in cost. 

The overall Contingency Budget of £26.924m includes the above pay and 
price inflation elements of £20.181m, departmental service pressures of 
£7.743m to be held over pending further information, as detailed in Appendix 
Four, reduced by cross-departmental savings in respect of the upfront 
payment of pension contributions and the funding of capital expenditure from 
borrowing, as detailed in Appendix Five. 

External Debt Charges and Minimum Revenue Provision - £33.271m 
 
This represents the interest payable on the Council’s outstanding debt.  The 
Council has paid off a number of loans, which were used to support the 
Council’s Capital Programme, in recent years and has not undertaken further 
borrowing.  In 2018-19 this provided the opportunity to reduce the ongoing 
budget by £8.500m, to reflect the reduction in interest charges.  A further 
reduction, of £1.500m, is planned in 2021-22.  In 2020-21, the debt charges 
budget is to be increased by £1.000m, to reflect the October 2019 
announcement of a 1% increase in the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
borrowing rate, which affects the Council’s loan repayments. 
 
The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), is a prudent amount of revenue set 
aside to contribute towards capital expenditure which has been financed by 
borrowing or credit arrangements.  The Council reviewed its MRP Policy in 
2016-17, in a report to Cabinet on 22 November 2016.  It was considered that 
future savings could be achieved without compromising the future prudent 
provision made by the Council.  In conjunction with the policy being reviewed, 
the level of the Capital Adjustment Account (CAA) reserve in to which the 
money is set aside has been reviewed.   
 
The amount of MRP that has been transferred over the last ten years to the 
CAA reserve is in excess of £171m, however the actual amount of loan 
repayments during that time is significantly lower, at £121.5m.  With the 
Council not undertaking any new borrowing within the last ten years, this 
indicates that the Council’s CAA reserve contains in excess of what is 
required to ensure the Council can repay its debt.  Whilst the Council will 
continue to set aside a prudent amount of revenue for MRP each year, it will 

Page 63



Public 

14 
PHR-1032 

ensure that its future annual provision is appropriate.  In light of this, one-off 
reductions to MRP totalling £25m have been planned between 2018-19 and 
2021-22, with the base budget profiled to return to its 2017-18 level by 2022-
23.  In line with the revision to the profile of reductions, approved at Cabinet 
on 21 November 2019, the MRP base budget will rise by £4.5m in 2020-21.  
The Council will however continue to review its MRP policy annually to ensure 
in future years that adequate/prudent provisions are still being made.  
 
Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local 
government funding, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to address 
the key issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of 
the debt portfolio.  With short-term interest rates currently much lower than 
long-term rates, it is likely to be more cost effective in the short-term to either 
use internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead.  By doing so, 
the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs and reduce overall treasury 
risk.  The benefits of internal borrowing will be monitored regularly against the 
potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years 
when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise.  The Council will monitor 
this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis. Its output may determine whether 
the Council borrows additional sums at long-term fixed rates in 2020-21, with 
a view to keeping future interest costs low, even if this causes additional cost 
in the short-term.  
 
In addition, the Council may borrow short-term to cover cash flow shortages 
where it is advantageous to do so. 
 
Risk Management Budget - £0.514m 

The Council has maintained a Risk Management Budget for a number of 
years, the purpose of which is to provide a base budget from which the 
Council can help manage some of the longer term risks and pressures, 
alongside the resources available in the General Reserve.  The balance on 
the budget will be used to support priority services after 2020-21, in particular 
to meet the cost of further predicted increases in NLW, impacting on 
Independent sector care home fees. 

Interest Receipts - £5.948m 

The Bank of England base rate of interest has remained at 0.75% since 
August 2018.  The budget assumes that the Council will continue to earn 
additional income by utilising a range of risk assessed investment vehicles in 
order to increase its income from external investments.   

(g) Service Pressures 

A number of service pressures have been identified by Departments.  Details 
of Departmental pressures identified for 2020-21 are shown at Appendix Four.   

Of the ongoing Departmental service pressures of £31.906m, a total of 
£24.163m will be allocated to Departmental base budgets and a further 

Page 64



Public 

15 
PHR-1032 

£7.743m will be held over in Contingency Budgets, pending further 
information.   

Overall Ongoing Service Pressures of £39.681m include the above 
Departmental services pressures of £31.906m, Corporate External Debt 
Charges pressures of £5.500m, referred to in section (f) and pressures 
against the Corporate Risk Management Budget of £2.275m, also referred to 
in section (f). 

One-off support of £14.816m will be funded from reserves.          

(h) Budget Savings Targets  
 
The target savings by the end of 2024-25 are estimated to be £65m, of which 
£52m have been identified.  

Significant consultation and planning timeframes are required to achieve many 
of these savings.  Delays in agreeing proposals could result in overspends by 
departments, which would then deplete the level of General Reserve held by 
the Council, decreasing its ability to meet short term, unforeseeable 
expenditure.   

In many cases the proposals will be subject to consultation and equality 
analysis processes.  In including potential cost savings in this report no 
assumptions have been made as to the outcome of those consultations or the 
outcome of final decisions which have yet to be made.  With regard to the 
savings proposals which have not yet been considered by Cabinet and, where 
appropriate, by individual Cabinet Members, the necessary consultation 
exercises will be undertaken and any equality implications will be assessed 
before final decisions are made.  Throughout the process it will be essential to 
ensure that the Council continues to meets its statutory and contractual 
obligations.   

Details of identified savings totalling £51.568m over the Five Year Financial 
Plan (FYFP) are shown at Appendix Five.   These identified budget savings 
comprise £43.568m of identified departmental annual budget savings and 
£8.000m of cross-departmental annual budget savings over the FYFP.   

Overall, there remains a shortfall of identified annual budget savings against 
the £65.333m budget savings target, over the five years of the FYFP.  In 
headline terms the Council has now identified measures which should help 
achieve most of the budget gap over the period of the FYFP, although there is 
a clear challenge to identify the remainder and plan the best approach to 
achieving those savings over the next few years. 

The table below summarises the savings target by department for 2020-21, 
identified savings and the level of achievement for each department.  

Page 65



Public 

16 
PHR-1032 

 

Target 
£m 

New Savings 
Identified 

£m 

Shortfall/ 
(Over-

achievement) 
£m 

Adult Social Care and 
Health 

3.784 1.100 2.684 

Children’s Services 2.350 2.350 0.000 

Economy, Transport 
and Environment 

 

1.426 1.576 -0.150 

Commissioning, 
Communities and Policy 

6.235 6.235 0.000 

Total 13.795 11.261 2.534 

 

The shortfall in 2020-21 savings target for Adult Social Care and Health of 
£2.684m will be met from the General Reserve, as these are a result of the 
uncertainty over the timing of the savings, not their likelihood of being 
achieved.  This is in agreement with the principles of meeting savings 
shortfalls with one-off support as agreed in the Revenue Budget Reports from 
2017-18 to 2019-20.   

Adult Social Care and Health will still be required to achieve the £3.784m 
savings target for 2020-21 but the use of reserves provides some flexibility to 
plan and achieve the target in later years.  Base budgets will need to be in 
balance by 1 April 2021.  

The Economy, Transport and Environment department has re-profiled its 
identified savings over the FYFP, although the total remains the same.   This 
has resulted in the over-achievement of the originally allocated 2020-21 
savings target by £0.150m. 

The savings proposals mark a change from principles adopted for a number of 
years, with significant protection of the Children’s services budget. 

(i)  Statutory Requirements of the Local Government Act 2003 

There is a duty placed on the Director of Finance & ICT, as the Council’s 
statutory Chief Financial Officer, to report to the Council when it is making its 
statutory calculations required to determine its precept.  The Council is 
required to take the report into account when making the calculations.  The 
report must deal with the robustness of the estimates included in the budget 
and the adequacy of reserves for which the budget provides (guidance on 
local authority accounting suggests this should include both the General 
Reserve and Earmarked Reserves).  Good practice requires the professional 
advice of the Chief Finance Officer for these two questions, and that they are 
connected with matters of risk and uncertainty.  This report has been drafted 
with all of these requirements in mind. 

 

Page 66



Public 

17 
PHR-1032 

 Estimation Processes 

On the matter of robustness of estimates, there has been no change to the 
fundamental methods used in the preparation of the budget which ensure 
that many professional officers are involved in a process which takes into 
account and evaluates all known facts.  There continues to be great 
emphasis on assessing and evaluating all known changes, including pay 
and price levels, statutory changes and demands for service.  None of 
these matters are omitted from advice to Members.  The process is 
underpinned by the Council’s integrated Risk Management Strategy, 
service improvement and Improvement and Scrutiny deliberations.  In 
particular, emphasis is placed on the ability to maintain and develop 
services through a five year forward financial planning process. 

 Financial Resilience 

 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
has recently developed its Financial Resilience Index which is a 
comparative analytical tool to support good financial management, 
providing a common understanding within a council of its financial 
position.  The index illustrates a range of measures associated with 
financial risk including reserves balances and social care spend as a 
proportion of the Council’s overall budget.  The most recent analysis 
shows that the Council has a history of managing and maintaining its 
reserves balances efficiently.  Overall, the Council performs in the 
median range when compared to other county councils, 
demonstrating a well-balanced approach to financial management 
against a backdrop of significant demand pressures and central 
government funding cuts.  
 

 Financial Management Code 
 
CIPFA has also designed the Financial Management Code, again to 
support good financial management, as well as demonstrating a local 
authority’s financial sustainability.  The Code is based on a series of 
principles supported by specific standards and statements which are 
considered necessary to managing its finances over both the short and 
medium term, managing financial resilience to meet foreseen demands on 
services and to manage unexpected shocks in its financial 
circumstances.    It is anticipated that local authorities will be required to 
evidence their performance against the criteria from April 2021, which will 
help external auditors in forming their value for money opinion as part of 
the audit of a local authorities’ year-end accounts.  The Council considers 
that it is in a strong position when validating its performance against these 
standards. 

 
 
 
 

Page 67



Public 

18 
PHR-1032 

 Spending Review 2020 
 
The Government’s commitment to support additional social care funding of 
£1bn for each year of the new Government’s office is welcome.  However, 
it is not sufficient to meet the rising cost pressures experienced by the 
Council to date and over the medium-term.  This report and the response 
to the Provisional Local Government Settlement demonstrate the 
exceptional demand led pressures experienced by local authorities in 
recent years.  The Fair Funding Reviews and Adult Social Care Green 
Paper urgently need to address deficiencies in social care 
funding.  Disparities in the current funding regime need to be addressed so 
that there is a mechanism which addresses the funding disparity for social 
care across the country.  The Spending Review expected later this year is 
expected to provide confirmation of funding to local authorities over the 
medium term.    

 

 Pressures 
 
There is a commitment to support budget growth for children’s social care 
to the value of approximately £20m.  However, if current trends continue, 
for example, in the number of children in care, and the Government fails to 
provide adequate funding to support this, there will be further pressure on 
budgets in later years.    The ability to estimate the value of these 
pressures or minimise demand is a challenge for the Council but needs 
clarity over the medium term. 
 
The Council has responded to the threat of Climate Change by the issue of 
a manifesto and the development of measures to address the manifesto’s 
commitments.  Whilst the budget includes a growth figure of £0.200m to 
help coordinate and plan activity, it is also proposed to set aside over £4m 
from the Business Rates Pilot gain and plan for increases in capital 
borrowing to meet the requirements of changes to the vehicle fleet and 
approaches to help reduce emissions from buildings.  Further reports to 
Cabinet will help set out the steps the Council will take.  However, this is an 
issue that carries a high risk of financial uncertainty over the long term and 
will require coordinated effort by all public bodies, especially the 
Government.  In the longer term it is hoped that early costs may be offset 
by future savings in the same way as the Council’s successful LED 
programme for replacement of street lights has done. 

 

 Role of Audit Committee 

The Council’s Audit Committee receives regular reports detailing the 
strategic risks facing the Council along with mitigation in place to ensure 
they are manageable.  This is a significant overview of the Council’s 
potential liabilities and is supported by a rigorous set of processes across 
the organisation.  It receives regular reports regarding the procedures and 
practices in place to ensure that the Council’s budget is closely monitored.  

Page 68



Public 

19 
PHR-1032 

Members are provided with more detail of the current budget position, in 
particular departments’ progress against their individual targets, together 
with details regarding the level of Earmarked Reserves.  

 Reserves 

An important link to the adequacy of reserves is the cash limit policy 
adopted some years ago.  The approved Budget is expressed as cash 
limits.  These should not be exceeded and where services have what are 
called “demand-led” issues, these are to be resolved in-year within cash 
limits.  Budgets will continue to be subject to regular monitoring and 
reporting to both budget holders and Members. 

The Council has in place a Reserves Policy which sets out the framework 
within which decisions will be made regarding the level of reserves.  In line 
with this framework the balance and level of reserves are regularly 
monitored to ensure they reflect a level adequate to manage the risks of 
the Council.  This covers both the General Reserve and Earmarked 
Reserves.  Details of the latest review were reported to Cabinet on 21 
November 2019. 

The level of General Reserve available over the next few years is largely 
dependent on the achievement of the annual budget savings target.  There 
are pressures on demand-led services such as the ageing population, 
Children’s Social Care, the NLW and waste disposal which will also have 
an impact on the balance if departments overspend.  The level of the 
General Reserve is forecast to be between £12m and £43m over the 
medium term.  Taking account of demand led pressures, any overspends 
in services over and above those currently projected could see the balance 
fall as low as £7m on the basis of a further £1m of annual overspends in 
each year of the forecast.  Conversely, the Government may provide 
further funding for social care, which may reduce the call on the General 
Reserve to the value of £6m.  This provides a worst/best case range of 
between £7m and £49m.   In the Audit Commission’s ‘Striking a Balance’ 
report published in 2012, the majority of Chief Finance Officers at the 
national level regarded an amount of between three and five per cent of 
councils’ net spending as a prudent level for risk based reserves.  Over the 
medium term the Council’s forecast figure is between 2.2% and 8.2%.    

The Council’s Five Year Financial Plan has identified the need for 
significant savings in the medium term.  The achievement of these savings 
is critical in ensuring that the Council balances its budget. 

In order to achieve a balanced budget over the medium term, the Council 
is reliant on the achievement of a programme of budget savings.  Progress 
against the budget savings targets will be closely monitored, however, 
lead-in times for consultation activity and increased demand on services, 
such as adult care and children in care demographics, mean that there is a 
continued risk of not achieving a balanced budget.   

Page 69



Public 

20 
PHR-1032 

There is still a risk of delay in implementation or indeed an inability to 
progress a particular saving for a variety of reasons.  Delay can be 
relatively straightforward to quantify and in global terms can be expressed 
by noting that an average one month’s delay across all the savings 
identified for the coming year would require the use of around an additional 
£1m of General Reserve; as a one-off cost this is manageable within the 
context of the resources available.  The non-achievement of an indicated 
saving is less manageable and as a consequence Executive Directors 
have been made aware of the need to bring forward alternative savings, to 
at least an equal value, should this scenario occur.  The Council has also 
established a Budget Management Earmarked Reserve which is being 
used to supplement the use of the General Reserve to manage, where 
appropriate, any delayed savings to services, as detailed earlier in this 
report.  However, this Earmarked Reserve is forecast to be depleted in 
2021-22. 

Whilst the Council maintains an adequate level of General Reserve, failure 
to achieve the required level of budget savings, in order to balance the 
budget, would see the balance of the General Reserve significantly 
depleted and lead to issues around financial sustainability that would 
require urgent, radical savings rather than the planned process that 
minimises the impacts of reductions as far as possible.  The table below 
illustrates the pessimistic forecast of General Reserve balances over the 
medium term.  

2020-21 
£m 

2021-22 
£m 

2022-23 
£m 

2023-24 
£m 

2024-25 
£m 

26.880 22.143 15.493 13.843 12.793 

Earmarked Reserves are not generally available to the Council for use in 
its budget and Council Tax setting process.  They are required for specific 
purposes and are a means of smoothing out the costs associated with 
meeting known or predicted liabilities.  These reserves have no specific 
limit set on them but they should be reasonable for the purpose held and it 
must be agreed that they are used for the item for which they have been 
set aside.   

The external auditor makes a judgement on the financial stability of the 
Council each year when the accounts are audited.  The judgement 
continues to be positive subject to the continuing achievement of budget 
savings and the maintenance of a robust, risk assessed level of reserves.   

 Medium Term Planning 

Undoubtedly the Council has managed the achievement of a balanced 
budget in a robust and planned manner over the period of the current 
downturn in general government support for local authority spending.  
Since the Revenue Budget 2019-20 was compiled, departments have been 
reassessing their identified savings, with a view to bridging the savings 

Page 70



Public 

21 
PHR-1032 

shortfall.  Cross departmental budget savings proposals have also been 
made.  In headline terms the Council has now identified measures which 
should help achieve substantially all of the budget gap over the medium 
term.  The timescales are important, the majority of any savings need to be 
achieved in the period up to 31 March 2023, this reflects the desire by the 
current administration to have a 0% general Council Tax rise in both 2020-
21 and 2021-22, as well as deciding not to take the full increase possible in 
2019-20. 

Further, there is uncertainty over future funding due to changes the 
Government is committed to making in funding of councils via retained 
Business Rates and remaining Government grant funding regimes.  At 
present we have no indication of how these technical changes, alongside 
the results of the next Comprehensive Spending Review, expected in 
2020, will affect the Council’s funding position.  In the absence of other 
information, we assume that funding for 2021-22 to the end of the FYFP 
period continues on the same basis, this assumption being consistent with 
other similar local authorities.  In particular, a balanced budget is prevalent 
on Improved Better Care Funding being available beyond 2020-21. 

(j)  Five Year Financial Plan (FYFP) 
 

The Council’s FYFP is reviewed and updated at least annually.  It was 
updated and reported to Cabinet on 11 September 2019.  The FYFP has been 
updated and this serves to inform the annual budget setting process.  A copy 
of the FYFP is shown at Appendix Six.  
 
The Government had been committed to introduce a 75% Business Rates 
Retention Scheme in 2020-21, with an eventual move to 100% retention.  As 
expected, the Government announced in SR 2019 that Business Rates 
Retention Reform and the Fair Funding Review have been delayed until April 
2021.   
 
The FYFP is predicated on the basis that the funding to the Council is in its 
existing format of 50% Business Rates Retention, as it is difficult to predict the 
likely impact of the proposed changes to the scheme and the financial impact 
until further consultation takes place and detailed information is provided by 
the Government.  The FYFP assumes 2% growth year-on-year. 
 
Members need to give consideration to a number of risks regarding the 
assumptions made in developing the FYFP, these being: 
 

 The introduction of 75% and 100% Business Rates Retention is assumed 
to be fiscally neutral to the Council.  There remains a period of consultation 
between local government and central government to establish a 
distribution methodology that is fit for purpose, however, local authorities 
are struggling to set medium term financial plans due to this element of 
uncertainty. 

Page 71



Public 

22 
PHR-1032 

 The existing allocations of the improved Better Care Fund continue to be 
paid beyond 2020-21, in line with the Government’s intentions. 

 There continues to be a consistent rise in business rates growth in the 
county, however a change in the economic life-cycle or a significant loss of 
business in the region will impact on the level of business rates income. 

 Inflationary increases are managed within existing budgets. The FYFP 
assumes that inflation will remain at the Government’s target of 
approximately 2% over the medium term. 

 A general 2% pay award is assumed for each year of the FYFP. The award 
for 2019-20 has been agreed.  At the time of publication, local government 
employers were in negotiation with the unions regarding an offer for  
2020-21.  Any amount over and above 2% will have to be met from within 
existing budgets. 

 NLW increases are assumed to result in independent sector care home 
fees increasing by no more than £13m in 2021-22 and 2022-23 and £10m 
thereafter.  The 2020-21 increase is estimated to be £12m following the 
announcement that NLW will increase by 6.21% from April 2021. 

 Investment income will remain at 2019-20 levels over the next year, 
following the UK’s planned exit from the European Union on 31 January 
2020. 

 
Further significant risks are illustrated below. 
 
Business Rates 

The introduction of the Business Rates Retention Scheme in April 2013 has 
increased the level of financial risk for local authorities as they are now 
exposed to both the impact of appeals against rate valuations and avoidance 
of the tax.  Whilst some appeals will go in the favour of local authorities, the 
uncertainty of the outcome and lack of knowledge about the timing of the 
decision means that councils are forced to accept a significant, unpredictable 
financial risk, impacting on the availability of funding for services. 
 
Other general risks have been identified, which need to be managed 
effectively.  These are: 
 

 The impact on Business Rates income of economic growth rates across 
the county. 

 The district/borough councils’ effectiveness in the collection of Council 
Tax owed. 

 Deficits of the collection fund as a result of reduced collection rates for 
both Council Tax and Business Rates. 

 Uncertainty around the level of Business Rates appeals. 

 Current economic conditions including inflation levels, interest rates, 
reduced income from fees and charges. 

 The Government’s commitment to conducting a fundamental review of 
Business Rates as a tax, engaging with businesses and local 
authorities.  Presently it is not known how this might affect the Business 

Page 72



Public 

23 
PHR-1032 

Rates Retention system or future Local Government funding 
arrangements. 

Children’s Social Care 
 
The Council, along with other local authorities in the country, has expressed 
concern over the cost pressures associated with the provision of Children’s 
Social Care.   Many local authorities, including Derbyshire, and the LGA have 
urged Government to provide additional funding for the service. 
 
There continues to be increased demand for Children’s Social Care in 
Derbyshire, which is reflected at the national level.  More children have had to 
be placed with external provides rather than in-house foster carers.  The 
number of children in care as a percentage of the child population is below the 
England national average, however, there is a risk that demand will continue 
on the same trajectory as that seen in recent years, placing further financial 
pressure on the service.   
 
The number of children in care nationally has reached a ten year high, rising 
from 60,900 in 2009, to 78,150 in 2019.  In addition to this, there has been a 
further 139% rise in serious cases at the national level.  The level of demand 
pressures on children’s services is unprecedented and is financially 
unsustainable.    
 
The National Audit Office highlighted in a report published in 2018 that 
overspends on social care have been the drivers of overall service 
overspends in single-tier and county councils.  Collectively, councils 
surpassed their Children’s Social Care budgets by £714m in 2016-17 in order 
to protect children at immediate risk of harm, equivalent to 10.4% of budgeted 
spend for that service.  There were overspends in the Council’s Young People 
portfolio in each of the three years from 2016-17.  The latest budget 
monitoring report highlights a projected 2019-20 year-end overspend for 
Children’s Services of £7.1m, before allocation of one-off funding from the 
Budget Management Earmarked reserve of £1.4m. The service is facing 
increased demand, including rising numbers of children in care and children in 
need.  
 
The need for additional support will continue to form part of the sector’s 
lobbying strategy. 
 
Schools 
 
Whilst expenditure on school related activity would normally be expected to be 
met from within the allocated DSG, there are some school based pressures 
which could fall to the Council’s General Reserve to fund: 

 The High Needs Block is a part of the DSG, which is allocated to local 
authorities to spend on provision for children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities, from their early years to age 

Page 73



Public 

24 
PHR-1032 

25.  For 2019-20, an overspend of around £3m is projected, after the 
use of earmarked reserves.  It is intended to recover this deficit over the 
life of the Plan.  Although High Needs funding has not been announced 
in full detail for the years beyond 2020-21, the indications are that levels 
of funding will increase sufficiently to considerably reduce the risk of 
deficits arising in future years.  

 Deficit balances that exist at the point a school becomes an academy 
may be left with the Council to fund.  This is the case for “sponsored” 
academies.  Sponsored academies are those where conversion is a 
result of intervention, or where the school is not considered to be strong 
enough without the aid of a sponsor. 
 

Adult Social Care 

Demographic growth continues to affect Adult Social Care costs.  Growth 
predictions show that the Council is subject to approximate annual increases 
of £3m in relation to adult services, with a further £2m for children transitioning 
to adulthood.  These additional costs of £5m each year are predicted to 
continue for at least the next five years. 
 
Over the last few years the NLW has increased annually by between 4% and 
5%.  For 2020-21, the increase is 6.21%.  This directly impacts on the fees the 
Council pays to the independent sector.  If this level of increase is to continue 
it will cost the Council an additional £13m each year. 
 
Waste  

Landfill tax, landfill site gate fees and contractual payments for the operation 
of Household Waste Recycling Sites and Waste Transfer Stations are subject 
to price rises in line with the Retail Price.  There are also statutory increases 
of 3% in the cost per tonne of recycling credits. 
 
The Council and Derby City Council remain engaged in a project to build a 
New Waste Treatment Facility (NWTF) in Sinfin, Derby, to deal with waste that 
residents in Derby and Derbyshire do not recycle.  The facility, which was due 
to open in 2017, was being built on the councils’ behalf by Resource Recovery 
Solutions (Derbyshire) Ltd (RRS), which was a partnership between national 
construction firm Interserve, which was also building the plant, and waste 
management company Renewi plc.  However, the contract with RRS was 
terminated on 2 August 2019, following the issuing of a legal notice by the 
banks funding the project.   
 
A new contract has been put in place by the councils to make sure waste that 
residents cannot recycle or choose not to recycle continues to be dealt with 
and that recycling centres and waste transfer stations continue to operate.  
These services will continue to be run by waste management company 
Renewi UK Services Ltd, under a new two-year contract.  
 

Page 74



Public 

25 
PHR-1032 

Work is continuing on the facility to determine its condition and capability.  
This work is also being carried out by Renewi UK Services Ltd and will allow 
the councils to ascertain what measures need to be in place for the facility to 
become fully operational.  
 
Funding for the facility had been loaned to RRS by the UK Green 
Infrastructure Platform and three leading international banks; Sumitomo Mitsui 
Banking Corporation and Shinsei Bank from Japan and Bayerische 
Landesbank from Germany.  The councils are in negotiations to pay the banks 
an “estimated fair value” for the plant taking into account all of the costs of 
rectifying ongoing issues at the plant and the costs of providing the services to 
meet the agreed contract standards.  
 
Climate Change 
 
Climate Change is an issue that carries a high risk of financial uncertainty over 
the long term and will require coordinated effort by all public bodies, especially 
the Government.  In the longer term it is hoped that early costs may be offset 
by future savings in the same way as the Council’s successful LED 
programme for replacement of street lights has done. 
 
(k) Consultation 
 
The Council has, for a number of years, undertaken a variety of consultation 
exercises, using a range of methods, in the preparation of its annual revenue 
budget.  However, recently as part of the significant budget savings required, 
the Council has enhanced the value of the consultation exercises by using 
alternative approaches. 
  
A separate report highlighting consultation activity recently undertaken is also 
on the agenda for consideration at this meeting.   
 
3 Legal and Human Rights Considerations 

 
The Council’s Constitution contains Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules which must be followed when the Council sets its budget.  Cabinet must 
propose a budget by early February to allow the Council, should it so wish, to 
raise objections and refer the budget proposals back to Cabinet for further 
consideration, allowing time to finalise the precepts before 1 March. 
 
When setting the budget, the Council must be mindful of the potential impact 
on service users.  The consultation exercises which have been undertaken in 
the preparation of the 2020-21 budget are relevant in this respect.   
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 imposes an obligation on Members to 
have due regard to protecting and promoting the welfare and interests of 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic (age; disability; gender 

Page 75



Public 

26 
PHR-1032 

re-assignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; 
religion or belief; sex and sexual orientation).   
 
A high level equality analysis has been carried out and is included at Appendix 
Seven.  Even though this is a high level analysis and, as noted below, there 
will be detailed analyses undertaken for specific service reductions, it is still 
essential that Members read and consider the analysis to be provided 
alongside this report.  It will be noted that the analysis identifies a number of 
potential areas of detriment and Members are asked to pay careful regard to 
this in considering the recommendations made in this report.  Once the budget 
has been set and as spending decisions are made, service by service, and as 
policies are developed within the constraints of the budgetary framework, 
proposals will be further considered by Members and will be subject to an 
appropriate and proportionate assessment of any equality implications as well 
as consultation, including consultation on a range of options, where 
appropriate. 
 
4 HR Considerations 

 
The actual scale and detailed composition of job losses involved will not 
become clear until the necessary consultations are concluded and final 
decisions are made on individual savings proposals.  It is, however, evident 
that given the level of budget savings identified the scale of workforce re-
alignment will be significant.  The Council will seek to mitigate the impact of 
the proposed budget reductions on the Council’s workforce through the use of 
measures such as vacancy control, redeployment, voluntary release, etc. and 
the further development of an internal jobs market.  
 
The Council has a statutory responsibility to consult with the relevant trade 
unions when potential redundancy situations arise.  At future meetings 
Cabinet will be asked to approve such consultation, where necessary, as well 
as reviewing the application of the appropriate HR measures to mitigate the 
effect of the budget reductions. 

5 Equality and Diversity Considerations 

An initial Equality Analysis has been carried out in relation to the Council’s 
proposed Revenue Budget Report 2020-21.  This outlines the overall likely 
impacts upon the different protected characteristic groups and is based on 
those areas which have been identified for savings.  It also reflects upon the 
ongoing work to develop cumulative impact analysis and to consider the 
linkages between the Council’s budget savings and those being made 
elsewhere in Government and by public sector partners.  
 
Increasingly budget savings are resulting in reductions or changes to frontline 
services, which directly affect the people of Derbyshire.  In particular, they are 
likely to pose a potential adverse impact for some older people, disabled 
people, children and younger people and families.  In part this is because 
many of the Council’s services are targeted at these groups and these 

Page 76



Public 

27 
PHR-1032 

services command the largest parts of the Council’s budget.  At the same 
time, other national and local changes are also likely to continue to affect 
these groups in particular.  As indicated above, an initial budget Equality 
Analysis has been carried out and a copy is included at Appendix Seven.  
Members are asked to read this analysis carefully.  As explained above, this 
assessment helps identify areas where there is a significant risk of adverse 
impact which would then be subject to a full equality impact assessment 
process prior to Cabinet decisions on individual services.   
 

  6 Other Considerations  

In preparing this report the relevance of the following factors has been 
considered: prevention of crime and disorder, environmental, health, property, 
social value and transport considerations. 
 
7 Background Papers  
 
Spending Round 2019. 
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2020-21 – Department for 
Communities and Local Government. 
Initial budget Equality Impact Assessment. 
Papers held in Technical Section, Finance & ICT, Room 137, County Hall.  
 
8 Key Decision 
 
Yes. 
 
9 Is it necessary to waive the call-in period? 
 
Not applicable. 
 
10 Officer’s Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet recommends to Council that it: 
 
(i) Notes the details of the Spending Round 2019 and Provisional Local 

Government Finance Settlement as outlined in sections (b) and (c). 
 
(ii) Notes the Government’s expectations about Council Tax levels for 

2020-21 in section (d).  
 

(iii) Approves the precepts as outlined in section (d) and Appendix Three.  
 

(iv) Approves that billing authorities are informed of Council Tax levels 
arising from the budget proposals as outlined in section (d) and 
Appendix Three. 
 

Page 77



Public 

28 
PHR-1032 

(v)  Approves the contingency to cover non-standard inflation as outlined in 
section (f).  The contingency to be allocated by the Director of Finance 
& ICT once non-standard inflation has been agreed. 
 

(vi) Approves the service pressure items identified in section (g) and 
Appendix Four. 
 

(vii) Approves the level and allocation of budget savings as outlined in 
section (h) and Appendix Five. 
 

(viii) Notes the Director of Finance & ICT’s comments about the robustness 
of the estimates and adequacy of the reserves as outlined in section (i). 
 

(ix) Notes the details of the Council’s consultation activity as outlined in 
section (k). 

 
(x) Approves the Council Tax requirement of £342.663m which is 

calculated as follows: 

 

(xi)  
 £ 

Budget Before Pressures and Budget 
Reductions 

524,509,187 

Plus Service Pressures – on-going 25,252,320 

Plus Adult Social Care Precept 6,653,986 

Plus Service Pressures - one-off 14,816,000 

Less Budget Reductions -18,795,000 

Increase in Debt Charges 5,500,000 

Increase in Risk Management Budget 2,274,928 

Net Budget Requirement 560,211,421 
Less Top-Up -94,891,733 

Less Business Rates -20,067,433 

Less Revenue Support Grant -13,737,515 

Less New Homes Bonus -2,325,987 

Less General Grant -61,205,762 

Less PFI Grant -10,503,833 

Less Use of Earmarked Reserves -14,816,000 

Balance to be met from Council Tax 342,663,158 

 
(xii) Authorises the Director of Finance & ICT to allocate cash limits amongst 

Cabinet portfolios; Executive Directors will then report to Cabinet on the 
revised service plans for 2020-21. 

 
 

PETER HANDFORD 
 

Director of Finance & ICT  

Page 78



Public 
Appendix One 

29 
PHR-1032 

  

 

Adjusted

Base Pay and

Adjusted Funding after Funding Price Base Plus Ongoing Adult Social Budget Base Budget One off Budget

SERVICE Base Changes Changes Inflation Inflation Pressures Care Precept Savings Target Ongoing Pressures 2020-21

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Adult Social Care and Health 242,079,438 0 242,079,438 3,023 242,082,461 2,273,320 6,653,986 -3,784,000 247,225,767 7,210,000 254,435,767

Children's Services 96,607,535 0 96,607,535 9,718 96,617,253 14,836,000 0 -2,350,000 109,103,253 5,836,000 114,939,253

Economy, Transport and Environment 77,399,607 0 77,399,607 5,094 77,404,701 0 0 -1,426,000 75,978,701 470,000 76,448,701

Commissioning, Communities and Policy 64,779,150 0 64,779,150 381,729 65,160,879 400,000 0 -6,235,000 59,325,879 300,000 59,625,879

Service Totals 480,865,730 0 480,865,730 399,564 481,265,294 17,509,320 6,653,986 -13,795,000 491,633,600 13,816,000 505,449,600

Plus Contingency 0 0 0 20,181,000 20,181,000 7,743,000 0 -2,000,000 25,924,000 1,000,000 26,924,000

Plus External Debt Charges 27,771,491 0 27,771,491 0 27,771,491 5,500,000 0 0 33,271,491 0 33,271,491

Plus Risk Management Budget 1,239,402 0 1,239,402 0 1,239,402 2,274,928 0 -3,000,000 514,330 0 514,330

Less Interest Receipts -5,948,000 0 -5,948,000 0 -5,948,000 0 0 0 -5,948,000 0 -5,948,000

Net Budget Requirement 503,928,623 0 503,928,623 20,580,564 524,509,187 33,027,248 6,653,986 -18,795,000 545,395,421 14,816,000 560,211,421

FUNDED BY:

Council Tax 329,429,566 13,233,592 342,663,158 0 342,663,158 0 0 0 342,663,158 0 342,663,158

Top Up 93,370,422 1,521,311 94,891,733 0 94,891,733 0 0 0 94,891,733 0 94,891,733

Business Rates 19,194,534 872,899 20,067,433 0 20,067,433 0 0 0 20,067,433 0 20,067,433

Revenue Support Grant 13,517,274 220,241 13,737,515 0 13,737,515 0 0 0 13,737,515 0 13,737,515

New Homes Bonus 2,097,996 227,991 2,325,987 0 2,325,987 0 0 0 2,325,987 0 2,325,987

General Grant 35,814,998 25,390,764 61,205,762 0 61,205,762 0 0 0 61,205,762 0 61,205,762

PFI Grant 10,503,833 0 10,503,833 0 10,503,833 0 0 0 10,503,833 0 10,503,833

Use of Earmarked Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14,816,000 14,816,000

     503,928,623 41,466,798 545,395,421 0 545,395,421 0 0 0 545,395,421 14,816,000 560,211,421

P
age 79



Public 
Appendix Two 

30 
PHR-1032 

Response to Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Local Government Finance Settlement Team 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
2nd floor, Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
LONDON, SW1P 4DF 

 
 
 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2020-21 
 
The Council welcomes the opportunity to respond to the Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement 2020-21, details of which were published on 
the 20 December 2019.  The Council’s response is set out below.   
 
Fair Funding   

The Council is pleased that the Government continues to recognise that the 
mechanism for allocating mainstream funding to local authorities is in need of 
revision, to ensure that the costs of providing services, particularly in respect of 
social care, are accurately reflected in the distribution methodology.  The 
proposed Local Government Finance Settlement for 2020-21 includes £1.5 
billion for adult and children’s social care services, including £1 billion of new 
money.  In addition, Councils will have the option to raise up to half a billion 
pounds more for adult social care, where needed, through additional Council 
Tax flexibilities. 

This response will ease a number of the Council’s financial pressures but there 
still remains a substantial unresolved funding gap between the cost of service 
demand and the resources available.  For example, the increase of 6.21% in the 
National Living Wage for 2020-21, from £8.21 to £8.72, will lead to an estimated 
cost pressure of £12m for the Council in 2020-21 in respect of Adult Social Care 
Independent Sector fees. 
 

 
Peter Handford 
Director of Finance & ICT 
 
County Hall 
Matlock 
Derbyshire DE4 3AH 
 
Telephone (01629) 538950 
Ask for:  Eleanor Scriven 
Our ref:  ES/SB  
Date:   15 January 2020 
 

Page 80



Public 
Appendix Two 

31 
PHR-1032 

As an upper tier authority, the Council is responsible for providing children’s 
social care services, including looked after children, children and families with 
complex needs, and ‘early help’ support for families; ensuring the sustainability 
of our schools provision and providing support for those with special educational 
needs and disabilities (SEND).   
 
The Council has expressed its concern regarding substantial increases in the 
cost of children’s social care, providing evidence of increased demand in 
Derbyshire in a letter to the Secretary of State last year.  Furthermore, during 
2019 the Council has spoken to Derbyshire MPs to reiterate the need for Fair 
Funding and in July 2019 met with the Secretary of State on this matter. There 
are particular pressures in relation to providing support to children with SEND 
and increasing concerns regarding the level of school funding.   
 
Local authorities have been warning that services for children’s social care are 
reaching breaking point, with the LGA estimating that there will be an annual 
local government funding gap in the region of £8 billion by 2024-25.  The CCN 
commissioned an independent analysis of the funding gap, which concluded 
that it was higher in the short term (£4.8 billion in 2019–20) than the LGA 
analysis, but slightly lower in the long term (£6.9 billion in 2024–25). Urgent 
action is needed to address the children’s social care system.  
 
The ADCS Safeguarding Pressures report highlighted that for 2018-19, local 
authorities had an estimated shortfall of an average of 10.4% in their children’s 
services budget.  Set against the 2018-19 published Section 251 budget of 
£8.03 billion, this would mean an additional £840 million ongoing funding is 
required, before inflation, simply to maintain current delivery.  This is made even 
more acute given the demand-led nature of these services, which local 
authorities must fund by law. 
    
Analysis illustrates rising demand for children’s services nationally, including: 
 

 an increase of 116% in the number of early help assessments completed 
between 2013 and 2018,  with a 78% increase in initial contacts in the last 
ten years and a 159% increase in the number of Section 47 enquiries in 
the same ten year period; 

 an increase in the average spend for each Looked After Child from 
£33,078 in 2012 to £39,099 in 2016, this increase continues; and 

 an increase in total spending on residential care for Looked After 
Children, from £0.99 billion in 2012 to £1.10 billion in 2016, with further 
pressures predicted. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



Public 
Appendix Two 

32 
PHR-1032 

 
These pressures have resulted in a number of authorities being left with little 
choice but to divert funding towards crisis intervention activities, rather than 
preventative services.  The national picture is being reflected in Derbyshire, with 
substantial strain placed on the children’s social care budget.  There were 
overspends in the Council’s Young People portfolio in each of the three years 
from 2016-17 and it is currently forecast to overspend by £7.1 million in 2018-
19, despite local investment in children’s social care services. Increased 
demand for services in Derbyshire is highlighted below: 
 

 Children subject to a child protection plan – in 2010-11, there were 554 
children that were subject to a child protection plan in Derbyshire (a rate 
of 35 children per 10,000 population).  By the end of 2015-16 this had 
risen to 738, being 48 children per 10,000 population.  This is higher than 
the England rate of 43 per 10,000 population and higher than the rate of 
the Council’s statistical neighbour benchmarking group, of 41 children per 
10,000 population.  Since 2015-16, numbers have increased, to an all-
time high at the end of 2017-18 in excess of 900 children.  

 Special Guardianship Orders (SGO) – the number of children subject to 
an order has increased year-on-year, from 141 in 2012-13 to 370 in 2016-
17.  The payments to SGO carers and Child Arrangement Order holders 
is in itself forecast to create a budget pressure in excess of £1 million 
during 2019-20.  

 Children in Care – whilst the numbers of children in care decreased up to 
2015-16, there has been a 20% increase in numbers since that time, with 
an increase of 130 children over a two year period.  The cost of 
placements for children in care is forecast to create a £4 million budget 
pressure in 2019-20 for the Council. 

 Children with additional needs – the number of children in Derbyshire 
schools with complex educational needs is estimated to have risen by 
approximately 30% since 2004.  The proportion of pupils with statements 
or Education Health and Care Plans (3%) has increased since 2010-11 
and is higher than averages for England and our statistical neighbour 
group, both of which have remained stable (2.8%).  The proportion of 
pupils with Special Educational Needs (SEN) support has reduced since 
2010-11 but at a slower rate than England and our statistical neighbour 
group.  

 
Critical front-line services continue to feel the financial strain from increased 
demand and the present short term funding does not sufficiently address this.    
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



Public 
Appendix Two 

33 
PHR-1032 

It is vital that additional funding for children’s social care is allocated to local 
authorities as part of the Local Government Finance Settlements and Fair 
Funding Review and the Council is strongly of the view that any additional 
funding provided must be on-going, to help local authorities plan their budgets 
over the medium-term.  The Council is disappointed that the Government has 
not provided further details of the Fair Funding Review or Business Rates 
Retention review.  The Government has committed to introduce the 75% rates 
retention scheme from April 2021.  Therefore, there is now less than twelve 
months before the publication of the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement 2021-22, which is a challenging timetable to review and finalise the 
Government’s proposals.    
 
The Council awaits the publication of the social care Green Paper, which will 
now cover proposals for younger adults, as well as support for older people.   
 
Question 1: Do you agree with the Government’s proposed methodology 
for the distribution of Revenue Support Grant in 2020-21? 
 
The Council agrees with the proposed methodology as this provides local 
authorities with the certainty required for 2020-21 in order to facilitate the setting 
of budgets within the prescribed timeframes.       
 
The Council would request that the Government provides local government with 
the funding certainty required over the medium term at the earliest opportunity, 
following the exit of the UK from the European Union (EU).  The pressures 
faced by local authorities in respect of adults and children’s social care are now 
well-versed.  Recent analysis by the County Councils Network outlined the 
financial pressures being faced by councils, with an estimated £6.1bn more 
each year being required for adult social care by 2025.   
 
Therefore, it is important that a medium-term funding settlement is provided to 
support local authorities with a financially sustainable solution to support vital 
social care services.   
 
Question 2: Do you agree with the Government’s proposal to eliminate 
negative RSG? 
 
The Council welcomes the approach to resolving the issue of “negative RSG”, 
which some authorities were again facing in 2020-21, by removing it from the 
settlement via forgone business rate receipts.  The methodology sensibly only 
affects local authorities who would otherwise have received a negative RSG 
allocation; with settlement allocations for the remaining local authorities, 
including the Council, unaffected. 
 
 
 

Page 83



Public 
Appendix Two 

34 
PHR-1032 

Question 3: Do you agree with the proposed package of council tax 
referendum principles for 2020-21? 
 
The Council is pleased to see that the Government has again recognised the 
cost pressures associated with delivering adult social care services by allowing 
local authorities with adult social care responsibility to raise up to an additional 
2% to support service pressures, in addition to the £1 billion of new funding 
allocated for social care in 2020-21.   
     
The Council welcomes the publication of the referendum principles alongside 
the Provisional Settlement.  However, the Council has long argued that Council 
Tax increases should be at the discretion of local authorities, as they are best 
placed to understand and set their own levels of local taxation, whilst ensuring 
that the local taxpayer is not burdened with excessive increases.  Therefore, the 
Council does not agree with the principles of Council Tax referendums.   
     
Question 4: Do you agree with the Government’s proposals for the Social 
Care Grant in 2020-21? 
 
The Council welcomes the Government’s decision to provide additional funding 
for social care.  However, the Council would reiterate the point made above in 
that it fails to address the full cost pressures faced by local authorities and 
therefore it is imperative that both the Fair Funding Review and the delayed 
Adult Social Care Green Paper are given priority following the EU Exit to 
address the cost pressures associated with the delivery of social care.  
 
The Council supports the distribution of the Social Care Grant via the existing 
Adult Social Care Relative Needs Formula.  
 
Question 5: Do you agree with the Government’s proposals for iBCF in 
2020- 21? 
   
The Council is pleased to see that the improved Better Care Fund allocations 
will carry forward into 2020-21, however, local authorities will be expecting 
confirmation of iBCF funding beyond 2020-21, as the decision to cease the 
funding will have significant consequences on local authority budgets which are 
already burdened by the rising demand for social care services.  
 
Question 6: Do you agree with the Government’s proposal to fund the New 
Homes Bonus in 2020-21 with the planned £900 million from Revenue 
Support Grant, with additional funding being secured from departmental 
resources, and to allocate the funds in line with previous years but with no 
legacy payments? 
 
The New Homes Bonus Scheme (NHB) was intended to encourage local 
authorities to increase housing growth and reward those authorities accordingly, 

Page 84



Public 
Appendix Two 

35 
PHR-1032 

with the aim to utilise the funding for local infrastructure to support further 
housing growth.  The reality is that local authorities have, in general, used the 
funding to support the overall council budget to mitigate funding reductions as a 
result of austerity measures implemented since 2010.   
 
The Council welcomes the Government decision not to adjust the baseline in 
2020-21 to reflect significant housing growth.  Adjusting the baseline 
disproportionately may have penalised some authorities who would have 
reflected the estimated New Homes Bonus allocations in their medium term 
financial strategies.      
 
However, the Council is disappointed by the removal of legacy payments on new 
NHB allocations for 2020-21, which means that the Council’s future income from 
NHB is forecast to decrease by around £0.7m from 2021-22 onwards. The 
Council would welcome an explanation of the reasoning behind the Government’s 
decision.   
 
It has yet to be demonstrated whether the NHB has had the Government’s 
planned incentive effect and has resulted in significant behavioural change.  It 
could be argued that the operation and funding of the bonus removes funding 
from those with high needs and distributes that funding to lower tier service 
providers, which arguably have fewer pressures on their budgets.  At a time 
when funding constraints remain in local government, the Council would like to 
see the Government consider whether this funding could be more appropriately 
directed to address well publicised pressures in adults’ and children’s services, 
including SEND provision in schools. 
 
The Council would welcome a review of the New Homes Bonus funding as part 
of the Fair Funding Review and considers that the funding allocated for New 
Homes Bonus, the £900m top-sliced from RSG at the inception of the Scheme, 
should be allocated on the basis of need. 
 
Question 7: Do you agree with the Government’s proposed approach to 
paying £81 million Rural Services Delivery Grant in 2020-21 to the upper 
quartile of local authorities, based on the super-sparsity indicator? 
 
The Council welcomes the decision to provide funding of the additional costs of 
delivering services in rural areas, pending further consideration in the Fair 
Funding Review, in continued recognition that authorities in rural areas face 
costs not covered by the current funding arrangements.  
 
However, the Council does not believe that the current distribution methodology 
treats all areas fairly.  It is unfair to continue to exclude county councils where 
constituent districts receive this funding, as they face budgetary pressure 
resulting from their rurality, for instance in the service areas of social care and 
passenger transport, which are both upper tier responsibilities.  

Page 85



Public 
Appendix Two 

36 
PHR-1032 

 
Question 8: Do you have any comments on the impact of the proposals for 
the 2020-21 settlement outlined in this consultation document on persons 
who share a protected characteristic, and on the draft equality statement 
published alongside this consultation document? Please provide evidence 
to support your comments. 
 
The Council has long-argued that there is disparity across the country in terms 

of a local authority’s ability to raise Council Tax.  Whilst the additional flexibility 

afforded to local authorities in some recent years in respect of increasing the 

Council Tax referendum threshold from the previous 2% to 3% has been 

welcomed, variable amounts of income can be generated in different parts of 

the country.  The Council would expect this inequality to be addressed as part of 

the Fair Funding Review. 

 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
 
Peter Handford 
Director of Finance & ICT 
 
 

Page 86



Public 
Appendix Three 

37 
PHR-1032 

 

Council Tax  
 

Taxbase 
 

 Equivalent 
Band D 

Properties 
2019-20 

Equivalent 
Band D 

Properties 
2020-21 

 
 

Change 
% 

Amber Valley 39,539.86 39,909.63 0.94 
Bolsover 21,982.87 22,169.60 0.85 
Chesterfield 29,000.63 29,181.08 0.62 
Derbyshire Dales 28,914.13 29,828.68 3.16 
Erewash 32,988.80 33,699.90 2.16 
High Peak 30,575.00 30,970.00 1.29 
North East Derbyshire 30,957.85 31,263.33 0.99 
South Derbyshire 33,302.00 34,474.00 3.52 

 247,261.14 251,496.22 1.71 

 
Collection Fund 

 
Council Tax Amounts 
 
Band 

 
2019-20 

£ 

 
2020-21 

£ 

General 
Increase 

£ 

ASC 
Increase 

£ 

Total 
Increase 

£ 

Number of 
Properties 

A 881.92 899.56 0.00 17.64 17.64 135,240 
B 1,028.91 1,049.49 0.00 20.58 20.58 82,060 
C 1,175.89 1,199.41 0.00 23.52 23.52 60,600 
D 1,322.88 1,349.34 0.00 26.46 26.46 40,340 
E 1,616.85 1,649.19 0.00 32.34 32.34 24,640 
F 1,910.83 1,949.05 0.00 38.22 38.22 12,160 
G 2,204.80 2,248.90 0.00 44.10 44.10 6,940 
H 2,645.76 2,698.68 0.00 52.92 52.92 550 

      362,530 

 2019-20 
£ 

2020-21 
£ 

Amber Valley 411,922 570,802 
Bolsover 0 -450,631 
Chesterfield -20,135 693,096 
Derbyshire Dales 55,932 512,434 
Erewash 14,706 541,691 
High Peak 490,190 458,170 
North East Derbyshire 647,232 397,090 
South Derbyshire 733,500 587,200 

 2,333,347 3,309,852 

Page 87



Public 
Appendix Three 

38 
PHR-1032 

Precept Amounts 
 
  

Amount 
Collected 

£ 

Collect Fund 
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

£ 

Amount 
Actually 

Due 
£ 

Amber Valley 53,851,564 570,802 54,422,366 
Bolsover 29,914,275 -450,631 29,463,644 
Chesterfield 39,375,128 693,096 40,068,224 
Derbyshire Dales 40,248,960 512,434 40,761,394 
Erewash 45,472,542 541,691 46,014,233 
High Peak 41,788,986 458,170 42,247,156 
North East Derbyshire 42,184,787 397,090 42,581,877 
South Derbyshire 46,517,064 587,200 47,104,264 

 339,353,306 3,309,852 342,663,158 

 

Page 88



Public 
Appendix Four 

39 
PHR-1032 

Service Pressures  
 
 
Social Care Contingency – Total £5,000,000 ongoing contingency 
The demand pressures on the Council’s budgets and the financial pressures 
associated with this have been highlighted throughout this report.  Children’s 
social care, in particular, has experienced rising demand for its services in 
recent years.  If this trend continues on the same path, it is likely that there will 
be increased costs again in 2020-21.  In such circumstances, the Head of 
Paid Service and Director of Finance & ICT will be responsible for making the 
decision on the allocation of budgets.        

Adult Social Care and Health – Total - £8,927,000 ongoing, £2,743,000 
ongoing contingency, £7,210,000 one-off 
 
Demographic Growth - £4,500,000 ongoing 
Increases in 65+ population, the number of disabled adults accessing 
services, cases of early onset of dementia, the complexity of need and the 
complexity of clients transitioning from Children’s Services means that there 
continues to be a demographic growth pressure in respect of Adult Care. 
 
Winter Pressures - £3,627,000 ongoing 
The Government provided £240 million in 2019-20 through a Winter Pressures 
Grant which was ringfenced for use by local authorities to alleviate winter 
pressures on the NHS.  In 2020-21, this £240 million will not be ringfenced for 
that purpose and will instead be rolled into the iBCF; allocated using the 
existing Adult Social Care Relative Needs Formula, as in 2019-20. 

Implementation of a New Pathway - £4,210,000 one-off 

This funding is required to implement the recommendations of the Newton 

Europe review.  The implementation of the revised pathway is expected to 

save £21m over the next three years.  This is part of a four-year 

transformation programme that will seek to promote greater independence for 

older people in Derbyshire. 

 

Transforming Care Programme - £800,000 ongoing 

Thirty clients in long stay hospitals will need to be transferred to Social Care 

provision, as part of the Transforming Care Programme to transfer services 

from the NHS to the Council. 

 

Learning Disability Short Term Breaks - £543,000 ongoing 

As part of the Transforming Care Programme it has been agreed to move 

forward with a closure programme relating to five NHS funded short break 

units.  This service is to transfer to the Council and discussions are underway 

with the NHS, which should establish the cost.  This amount would be held in 

Page 89



Public 
Appendix Four 

40 
PHR-1032 

Contingency budgets until the cost is known. 

 

Homes for Older People - £3,000,000 one-off 

Due to significant pressures around maintenance within our older persons 

care homes this bid will support the ongoing maintenance and associated 

costs attributed to the works required.   

 

Continuing Health Care - £2,200,000 ongoing 

Following a review of Continuing Health Care clients using a Continuing 

Health Care/Joint Funding Matrix to determine the threshold of needs between 

the NHS and social care, there is expected to be a year-on-year increase in 

costs.  Discussions are underway with the NHS, which should establish the 

additional cost.  This amount would be held in contingency budgets until the 

cost is known. 

 

Children’s Services – Total - £14,836,000 ongoing, £5,836,000 one-off 

 
Social Workers - £1,300,000 ongoing, £1,300,000 one-off 
A new structure for social workers has increased the number of established 
posts.  The funding for this new structure was agreed in 2018-19 and is 
transferring into the base budget of Children's Services over four years.  This 
bid continues with the plan as previously set out in the Five Year Financial 
Plan. 
 
Child Carer Allowances - £100,000 ongoing 
To recognise the value provided by foster carers to the Council, it is proposed 
that their allowances are increased by inflation from 1 April 2020.   
 
Develop Quality Assurance Practices - £214,000 one-off 
Additional capacity is required to support improvement priorities identified as a 
result of the recent Ofsted inspection.  There is a demand to develop and 
implement effective quality assurance and performance management 
activities and approaches. 
 
Resources to Implement New Pathway - £108,000 one-off 
To provide programme direction and front line service input to assist with work 
being led by Adult Social Care, required on the life-long disability pathway 
programme.  The goal is to move to a culture where disabled people are 
encouraged to live as independently as possible and this requires a change in 
approach. 
 
Leaving Care Services - £498,000 one-off 
The duties in relation to care leavers have been extended with support offered 
up to the age of 25 as required (previously 21) which has resulted in an 

Page 90



Public 
Appendix Four 

41 
PHR-1032 

increase in care leaver numbers.  There are also more care leavers as the 
number of children in care moving through to care leaving age has increased.  
This reflects the additional cost of service provision.  
 
Agency Placements - £8,000,000 ongoing 
The increase in the number and complexity of children being taken into care 
has meant that more children have to be placed with external providers rather 
than in-house provision.  This has led to an increase in costs.  This is an 
estimate of the additional cost in 2020-21 of expected placements based on 
current levels of demand.  If trends continue into 2020-21, costs are likely to 
increase further.  This increase in demand is being experienced nationally. 
 
Section 17 and Pre-Placement Expenditure - £1,000,000 one-off 
Under Section 17 of the Children's Act, the local authority has a duty "to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children in need through promoting the 
upbringing of children by their families".  This includes providing financial 
assistance to do so.  Demand has been rising as a result of an increased 
number of referrals and increased identification of children that meet the 
threshold of children in need.   
 
Special Guardianship Orders (SGO) and Child Arrangement Allowances - 
£336,000 ongoing 
The Council provides means tested financial support towards the cost of 
caring for a child under Special Guardianship or Child Arrangement Orders.  
The number of children whose carers are in receipt of these payments has 
been increasing steadily for a number of years.   This reflects the additional 
cost of providing the allowances.  
 
Elective Home Education - £207,000 one-off  
There has been a significant increase in the number of young people being 
electively home educated.  The request for funding is to enable the Council to 
meet its statutory function and to enable the Council to be more proactive at 
the point that parents indicate they are considering elective home education. 
 
Special Needs Transport - £1,000,000 ongoing, £971,000 one-off 
The SEND Home to School Transport budget has faced significant budget 
pressures for a number of years.  Actual numbers and proportion of children 
with SEN support is increasing year on year, with significant increases in 
expenditure on children placed in out of county independent provision and 
young people that are post 16.  In addition, Derbyshire special schools have 
been increasing the number of pupils they take.  This reflects the additional 
cost of service provision.  
 
Special Needs Service - £600,000 ongoing 
The demands on the service for the foreseeable future are such that there is 
no scope to reduce expenditure and meet statutory duties.  The pressure bid 

Page 91



Public 
Appendix Four 

42 
PHR-1032 

is therefore to increase budget to the current level of expenditure. 
 
Child Protection Services - £500,000 ongoing 
The number of children subject to a child protection plan in Derbyshire has 
increased over the last three years and the number of children in care has 
been increasing.  There is a shortfall in funding to current levels of spend and 
additional funding is required to ensure the service is able to deliver within the 
expected timeframes and to expected levels. 
 
Legal Costs - £1,100,000 one-off 
The number and the complexity of children in care proceedings is increasing. 
Children’s Services’ costs continue to increase, most notably in respect of 
solicitors’ fees (incurred either where the Council is sharing/paying costs with 
another party, or where work cannot be delivered by the in-house legal 
services team), barristers’ fees and the fees payable to the courts at each 
stage of children in care proceedings. 
 
Future Demand for Services - £3,000,000 ongoing 
Demand experienced within Children's Services in recent years is likely to 
continue and therefore it is likely that costs will continue to increase during 
2020-21.  This will principally affect the areas of Child Protection Service 
staffing, placements for looked after and other accommodated children, 
including complex cases, and children who are electively home educated.   
 
Service Transformation - £438,000 one-off 
The Children’s Services department is facing unprecedented demand for its 
services.  A recent Ofsted inspection identified a number of areas where 
Children’s Services provision required improvement.  As a result, the 
department has identified a number of areas where there will need to be either 
a reduction in costs and/or an improvement in service provision.  This work 
will be co-ordinated within the department for a fixed term. 
 

Commissioning, Communities and Policy – Total – £400,000 ongoing, 
£300,000 one-off 
 

Legal Services Child Care Cases - £300,000 one-off  

In the context of a rising number of child care cases, there is an objective of 

reducing Children’s Services’ spend on external legal services.  Legal 

Services is intending to introduce a new model of delivery based on core offer 

in January 2020 and this should over time help to stabilise costs. 

 

ICT Strategy - £200,000 ongoing 

The ICT Strategy was approved by Cabinet in July 2018.  Included within the 

ICT Strategy was the need to increase the ICT Budget by £1.000m, to assist 

Page 92



Public 
Appendix Four 

43 
PHR-1032 

with the delivery of priorities, at a rate of £0.200m each year, over the five 

year ICT Strategy period. 

 

Climate Change - £200,000 ongoing 

The Council published its Climate Change Manifesto in May 2019.  Resource 

is required to ensure the Council can take forward work across the Council 

and deliver identified priorities.   

 

Economy, Transport and Environment – Total - £470,000 one-off 
 
Ash Dieback - £270,000 one-off  
Ash Dieback will lead to the decline and death of the majority of ash trees in 

Britain.  The Countryside Service is to lead a strategic corporate-level 

response with relevant departments, developing a corporate Ash Dieback 

Action Plan, initiating a programme of inspection to quantify the scale of the 

problem on the Council’s estate including the surveying, felling and re-planting 

of trees on Council land.  It is considered likely that this funding will turn into a 

multi-year commitment once evaluation work has been performed.  

 

Elvaston Castle Masterplan - £200,000 one-off 

Cabinet approved the Elvaston Castle Masterplan on 20 December 2018, 

following a public consultation exercise.  A business case is being prepared 

for capital investment to deliver the Masterplan, which requires preliminary 

studies, assessments and design work to identify the costs, requirements and 

potential income.  

 

Page 93



Public 
Appendix Five 

44 
PHR-1032 

BUDGET SAVINGS PROPOSALS 2020-21 
 
 
Adult Social Care and Health – Total - £1,100,000 
 
Whole life disability pathway - £498,000 
This is part of the Council’s four-year Better Lives programme that will build on 
best practice and innovate new ways of working to ensure that the Council’s 
services support and promote greater independence for children and adults 
living with a disability across the whole county.  This will include enabling 
younger people preparing for adulthood to develop and realise their 
aspirations and ambitions for adult life. 
 
Older Adult’s pathway - £602,000 
This is part of a four-year Better Lives transformation programme that will 
build on best practice and innovate new ways of working to ensure that the 
Council’s services support and promote greater independence for older 
people in Derbyshire.  This will include ensuring consistency and equity of 
access to the Council’s short-term services through the implementation of 
consistent strength-based and outcome-focussed assessments and reviews. 
 
 
 
Children’s Services – Total - £2,350,000 
 
Improved efficiency – £230,000 
Children's Services will continue with actions to improve use of resources 
such as rationalising management structures, making effective use of new 
technologies, regional partnerships and continuing to improve working 
processes.  
 
Placements for children unable to live at home – £450,000 
Children's Services will continue with actions to ensure cost-effective 
placement arrangements for those children that are unable to remain with their 
birth family.  These will include ensuring effective use of both Derbyshire 
provided placements and those placements provided by other agencies.  In 
addition, the Care Leavers service will work with young people from the age of 
15 to ensure they are well-prepared for their transition to adulthood. 
 
Continuation of already announced actions in respect of Early Help 
Services – £167,000 
The Council, in conjunction with its partnership agencies, is in the process of 
completing a major review of early help provision for vulnerable children and 
their families.   
 
 

Page 94



Public 
Appendix Five 

45 
PHR-1032 

Continuation of already announced actions in respect of Services for 
Teenagers – £162,000 
Savings can be achieved by taking away centralised and back office 
management functions. 
 
Continuation of already announced actions in respect of Donut Creative 
Arts Centre – £81,000 
The Council will negotiate with other providers to take over the running of the 
centre, reducing the need for direct staffing and day-to-day running costs. 
 
Continuation of already announced actions in respect of Outdoor 
education – £130,000 
The Council’s outdoor education service will continue to reduce its net costs 
by widening the facilities available to schools and families and at weekends, 
for example weddings, functions and camping, to generate additional income 
and will review its charges to help deliver cost reductions. 
 
Continuation of already announced actions in respect of Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) – £39,000 
The Council’s educational psychology service will further reduce its net cost 
by increasing income generation. 

Continuation of already announced actions in respect of preventing 
newborn children being taken into care – £143,000 
The Council will be working with a partner organisation to support women with 
the aim of avoiding the need to take newborn children into care because of 
safeguarding concerns. 
 
Continuation of already announced actions in respect of a combined 
Children’s Safeguarding Board with Derby City – £25,000 
Delivery of previously planned actions to reduce duplication and delivery 
economies of scale through shared arrangements with other Local Authorities. 
 
Disabled Children’s Services – £300,000 
There will be a review of Disabled Children's Services to ensure that the 
provision Derbyshire offers remains appropriate for the need across the 
county and that there is equity in access to support.  Additionally, the Council 
will ensure that services and provision support and prepare young people and 
their families as they approach adulthood. 
 
Home to School Transport – £70,000 
The Council will continue to seek efficiencies in its provision of transport to all 
pupils to ensure that there is equity across the county. This includes ceasing 
transport that is not provided for a statutory reason and reviewing the level of 
subsidy provided to the Council where transport is non-statutory and a 
contribution is made. It also includes looking at ways of working with parents 
and carers to help them take their own child to school where it is cost-effective 

Page 95



Public 
Appendix Five 

46 
PHR-1032 

to do so or where there is a statutory responsibility on the parent/carer to take 
their child to school. 
 
Back office costs – £538,000 
This saving will be achieved by reducing general business support and 
specialised back office functions, including staffing, in line with reductions in 
frontline services and better use of technology. 
 
Youth Council – £15,000 
The operation of the Youth Council will be reviewed to ensure the offer 
remains relevant and appropriate for young people. 
 
 
 
Economy, Transport and Environment – Total - £1,576,000 
 
Waste – £230,000  
The cost of disposing of waste will be reduced through restricting use of 
household waste recycling centres by businesses and people who live outside 
Derbyshire. 
 
Public Transport – £450,000  
Following the additional investment in 2017, the amount the Council spends 
on subsidised bus services will reduce. This will be achieved by re-tendering 
services to get a better price and by reviewing some services to make sure 
they are still being used.  
 
Countryside Service – £400,000 
The Council is looking for a combination of alternative sources of funding to 
generate income through commercial activity or to reduce the cost of this 
service. 
 
Staffing – £258,000  
Staff budgets will be reduced by identifying other sources of income to pay for 
staff costs. 
 
b_line – £88,000 
The Council will no longer provide a public transport discount card for young 
people, although some operators will continue to provide discounted rates on 
their trains and buses. 
 
Budget Challenge - £150,000 
Budget challenge across the department to identify additional savings that do 
not impact on services delivered to the public.  
 
 

Page 96



Public 
Appendix Five 

47 
PHR-1032 

Commissioning, Communities and Policy – Total – £6,235,000 

Administration and employee savings – £2,081,000 
The number of staff in finance and ICT, communications, human resources, 
policy, trading standards and community safety will be reduced by not 
replacing some people when they leave and by restructuring services.  Back 
office costs will also be regularly reviewed. There are also a number of new 
initiatives, such as channel shift, and procurement exercises being carried out 
to reduce costs.  
 
Insurance reductions – £350,000 

This money will be saved by reducing the contribution to the insurance fund, 
which means the Council accepting a higher level of risk against the fund. 
 
Interest receipts – £250,000 
By managing the Council’s cash balances in a more pro-active manner, it is 
anticipated that this would increase interest receipts. One way that this could 
be achieved is by looking to invest in longer term, pooled funds which would 
generate a higher return. 
 
ICT – £275,000 
Existing IT contracts and systems will be reviewed and the Council will seek to 
rationalise the number of systems in use across the authority. 
 
Property Services – £1,893,000 
The Council will reduce running costs by rationalising its land and property 
and releasing the resulting surplus assets. Fees will also be generated from 
capital schemes.  
 
Legal services – £375,000 
A new delivery model will be introduced to manage the demand for Legal 
Services across the Council. 
 
Additional income – £278,000 
The Council will look to raise additional income, e.g. by charging for 
advertising, increasing income from the Registration Service and the 
Derbyshire Business Centre and by introducing a charge for the free training 
currently provided by Community Safety. 
 
Trade Union (TU) Facilities Time – £50,000 
The Council is looking to reduce its expenditure on TU Facilities to bring the 
Council in line with similar county councils which have the lowest percentage 
of TU Facility Time as a proportion of their pay bill.   
 
 
 

Page 97



Public 
Appendix Five 

48 
PHR-1032 

Libraries – £320,000 
The multi-year programme to transfer 20 libraries to community management, 
together with regularly reviewing staffing levels and opening hours, will 
continue, as well as the review of the Mobile Library Service. 
 
Arts – £208,000 
The Council will look at alternative ways to deliver the arts service and also 
review the current arrangements for awarding grants to organisations. 
 
Buxton Museum – £70,000 
In line with the proposals to transfer libraries to community management the 
Council will investigate using volunteers to help to deliver services at Buxton 
Museum. 
 
Derbyshire Record Office – £60,000 
Opening hours and staffing levels will be reviewed. 
 
Trading Standards – £25,000 
Further efficiencies will be found from the trading standards budget. 

 
 
 
  

Page 98



Public 
Appendix Five 

49 
PHR-1032 

BUDGET SAVINGS PROPOSALS 2021-22 
 
 
Adult Social Care and Health – Total - £7,607,000 
 
Continuation from 2020-21 Schemes: 

 
Whole life disability pathway and assistive technology - £1,709,000 
 
Older people’s pathway and assistive technology - £5,748,000 

 
Review other prevention services - £150,000 
Efficiency savings in the welfare benefits service. 

 
 
 
Children’s Services – Total – £1,972,000 
 
Continuation from 2020-21 Schemes: 
 
Improved efficiency – £290,000 
 
Disabled Children’s Services – £1,000,000 
 
Back office costs – £266,000 
 
Outdoor Education – £130,000 
 
Preventing newborn children being taken into care – £286,000 
 
 
 
Economy, Transport and Environment – Total - £2,013,000 
 
Waste – £230,000 
The cost of disposing of waste will be reduced through restricting use of 
household waste recycling centres by businesses and people who live outside 
Derbyshire. 
 
Staff Budgets: Economy & Regeneration – £330,000; Environment - 
£64,200; Highways – £636,500; Resources & Improvement – £427,300 
The number of staff will be reduced by not replacing some people when they 
leave, staff reorganisations and looking for other sources of income to pay for 
staff costs. 
 
 

Page 99



Public 
Appendix Five 

50 
PHR-1032 

Highway Agency Agreements – £150,000  
The Council will reduce the cost of highway maintenance work carried out on 
its behalf by other organisations. 
 
Parking Services – £25,000  
The Council will save money by managing its on street parking service 
differently. 
 
Digital Derbyshire – £150,000 
The team responsible for ensuring superfast broadband is available across 
the county will be funded from the Council’s reserves instead of a revenue 
budget.   
 
 
 
Commissioning, Communities and Policy - Total - £2,586,000 
 
Continuation from 2020-21 Schemes: 

 
Administration and employee savings – £832,000 
The number of staff in finance and ICT, communications, human resources, 
policy, community safety and trading standards will be reduced by not 
replacing some people when they leave and by restructuring services.  Back 
office costs will be regularly reviewed. There are also a number of new 
initiatives and procurement exercises being carried out to reduce costs.  

Insurance reductions – £200,000 
Further money will be saved by reducing the contribution to the insurance 
fund, which means the Council accepting a higher level of risk against the 
fund. 
 
Interest receipts – £250,000 
By managing the Council’s cash balances in a more pro-active manner, it is 
anticipated that this would increase interest receipts.  
 
ICT – £256,000 
The Council will continue to review its existing IT contracts and systems and 
seek to rationalise the number of systems in use across the Council. 
 
Property Services – £619,000 
The Council will continue to reduce running costs by rationalising its land and 
property and releasing the resulting surplus assets. It will also generate fees 
from capital schemes.  
 
Legal services – £223,000 
The new delivery model will be utilised to manage the demand for Legal 
Services across the Council.   

Page 100



Public 
Appendix Five 

51 
PHR-1032 

 
Libraries – £206,000 
The multi-year programme to transfer some libraries to community 
management, and the review of staffing levels and opening hours, will 
continue.  

  

Page 101



Public 
Appendix Five 

52 
PHR-1032 

BUDGET SAVINGS PROPOSALS 2022-23 
 
 
Adult Social Care and Health – Total - £8,727,000 
 
Continuation from 2020-21 Schemes: 

 
Whole life disability pathway and assistive technology - £1,972,000 
 
Older people’s pathway and assistive technology - £6,755,000 
 
 
 
Children’s Services – Total - £786,000 
 
Continuation from 2020-21 Schemes: 
 
Improved efficiency – £143,000 
 
Disabled Children’s Services – £300,000 
 
Preventing newborn children being taken into care – £143,000 
 
Back office costs – £200,000 
 
 
 
Economy, Transport and Environment – Total - £2,220,000 
 
Elvaston Castle and Country Park – £120,000 
The cost of running Elvaston Castle and Country Park will reduce by investing 
in projects identified in the Master Plan to help the estate to generate sufficient 
income to cover its costs. 
 
Waste – £100,000 
The Council will work with partners, including district and borough councils, to 
reduce the cost of disposing of the county’s waste. 
 
Future Highways Model – £2,000,000 
Additional income will be generated from making better use of the Council’s 
assets by delivering a major improvement plan for the highways service. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 102



Public 
Appendix Five 

53 
PHR-1032 

 
BUDGET SAVINGS PROPOSALS 2023-24 
 
 
Adult Social Care and Health – Total - £3,669,000 
 
Continuation from 2020-21 Schemes: 

 
Whole life disability pathway and assistive technology - £1,674,000 
 
Older people’s pathway and assistive technology - £1,995,000 
 
 
 
Children’s Services – Total – £200,000 
 
Continuation from 2020-21 Schemes: 
 
Back office costs – £200,000 
 
 
 
Economy, Transport and Environment – Total - £2,220,000 
 
Continuation from 2022-23 Schemes: 
 
Elvaston Castle and Country Park – £120,000 
 
Waste – £2,100,000 
The Council will work with partners, including district and borough councils, to 
reduce the cost of disposing of the county’s waste. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103



Public 
Appendix Five 

54 
PHR-1032 

BUDGET SAVINGS PROPOSALS 2024-25  
 
 
Adult Social Care and Health – Total - £187,000 
 
Continuation from 2020-21 Schemes: 

Whole life disability pathway and assistive technology - £187,000 
 
 
 
Economy, Transport and Environment – Total - £120,000 
 
Continuation from 2022-23 Schemes: 
 
Elvaston Castle and Country Park – £120,000 
 
 
 

BUDGET SAVINGS PROPOSALS 2025-26  
 
Economy, Transport and Environment – Total - £120,000 
 
Continuation from 2022-23 Schemes: 
 
Elvaston Castle and Country Park – £120,000 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



Public 
Appendix Five 

55 
PHR-1032 

 
BUDGET SAVINGS PROPOSALS – CROSS DEPARTMENTAL 
 
Work has taken place to identify possible savings from the following sources 
over the life of the Five Year Financial Plan. 
 
Risk Management Budget - £3,000,000 
Through tight control of costs it has been possible to release back, for 
Council-wide use, amounts no longer required by, principally, the Adult Care 
and Social Health Department.  It is proposed to utilise this sum in 2020-21. 
 
Pension Contributions - £1,000,000 
It is proposed that the Council pay –upfront – its whole expected pension 
contribution to the Pension Fund in one payment during 2020-21.  This will 
then generate a longer term saving from saving from the enhanced rates of 
return available to fund. 
 
Revenue Contribution to Capital - £1,000,000 
There is an opportunity in 2020-21 to release a sum of revenue base budget 
that is used to finance capital, by funding the capital expenditure from 
borrowing instead. 
 
Procurement Strategy 
As part of the implementation of the Council’s Procurement Strategy it has 
become clear that further opportunities for savings exist.  It is proposed that a 
reasonable expectation for further savings is possible at around the £3m level. 

Page 105



Public 
Appendix Six 

56 
PHR-1032 

  

 
 
 

 

 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

£m £m £m £m £m

FUNDING

Business Rates and Government Grants

Business Rates 20.067 20.408 20.755 21.108 21.467

Top-Up 94.892 96.505 98.146 99.814 101.511

Revenue Support Grant 13.738 13.738 13.738 13.738 13.738

Improved Better Care Fund 34.681 34.681 34.681 34.681 34.681

New Homes Bonus 2.326 1.600 1.600 1.600 1.600

General Grant 26.524 26.524 26.524 26.524 26.524

PFI Grant 10.504 10.504 10.504 10.504 10.504

Sub Total 202.732 203.960 205.948 207.969 210.025

Council Tax 342.663 346.444 358.602 371.190 384.223

Use of Balances 14.816 3.200 2.000 2.000 2.000

TOTAL FUNDING 560.211 553.604 566.550 581.160 596.248

EXPENDITURE:

Base Budget 503.929 545.395 550.404 564.550 579.160

Price Inflation 0.400 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Pay Award (including Living Wage) 5.403 5.495 5.592 5.751 6.767

Contingency for Price Increases 14.778 13.000 13.000 10.000 10.000

Debt Charges 1.000 -1.500 0.000 0.000 0.000

MRP adjustment 4.500 -3.500 7.000 0.000 0.000

Ongoing Service Pressures (see below) 31.906 7.300 6.000 6.000 5.000

Budget Savings Identified -18.795 -16.541 -12.726 -4.280 -0.307

Risk Management Budget 2.275 0.755 -1.269 0.000 0.000

545.396 550.404 568.001 582.021 600.620

One-off Expenditure:

One-off Revenue Support 13.816 2.000 2.000 2.000 2.000

Contingency for Other One-off Revenue Bids 1.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Elections 0.000 1.200 0.000 0.000 0.000

14.816 3.200 2.000 2.000 2.000

Further Budget Savings Required 0.000 0.000 -3.451 -2.862 -6.372

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 560.211 553.604 566.550 581.160 596.248

Ongoing Base Budget 545.395 550.404 564.550 579.160 594.248

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN for 2020-21 to 2024-25

Page 106



Public 
Appendix Six 

57 
PHR-1032 

 

Assumptions 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Price Inflation 1.90% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Pay Award 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Business Rate Growth 4.54% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Top Up RPI 1.70% 1.70% 1.70% 1.70% 1.70%

Council Tax Increase 2.00% 0.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Taxbase Increase 1.71% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50%

Taxbase 251,496 255,269 259,098 262,984 266,929

Collection Fund Position (£m) 3.310 2.000 2.000 2.000 2.000

Council Tax (£/Band D) 1,349.34 1,349.34 1,376.32 1,403.85 1,431.93

Ongoing Service Pressures

Adult Care Demographics 4.500 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000

Winter Pressures 3.627 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Transforming Care Programme 0.800 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

LD Short Term Breaks Contingency 0.543 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Continuing Health Care Contingency 2.200 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Social Care Contingency 5.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Child Carer Allowances 0.100 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Agency Placements 8.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

SGO and Child Arrangement Allowances 0.336 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Special Needs Transport 1.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Special Needs Service 0.600 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Child Protection Services 0.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Future Demand for Services 3.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Pension Fund 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.000 0.000

Children's Services Demographics 0.000 1.000 1.000 0.000 0.000

Children's Social Care Recruitment Remodelling 1.300 1.300 0.000 0.000 0.000

ICT Strategy 0.200 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Climate Change 0.200 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

31.906 7.300 6.000 6.000 5.000

One-Off Pressures

Implementation of New Pathway 4.210 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

HOPS Vacation 3.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Social Workers 1.300 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Develop Quality Assurance Practices 0.214 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Resources to Implement New Pathway 0.108 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Leaving Care services 0.498 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

S17 and Pre-Placement Expenditure 1.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Elective Home Education 0.207 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Special Needs Transport 0.971 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Legal Costs 1.100 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Service Transformation 0.438 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Legal Services Child Care Cases 0.300 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Ash Die-Back 0.270 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Elvaston Castle Master Plan 0.200 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

13.816 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Page 107



Public 
Appendix Seven 

58 
 

 
 
 

Derbyshire County Council 
 

Equality Impact Analysis Record Form 

Derbyshire County Council Revenue Budget 
2020/21 

 
 

Department ALL 

Service Area ALL 

Title of policy/ practice/ service of 
function 

REVENUE BUDGET FOR 2020/21 

Chair of Analysis Team Paul Stone, Assistant Director of Finance 
(Financial Management) 

 
Stage 1. Prioritising what is being analysed 
 
a. Why has the policy, practice, service or function been chosen?  
b. What if any proposals have been made to alter the policy, service or function? 
 
 
To ensure that when the Council’s annual revenue budget is set each year that an 
assessment is being made of the likely impacts for local people. As the budget sets the 
overall spending and income raising levels for the Council, it also determines to some 
degree the areas of service where budget reductions will be targeted, and as such 
needs to be included within the Council’s processes for meeting the public sector 
equality duty. The analysis of the main budget will be supported by individual service 
specific Equality Impact Analyses, to ensure that all possible likely impacts are identified, 
and where possible steps taken to mitigate them. In the event that adverse impact 
identified is very serious and cannot be mitigated then members would have to consider 
whether not to proceed with the proposed budget reductions.   
 

 
 

Page 108



Public 
Appendix Seven 

59 
 

c. What is the purpose of the policy, practice, service or function? 
 
 
Each year the Council must agree a revenue budget for the next financial year, which 
reflects the Council’s Five Year Financial Plan and which seeks to ensure a balanced 
budget, taking into account funding from external sources, including Government, and 
locally raised sources of income. 
 
Specifically, the budget sets the high level controls over where the Council will spend 
money on delivering local services, and thus helps determine the services that will 
become available to the people of Derbyshire in the following financial year. 
 
Since 2008 the Council’s budget has been reduced by Central Government. This means 
that each year there are fewer resources to fund local services, and the Council must 
find ways of changing or cutting services and other activities to stay within budget.  
 
The budget will also set whether or not locally raised income is increased each year, 
such as through rises in Council Tax and other major charges, impacting on local 
people, whether or not they use different Council services. It does not exercise control 
over the levels of Business Rates which are raised, although the Council receives a 
proportion of these. 
 
The budget reduction proposals within the Five Year Plan for 2020/21 vary in scale 
enormously, between a few million pounds and several thousand pounds. All proposals 
need to be considered in context with the size and nature of the service, and ideally, with 
reference to earlier or future proposals. A number of services are due to identify budget 
reductions over longer than the period covered by this analysis – 2020/21. 
 

 
 
Stage 2. The team carrying out the analysis 
 
Name Area of expertise/ role 

(Paul Stone (Chair) Assistant Director of Finance (Financial 
Management) 

Simon Hobbs Director of Legal Services 

John Cowings Senior Policy Officer, Equalities 

Angela Glithero Assistant Director, Resources and 
Improvement, ETE 

Julie Vollor Assistant Director, Commissioning and 
Performance, Adult Social Care and Health 

Karen Gurney Finance Manager, Children’s Services 

Don Gibbs Director, Community Services and 
Commissioning 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



Public 
Appendix Seven 

60 
 

 
Stage 3. The scope of the analysis – what it covers 
 
 
This analysis will examine: 
 

1. The proposed Revenue Budget for Derbyshire County Council for 2020/21 
2. Whether the setting of the budget is likely to affect particular groups of service 

user, residents and staff, and whether these are likely to have protected 
characteristics and experience other inequality, in line with the requirements of 
the Equality Act 2010. 

3. The issues and feedback provided by the public from consultation carried out in 
relation to a proposed budget or budget priorities. 

4. It will seek to highlight any concerns over the possible impacts for groups of 
people and communities in Derbyshire, where these are likely to be negative, 
adverse or could be deemed to be unfair or discriminatory. 

 
 
 

 
Budget Proposals 
 
The Council’s Five Year Financial Plan (FYFP) has identified that the Council will need 
to make savings of approximately £19 million in 2020/21, with expenditure at £560 
million for the financial year. Over the period of the FYFP, savings of approximately 
£60m are required in order to balance the budget.  This considers departmental services 
pressures over the medium term including pay awards, changes to statutory 
requirements and demographic growth.   
 
 The Budget proposals for 202/021 include: 
 
Adult Social Care & Health 

 Demographic Growth - £4.500m 

 Independent Sector Fees Increases - £9.000m 

 Winter Pressures - £3.627m 

 Implementation of New Pathway - £4.210m 

 Transforming Care Programme - £0.800m 

 Learning Disability – Short Term Breaks - £0.543m 

 Homes for Older People Vacation - £3.000m 

 Continuing Health Care - £2.200m 

  
Total for Adult Social Care & Health = £27.880m 
 
Children’s Services 

 Social Workers - £2.600m 

 Child Carer Allowances - £0.100m 

 Develop Quality Assurance Practices - £0.214m 

 Resources to Implement New Pathway - £0.108m 

 Leaving Care Services - £0.498m 

Page 110



Public 
Appendix Seven 

61 
 

 Agency Placements - £8.000m 

 Section 17 and Pre-Placement Expenditure - £1.000m 

 Special Guardianship and Child Arrangement Allowances - £0.336m 

 Elective Home Education - £0.207m 

 Special Needs Transport - £1.971m  

 Special Needs Service - £0.600m 

 Child Protection Services - £0.500m 

 Legal Costs - £1.100m 

 Future Demand for Services - £3.000m 

 Service Transformation - £0.438m 
Total for Children’s Services = £20.672m 
 
 
Commissioning, Communities and Policy (CCP)  

 Legal Services Child care Cases - £0.300m 

 ICT Strategy - £0.200m 

 Climate Change - £0.200m 
Total for CCP = £0.700m 
 
Economy, Transport & Environment 

 Ash Die-Back £0.270m 

 Elvaston Castle Masterplan - £0.200m  

 Street Lighting Energy Inflation - £0.278m 
Total for ETE = £0.748m 
Totals for DCC in 2020/21 = £50.00m 
 
 

 
 
 
Stage 4. Data and consultation feedback 
 
a. Sources of data and consultation used 
 
Source Reason for using 

Council Budget Report – February 2020 Annual budget which sets spending and 
income raising levels for the future 
financial year 

Derbyshire County Council Five Year 
Financial Plan 

Strategic document setting the priorities for 
the Council in relation to its budget and 
resources 

Derbyshire County Council Budget 
Consultation 2019/20 (conducted in 
November/ December 2018) 

Responses received from the public, 
residents, service users and staff in 
relation to the budget priorities and the 
level of income to be raised through 
Council Tax for the year being analysed. 

Derbyshire performance indicator set Provide context information in relation to 
levels and quality of services 

Page 111



Public 
Appendix Seven 

62 
 

Source Reason for using 

Workforce data Provide context information in relation to 
staffing levels and pay 

Previous Revenue Budget reports and 
completed EIAs reported to Cabinet 

Provide cumulative related information – 
including whether previous savings made 
in service area/ department 

Equality & Human  Rights Commission 
Guidance – various 

Clarifies duties and provides good practice 
advice in relation to PSED and making 
decisions 

Derbyshire Observatory Demographic, economic and other data 

 
 
Stage 5. Analysing the impact or effects 
 
a. What does the data tell you? 
 
Protected 
Characteristic 

Findings 

Age The nature of our functions and areas of responsibility as a 
County Council mean we provide a number of services to 
older people, younger people and families. Those services 
which are intended to provide care and support are provided 
primarily by two departments– Adult Social Care and Health, 
and Childrens Services. These departments have the largest 
total budgets. The other Departments also provide some 
services which the general public use but which, if altered, 
can specifically lead to implications for people of different 
ages, such as public transport, libraries and consumer 
protection. 
 
The proposals for 2020/21 include important proposed 
changes that will impact upon people on grounds of their 
age. 
 
Older people 
 
The budget proposed for 2020/21 includes a number of 
possible savings that could further affect older people, 
carers and families, including:  
 

 Whole life disability pathway (£0.498m) 

 Older Adult’s pathway (£0.602m) 
 

For older people the most obvious proposals which could 
result in an adverse impact could come from the Older 
Adult’s pathway, the re-organisation of Library services and 
changes to public transport.  
 

Page 112



Public 
Appendix Seven 

63 
 

An EIA was undertaken in relation to the pathway redesign 
which was completed in July 2019.  
 
In relation to the proposed changes to direct care home 
provision (which is the subject of a separate report to 
Cabinet on the 23rd January) it is recognised that these 
proposals potentially affect older and disabled people in 
particular.  These proposed changes will therefore be further 
examined in a full EIA, subject to the proposals made in the 
report being approved for consultation.  
 
 
The remaining services which are listed could also result in 
reduced service, access to service or support for older 
people being curtailed, and reduce the quality of life for older 
people in Derbyshire.  
 
Children and families 
 
The budget for 2020/21 will  include a number of significant 
savings proposals which could affect children, young people, 
carers and families including: 
 

 Placements for children unable to live at home 
(£0.450m) 

 Early Help Services (£0.167m) 

 Donut Creative Arts Centre (£0.081m) 

 Outdoor education (£0.130m) 

 Special Educational Needs (£0.039m) 

 Preventing newborn children being taken into care 
(£0.143m) 

 Disabled Children’s Services (£0.300m) 

 Home to School Transport (£0.070m) 

 Youth Council (£0.015m) 
 
The impact of these proposals could affect a range of 
different families, depending upon the age, disability status 
and needs of the children, and whether the Council is 
involved in caring for or safeguarding children. A number of 
these services have already made significant savings and 
been re-organised, so there could also be an important 
cumulative adverse impact on some families.   
 
The planned changes to the Libraries service will also 
impact on families and children, potentially reducing 
opportunities to use the libraries and to access materials for 
children of different ages. 
 
Potential for impact on older workers within the Council 
 

Page 113



Public 
Appendix Seven 

64 
 

A number of proposals will include restructuring of staffing 
teams, although details are not available at this level of the 
budget.  
 
The Council has an older workforce, with an average age of 
almost 50 years of age. Wherever possible the authority will 
try to offer workers who might be at risk the opportunity to 
retire or leave on a voluntary basis. This is subject to age 
and status restrictions, affordability, through the impact on 
the budget and pension fund, and the need to retain skills in 
some areas. This policy has helped to avoid forcibly making 
workers redundant. Over recent years the number of 
employees retiring or taking advantage of the voluntary 
schemes has helped avoid enforced redundancies.  
 
The proposals for 2020/21 include a number where 
restructuring will take place, leading to the potential for 
workers to face redundancy. This could impact significantly 
on older workers, especially older female workers. 

Disability The functions and responsibilities of the County Council 
means we provide important services and support to 
disabled people, carers and the families of disabled people. 
Some specialist services are targeted at people with sensory 
impairments, people experiencing poor mental health, 
people with a learning disability, and people with dementia. 
Cuts to these services or changes in the way support is 
provided can have a significant impact on the lives of these 
customers, their ability to participate in society, their well-
being and life chances. Any changes proposed for non-
statutory entitlement to bus travel concessions/ support for 
travel would be likely to impact adversely on disabled 
people, since the statutory entitlement rules are largely set 
by national Government.  
 
The budget proposals for 2020/21 include a number of 
savings proposals which could  affect disabled people, 
adults and children, carers and the families of disabled 
people, including:  

 
 Whole life disability pathway (£0.498m) 

 Older Adult’s pathway (£0.602m) 

 Outdoor education (£0.130m) 

 Special Educational Needs (£0.039m) 

 Disabled Children’s Services (£0.300m) 

 Home to School Transport (£0.070m) 

 Public Transport (£0.450m) 

 b_line (£0.088m) 

 Administration and employee savings (£2.081m) 

 Libraries (£0.320m) 

Page 114



Public 
Appendix Seven 

65 
 

 Arts (£0.208m) 

 Buxton Museum (£0.070m) 

 Derbyshire Records Office (£0.060m) 
 
In particular the proposals in relation to people with learning 
disabilities could result in some people who currently use the 
service receiving a reduced or changed service. This is likely 
to impact adversely on people who currently rely upon the 
Council’s services or support, and the families/ carers of 
people with learning disabilities. This particular review will be 
examining current day-care provision and could lead to 
some geographical locations being adversely affected, 
although it could also lead to improved access in others. 
 
Savings in relation to public transport have been identified. 
Further information will need to be reviewed if reductions in 
demand continue, as this would suggest that older and 
disabled people could become less mobile and experience 
further difficulties accessing local services. 
 
Disabled workers 
The number of employees who have declared a disability 
makes up around 3% of the Council’s total workforce. This 
has remained relatively unchanged over the last 10 years. 
 
Levels of disability vary across departments but are higher in 
Adult Social Care and Health. Proposals in this department 
could therefore impact on a disproportionate number of 
disabled workers. Changes such as relocation, changes to 
duties and responsibilities, or to terms and conditions, 
including pay, can also affect disabled employees in a 
negative way. This can include the disruption which can 
result from staffing and other changes. 
 

Gender (Sex) Many of our direct customers are women. They are more 
likely to feature as carers, as residents of care homes/ user 
of older person services, user of libraries, benefit from 
community safety services and protection type services, and 
as amongst parents needing support. 
 
Women make up almost 80% of the total workforce and a 
similar majority of the many part-time workers we employ. 
Proposals within this budget include a number to restructure 
service teams, where women, by nature of the proportion 
they represent, are likely to be affected to a greater degree. 
 
Amongst the proposals, the following are likely to impact on 
women to a greater extent:  
 

 Whole life disability pathway (£0.498m) 

Page 115



Public 
Appendix Seven 

66 
 

 Older Adult’s pathway (£0.602m) 

 Administration and employee savings (£2.081m) 
 
Women as mothers/ parents could be adversely affected by 
proposals such Older women could be affected by the Adult 
Social Care and Health proposals, having levels of care 
reduced and other services which enable older people to 
remain in their own homes. 
 
Female and male workers 
With women making up almost 80% of employees, and a 
similar proportion of part-time workers, proposals which 
would alter staffing structures, numbers, working hours or 
duties could adversely affect men and women differently. 
Whilst staffing reductions might be in proportion to the size 
of the male or female workforce in the Council, the fact that 
the authority employs many more women, will mean that 
women are likely to be affected in greater numbers, and to a 
greater degree in the case of part-time and lower paid 
employees .e.g. Libraries. 
 

Gender re-assignment The incidence of gender re-assignment is rarely monitored 
but we do know that the number of people to whom this 
applies is increasing in the UK. This makes it difficult to gain 
accurate figures for the numbers of residents and people 
who use our services, who have or are undergoing gender 
re-assignment. We do know that a small number of services 
work with people who have this protected characteristic as a 
target group, such as community safety, to tackle issues 
such as hate crime, or public health services in relation to 
well-bring or sexual health. As an employer we are 
becoming increasingly experienced in supporting people 
who transition, 
 
This means that amongst our residents and people who use 
our services, people with this protected characteristic will be 
represented and could be additionally affected in some 
cases.  
 
A number of proposals within the budget could potentially 
have low adverse impact on this group of people including: 

 

 Administration and employee savings (£2.081m) 

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

The public sector duties in relation to marriage and civil 
partnership seek to ensure that anyone in a civil partnership 
does not experience less favourable treatment than those 
who have entered into a marriage.  

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

There is much research which has revealed that women who 
become pregnant can experience discrimination, especially 

Page 116



Public 
Appendix Seven 

67 
 

in relation to employment, but also because of attitudes 
towards issues such as breastfeeding. 
 
A range of public health commonly work with expectant 
mothers and new parent households. Changes to these 
services could have a significant impact on pregnant or 
expectant mothers/ households where these individuals or 
families require support or engage with local services. 
 
Recent legislative changes have extended the rights of 
parents to share parental leave. The Council has developed 
a clear policy for supporting employees who take shared 
parental leave. 
 
Of the proposals within the budget for 2020/21 it is 
considered that the following could result in an adverse 
impact on expectant and new mothers or families taking 
shared parental leave: 

 

 Preventing newborn children being taken into care 
(£0.143m) 

 Libraries (£0.320m) 
 

Race When compared to the nearby cities of Derby, Nottingham, 
Sheffield, and Manchester/ Stockport, which are within easy 
reach of Derbyshire, the county has a lower than average 
population of people from a BME background. Derbyshire’s 
BME population is spread across a broad range of different 
racial and ethnic groups, including people from the EU and 
Eastern Europe, from Black, Chinese and Asian 
communities. Only one area within Derbyshire has a BME 
population which represents more than 10% of the total 
population, the Stenson Fields area on the edge of Derby 
City but within the administrative area of South Derbyshire. 
Chesterfield, Long Eaton and Shirebrook are also known to 
have identifiable communities of BME people.   
 
Over the last decade the Council has invested in developing 
consultation with BME based community and voluntary 
organisations, establishing the BME Community Forum. This 
Forum has worked closely in the past with Adult Social Care 
to improve understanding of the needs of BME customers, 
and ensure services are culturally sensitive to their needs. 
This work has also meant that funding has been made 
available to help develop the capacity of BME community 
and voluntary sector organisations. During 2019/20 a review 
of how the Council works with and funds the community and 
voluntary sector commenced, although any changes to 
actual funding will commence in 2020/21. 
 

Page 117



Public 
Appendix Seven 

68 
 

A number of the proposals within the budget plans for 
2020/21 could impact adversely upon BME households, but 
to a similar degree to non-BME households, and are 
dependent upon the extent to which those households use 
or engage currently with services. This includes: 
 

 Whole life disability pathway (£0.498m) 

 Older Adult’s pathway (£0.602m) 

 Placements for children unable to live at home (£0.450m) 

 Early Help Services (£0.167m) 

 Donut Creative Arts Centre (£0.081m) 

 Outdoor Education (£0.130m) 

 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (£0.039m) 

 Preventing newborn children being taken into care 
(£0.143m) 

 Disabled Children’s Services (£0.300m) 

 Home to School Transport (£0.070m) 

 Public Transport (£0.450m) 

 Countryside Service (£0.400m) 

 Administration and employee savings (£2.081m) 

 Libraries (£0.320m) 
 
BME employees 
Around 3% of the Council’s workforce is from a BME 
community. This rate has only increased very slowly and by 
a small amount over the last decade. This rate is higher in 
Adult Social Care and Health, but lower in other 
departments, reflecting the occupational segregation of our 
BME workers. Re-structuring proposals in Adult Social Care 
could affect BME representation, if job cuts were to be made 
in relation to jobs carried out by BME employees. 
 

Religion and belief 
including non-belief 

Religion and belief, including non-belief, can often mean that 
people will have different cultural or dietary needs, which as 
service users, will need to be met or taken regard of. Faith 
often features as an issue in relation to schooling, school 
transport, or the services which are provided to people we 
support or care for, and services which work in communities 
tackling abuse or exclusion. 
A small number of the proposals could have an adverse 
impact upon some people from a religious minority 
background, including: 
 

 Home to School Transport (£0.070m) 

 Administration and employee savings (£2.081m) 

 Libraries (£0.320m) 
 
Employees who follow a faith or religion 

Page 118



Public 
Appendix Seven 

69 
 

There are very small number of people from the Muslim, 
Sikh, Hindu, Jewish and Buddhist communities within the 
Council’s workforce. Most workers have indicated that they 
are either Christian or have no religion. 
 
When considering the likely impact on employees of staffing 
restructures and other proposals, the issue of religion and 
belief is unlikely to feature highly, and there is unlikely to be 
a measurable adverse impact. 

Sexual orientation Although monitoring data is not always available in every 
walk of life, and there is still evidence that people may not 
provide this information in every situation, estimates suggest 
that LGBTQ people to make up between 2 and 5% of the 
population, and accordingly of people who use our services, 
and people who rely upon our support based services.  
 
This is likely to mean that they will feature amongst all 
groups of customers but may not self-identify specifically as 
LGBTQ. 
 
Over recent years we have improved the extent to which our 
services have become aware of the needs that LGBQ 
people in relation to a number of services or functions of the 
Council  
 
It is likely therefore that proposed savings across most areas 
of service will also impact on LGBQ people as they would on 
heterosexual people, and that as a consequence, where the 
protected characteristic of sexual orientation might require a 
different or adapted services, that these are also affected by 
cuts or changes, in some cases in an adverse impact for 
people who are LGBQ. Issues which are commonly raised 
include personal safety, support for young people making 
future life and identity choices, the provision of same sex 
marriage ceremonies and civil partnership ceremonies, 
public health including sexual health, mental health support, 
employment, policy development and how the Council 
communicates with its LGBTQ communities and residents. 
 
A small number of the proposals are believed to have 
implications for people who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or  
who identify differently than heterosexual including: 
 

 Special Educational Needs (£0.039m) 

 Public Transport (£0.450m) 

 Administration and employee savings (£2.081m) 

 Libraries (£0.320m) 
 
 
 

Page 119



Public 
Appendix Seven 

70 
 

 
LGBTQ employees  
Lesbian gay, bisexual and other non-heterosexual workers 
LGBQ workers make up around 2% of the workforce, and 
are represented across the authority, with slightly higher 
proportions working in Adult Social Care and Health, and 
lower than average proportions in Economy Transport and 
Environment. 
 
The LGBTQ Employee Network has historically provided 
useful feedback to the Council over how new or changing 
policies and service might impact upon or be used/ 
accessed by LGBQ and T people. There is no current 
evidence to suggest that as employees they have been 
disproportionately adversely affected by changes to the 
workforce arising out of budget savings. 

Non-statutory 
 
Socio-economic and 
social mobility 

Derbyshire has a high variation between households who 
are affluent and those which experience deprivation or socio-
economic disadvantage. Many services provided by the 
Council are designed to meet people with fewer resources, 
people who may experience poorer health, or have lower life 
chances. Accordingly, for many of our customers, 
deprivation or disadvantage will be a key determining factor 
which accounts for access and consumption. 
 
Most of the proposals in the budget will exercise a potential 
adverse impact on those who have fewest resources, or who 
are least able to cope when services are reduced or 
removed. 
 
The following proposals are expected to exercise a 
significant possible adverse impact of people with fewer 
resources, or living in deprived communities, including: 
 

 Savings from changes to Learning Disability Services, 
and services which ensure that care and support is 
available to older and vulnerable people. This could 
also include how such savings impact on carers. 

 Changes to charging policies and eligibility for 
services  

 Proposed savings in relation to public transport, 
resulting in greater isolation, removing access to 
work, local services and leisure opportunities 
including libraries, and further aid the decline of small 
town high streets and shopping centres.  

 
Social mobility is determined though a number of factors, 
many of which are beyond the control, but not necessarily 

Page 120



Public 
Appendix Seven 

71 
 

the influence, of the County Council. The state of the 
national and local economy exercises significant influence 
over whether individuals or households are able to improve 
their standard of living, and achieve a better life for 
themselves, accessing choice and control which was 
previously denied or out of reach, or by gaining skills and 
resources to change things. In Derbyshire those with least 
social mobility can be found in our deprived communities 
and neighbourhoods, and amongst a number of protected 
characteristic groups, especially disabled people, and 
women. The proposed savings in the budget for 2020/21 
could further limit some aspects of social mobility. This will 
include savings in relation to public transport, support to 
families and children, and changes to older and disabled 
people’s care and other services. That said, the Council 
continues to invest its energies in attracting and supporting 
local, businesses and jobs, which if successful provides a 
key lever for people to access social mobility opportunities, 
and generating additional opportunities. Importantly, new 
jobs need to get to local people from deprived communities 
and groups, or part of the potential benefit is lost, and social 
mobility cannot be improved.  
 
The Council employs people from across Derbyshire, 
including many workers who live in poorer and deprived 
communities. Additionally many such workers will work in the 
same or a nearby community to that they live in. Reductions 
in jobs in such localities, albeit small in number, can result in 
a negative impact in those same communities and reduce 
opportunities for social mobility. 
 

Rural The Council provides a number of services which may be 
delivered differently or may be more costly to deliver in its 
rural areas. The county’s market towns often have “branch” 
type offices of local services, where teams of staff are based 
and work in the community and surrounding rural areas. 
Additionally, some services, such as the financial support for 
public transport, may be concentrated into supporting 
services which specifically serve rural areas, to ensure these 
areas have services and are accessible. 
 
Proposals which could lead to a reduction or the removal of 
services in the county’s rural areas can have a large 
negative impact upon the sustainability and resilience of 
rural communities, and cause significant difficulties for 
poorer or less mobile residents. 
 

 Outdoor education (£0.130m) 

 Disabled Children’s Services (£0.300m) 

 Home to School Transport (£0.070m) 

Page 121



Public 
Appendix Seven 

72 
 

 Public Transport (£0.450m) 

 b_line - £0.088m) 

 Libraries (£0.320m) 

 Arts (£0.208m) 
 
The Council employs people from across Derbyshire, 
including many people who live in its rural areas. The extent 
to which job losses amongst workers will impact on rural 
communities is un-researched. 
 

Other groups of people 
and businesses 

 
Businesses in Derbyshire 
 
A number of the proposals could affect businesses which 
provide services to the Council. For example, where the 
Council is proposing to make savings in relation to 
purchased goods and services, where the maintenance of 
buildings and assets will be affected, and in relation to 
opportunities to tender or bid for contracts and 
commissioned services, changes to frontline and back office 
services can lead to external businesses and other providers 
being adversely affected. This could also be the case where 
the Council proposes to move out of buildings in town 
centres and communities, leaving them blighted as the range 
of local services declines.  
 
This could have a negative impact on the local economy 
during a difficult economic outlook, and the uncertainty of 
Brexit and the continued decline of the high street. 
How expenditure takers place in relation to regional and 
local economic development support is also of relevance. 
Including the priorities and eligibility criteria fixed for 
businesses seeking to access help and support. The 
Council’s relative success in attracting investment into 
Markham Vale does not necessarily benefit businesses in 
other areas of Derbyshire. 
 
Public and private partners 
 
A number of the proposals could lead to changes in 
procurement and commissioning arrangements, or affect the 
Council’s capacity to work with public and other partners, 
including: 
 

 Whole life disability pathway (£0.498m) 

 Older Adult’s pathway (£0.602m) 

 Placements for children unable to live at home (£0.450m) 

 Early Help Services (£0.167m) 

 Home to School Transport (£0.070m) 

 Public Transport (£0.450m) 

Page 122



Public 
Appendix Seven 

73 
 

 Countryside Service (£0.400m) 

 ICT (£0.275m) 

 Arts (£0.208m) 
 

In a number of the proposals (which have become more 
detailed and are now being consulted upon) assumptions 
have been included which expect service reductions or re-
organisation to be aided or mitigated by services from the 
community and voluntary sector, or because schools are 
being expected to carry out functions or provide advice and 
support instead. There are few signs in these reports which 
establishes that the sector can do all of this, nor are there 
indications that funding will be increase to this sector to 
enable them to develop the capacity or resources to do so. 
 

 
 
b. What does customer feedback, complaints or discussions with stakeholder 

groups tell you about the impact of the policy, practice, service or function on the 
protected characteristic groups? 

 
The consultation completed asked the public a small number of questions and used 
the Council Plan priorities as the basis for priority area expenditure. As some 
distinct communities are not easily visible or represented within these priorities, this 
makes analysis of the consultation responses more difficult to interpret in relation to 
the 9 protected characteristic groups. 
 
Protected Group Findings 

Age When the public was asked which priorities it supported, a 
number of those selected support looking after older people 
(this being in the top three of priorities requested), and 
providing a positive start in life for children. This perhaps 
also reflects the work of our two largest spending 
departments Adult Social Care and Health and Children’s 
Services.  The average age of respondents was 53 years.  

Disability The recent public consultation asked those taking part to 
indicate if they have a disability, so it is possible to review 
feedback in relation to people who have a disability and 
those who indicated they did not. Of those who took part 
15% of respondents indicated they had a disability, slightly 
lower than as a percentage of the adult population with a 
disability or long-term illness (the definition used within the 
Census). 
 
No specific questions were asked in relation to mental health 
so it difficult to tell from the consultation whether the public 
would see investing in mental health services as a distinct 
priority. It could be expected that the strong support for 
expenditure which supports and encourages healthy 

Page 123



Public 
Appendix Seven 

74 
 

lifestyles will impact positively on some areas of disability, 
including mental health.  

Gender (Sex) A  higher proportion of those who took part were female 
(58%) rather than male (42%). 
 
This might be expected since some of the Council services 
are likely to have direct contact or impact on women as 
mothers/ parents, older people, carers and users of services 
such as our libraries. 

Gender reassignment People who have or are undergoing gender re-assignment 
will feature amongst the population of Derbyshire who had 
opportunities to participate, and may well feature amongst 
those who have responded.  
 
It is not possible to identify specific impacts on the basis of 
gender re-assignment from the consultation which has been 
carried out. 

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

Those participating were not asked to indicate if they had 
this protected characteristic. This is not believed to have 
been a factor which would significantly determine impact and 
as such opinion within the budget consultation. 
 
However, amongst the support for specific priorities, there 
was support for investing in services which support families 
and children, and keeping children safeguarded. 

Pregnancy and maternity Those participating were not asked to indicate if they had 
this protected characteristic. 
 
There was support amongst those who took part for services 
for families and children, and for work which supports 
healthy lifestyles, both of which are likely to be specifically 
relevant to expectant parents and newly born children. 
 

Race Those participating were not asked to indicate if they had 
this protected characteristic.  
 
From the responses received it is not possible to identify 
specific views from our BME communities in relation to the 
budget consultation. 
 
Historically regular consultation with BME community based 
organisations has highlighted the importance of social care 
and family based services, but also services such as local 
libraries and the arts, in recognition that equal access to 
services and acknowledging the diversity of our communities 
is important to racial and probably other communities. 
 

Religion and belief 
including non-belief 

Those participating were not asked to indicate if they had 
this protected characteristic. 
 

Page 124



Public 
Appendix Seven 

75 
 

From the responses received it is not possible to identify 
specific views from our religious minority communities in 
relation to the budget consultation. 
 

Sexual orientation Those participating were not asked to indicate if they had 
this protected characteristic. 
 
From the responses received it is not possible to identify 
specific views from people who are LGBTQ in relation to the 
budget consultation. From previous consultations with 
organisations representing LGBTQ people we do know that 
investment in community safety and public health services 
can feature as a priority with LGBTQ people, although they 
are just as likely to be supportive of expenditure on looking 
after older people, support for younger people and issues 
such as jobs and the economy, the environment, road and 
transport and tourism and the visitor economy as non 
LGBTQ people. 
 
 

 
Non-statutory 
 
Socio-economic Those participating were not asked to indicate if they had 

this protected characteristic. 
 
A total of 21% of respondents supported help for vulnerable 
adults and 12% in economic regeneration.  Those who 
support expenditure on looking after older and vulnerable 
people may also be highly represented amongst 
respondents from disadvantaged communities, since these 
services can be more important to poorer older people. It 
should also be recognised that many people with disabilities, 
including those with learning disabilities are likely to have 
lower incomes and more likely to experience economic 
disadvantage, so the support for learning disability services if 
translated into investment, can benefit people in our poorer 
and disadvantaged communities. 

Rural From the consultation responses it is possible to identify the 
proportion of respondents who supported investment in 
improving access to rural services, those who supported 
investment into the environment and those supporting road 
maintenance and repairs expenditure (although this does 
mean all supporters were rurally based).  
 
Some 8% of respondents supported rural based 
expenditure, 42% supported investment in roads, 17% in the 
environment, and 10% in countryside services, much of 
which benefits the Peak District and Derbyshire’s more rural 
areas. 

Page 125



Public 
Appendix Seven 

76 
 

 
 
c. Are there any other groups of people who may experience an adverse impact 

because of the proposals to change a policy or service who are not listed 
above? 

 
 
The Council spends a significant amount of its budget buying, procuring and 
commissioning services from local businesses, charities, partners and other 
organisations based in Derbyshire and elsewhere. 
 
Proposals which seek to alter whether a service is purchased in this way, perhaps by 
bringing a service in-house, or by placing a service out within a tendering process, can 
result in negative or positive impacts for these organisations. Where the amount we 
have to spend with other companies or organisations is reduced, this can lead to 
unintended consequences for them, reducing income, affecting their futures and leading 
to reductions in the number of people they employ.  
 
Increasingly services are identifying a role for the community and voluntary sector within 
their proposals that involve these organisations and volunteers directly delivering some 
services. To be able to do this successfully, services need to be clear about whether this 
capacity already exists or whether they will need to help- develop this, and on the time 
and levels of resources that would be required.  
 
Within the responses received to spending priorities it is clear that motorists have 
featured amongst those who took part. One of the highest levels of support was for 
expenditure on roads maintenance/ repair. This level of support has been repeated each 
time consultation has taken place in relation to the budget or Council priorities. This type 
of expenditure is universally important. Support for social care services has also 
featured highly over repeated consultations in recent years. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
d. Gaps in data 
 
What are your main gaps in information and understanding of the impact of your 
policy and services? Please indicate whether you have identified ways of filling 
these gaps. 
 
Gaps in data Action to deal with this 

Data in relation to the protected 
characteristics of race and ethnicity, 
religion and belief including non-belief, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, sexual orientation and 

Review how data can be improved before 
next year’s budget analysis, including by 
designing in further ways to engage with 
communities and groups over budget 
proposals. 

Page 126



Public 
Appendix Seven 

77 
 

gender re-assignment in relation to 
customer and consultation data. 
 

Consultation feedback disaggregated by 
protected characteristics of race and 
ethnicity, religion and belief, sexual 
orientation, and gender re-assignment 
status. 

The ONS has been exploring how to 
expand and develop questions and 
monitoring for the 2021 Census and other 
data collection. If this leads to improved 
data in relation to the protected 
characteristics, then it is more likely that 
public bodies will also extend to carry out 
such monitoring, as it becomes capable of 
comparison, and more regular. 

 
 
Stage 6.  Ways of mitigating unlawful prohibited conduct or unwanted 
adverse impact, or to promote improved equality of opportunity or good 
relations 
 
 
It is important that departments engage genuinely in consultation with residents, people 
who use our services, partners and staff, in case they have ideas or suggestions which 
could help reduce or avoid adverse impacts for the people of Derbyshire or specific 
groups of service users. 
 
This could be alternative ways of delivering the proposed service, seeking out other 
sources of funding, or the improved management of performance so that more can be 
gained for less, avoiding wastage or overcharging. 
 
The process is intended not to be fixed, and the authority is required to consider ideas 
which might mitigate against adverse outcomes. In some cases it may be possible to 
identify other resources, but this may also mean that other services will need to be cut or 
reduced instead. 
 
In terms of mitigating against adverse impacts arising out of these budget proposals, it is 
expected that each proposal will be covered by a detailed equality impact analysis and 
that these should, having identified in more detail, the nature of any impact, will identify 
and outline the proposed measures that will be taken to mitigate against unwanted and 
adverse impacts. 

 
 
Stage 7.  Do stakeholders agree with your findings and proposed response? 
 
 
Consultation carried out with the public and other stakeholders did not at this stage 
cover specific proposals. 
 
As proposals are worked up and made subject to consultation, more detailed and direct 
or targeted consultations will take place to ensure more detailed information is obtained 
to inform each EIA and report to Cabinet/ Council. 

Page 127



Public 
Appendix Seven 

78 
 

 

 
 

Stage 8. Main conclusions 
 
 

 

 
The budget proposals for 2020/21 will impact much more directly on frontline services 
than earlier budgets and mean significant changes to Council services affecting many 
more people than in earlier years of austerity savings. The savings identified are likely to 
have the most direct adverse impact on older, younger and disabled people, reducing 
levels of service and support, especially for those with lower and medium levels of need. 
The proposals will also see further movement towards a position of providing statutory 
services and support, in which services respond or intervene to avoid safeguarding and 
other risks. 
 
The areas identified within the Five Year Plan for savings in 2020/ 21 will mean a likely 
adverse impact for: 
 

 Older people using care and support services, which is likely to include those 
with higher levels of need, and people living with dementia 

 People with a learning disability 

 Women as service users and employees 

 Disabled people requiring support and care 

 Users of public transport and motorists (the former will include more people with 
disabilities, older people, and people on lower incomes) 

 The general public who use libraries (which will include people from all protected 
characteristic groups) 

 People who may be vulnerable or subjected to abuse or harassment due to age, 
disability, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, race or religion and belief. 

 Groups using health and advice services commissioned by the Public Health 
Team (often vulnerable groups of people or people living in poorer communities) 

 Potentially poorer and vulnerable people living in rural communities, including 
where local public and other transport may be affected. 

 
As many of the savings are likely to be achieved by reducing staffing costs or numbers, 
through restructuring and service redesign, employees, especially female and older 
employees are expected again to be impacted, potentially in a negative way. 
 
The nature of the list of proposed savings also limits the potential for making choices or 
to prioritise services, based on needs. The information available does not suggest that 
an exercise will take place to determine priorities or give much room for Members to 
reject proposals, without a need to find further savings elsewhere. 
 
The detailed proposals will need to be subject to a more localised and focused equality 
impact analysis, to ensure that the detailed proposals are properly assessed, and 
opportunities for mitigation identified. 
 

Page 128



Public 
Appendix Seven 

79 
 

Stage 9. Objectives setting/ implementation 
 
Objective Planned action Who When How will this be 

monitored? 

Ensuring fair decision-making, 
including when deciding upon 
detailed proposals to meet 
budget requirements 

All detailed proposals requiring 
formal decision to be 
accompanied by a detailed 
equality impact analysis  

All departments As proposals 
made and 
considered 

Monitoring exercise in 
April 2020 

Ensure that affected groups 
and communities will have a 
full opportunity to consider 
and be consulted upon 
detailed proposals to aid 
budget implementation 
 

All detailed proposals requiring 
formal decision to be 
accompanied by a detailed and 
appropriate consultation, 
including by consulting with 
groups identified as likely to 
experience impact. 

All departments As proposals 
made and 
prior to formal 
decision-
making 
process 

Monitoring exercise in 
April 2020 

Ensure that proposals 
affecting employees are made 
available for consultation 
 

In addition to formal consultation 
under policies in relation to 
redeployment or redundancy, 
proposals affecting employees 
are subject to consultation with 
affected staff and the Trade 
Unions 

All departments Before being 
finalised 

Through Trade Union 
and management 
meetings 

Improve participation in 
budget consultation 

Prior to the 2021/22 budget 
review and revise, as necessary, 
the methods for consulting over 
the proposed budget, including 
by asking differently/ focusing on 
actual budget choices rather 
than Council Plan priorities 

Led by Finance 
with department 
support 

2020 Analysis of who takes 
part 
 
Redesign of 
consultation and more 
use of focus groups and 
community groups 

Improve the focus of 
consultation to gain better 
information. 

Alter the approach and design of 
consultation on the budget to 
focus on likely areas where 
there will be proposed savings 

Led by Policy and 
Research and 
Legal Services  

2020 Redesign of 
consultation content  

P
age 129



Public 
Appendix Seven 

80 
 

Improve post implementation 
monitoring of impact 
 

Departments to carry out post 
implementation monitoring and 
use to feed into future decisions 
 
Development of post 
implementation customer 
surveys/ consultation. 

Improvement and 
Scrutiny 
 
 
Policy and 
Research/ 
Departments 

2020 I & S review of how 
agreed proposals 
implemented and 
monitored. 

Continue to identify 
opportunities to improve 
customer and service user 
data to aid future analysis. 

Continue to develop customer 
segmentation, service user, and 
customer satisfaction and 
performance data. 
 
Review equality monitoring in 
light of changes to national 
monitoring introduced in the 
2021 Census, to better enable 
comparison between 
demographic and customer data 
to take place. 

Departments 
Policy & Research 
Human Resources 

2022 Evidence of improved 
data and understanding 
of impact and ability to 
complete cumulative 
impact analysis/ 
monitoring. 

 
 
 

P
age 130



Public 
Appendix Seven 

81 
 

Stage 10. Monitoring and review/ mainstreaming into business plans 
 
 
Please indicate whether any of your objectives have been added to service or 
business plans and your arrangements for monitoring and reviewing progress/ 
future impact? 
 
 
 
Departments will need to consider a range of actions which enable them to monitor the 
actual impacts which come out of implementing proposals and to use this learning to 
shape future decision making. This information will also need to be shared across the 
organisation so that the Council can continue to develop cumulative analysis of impacts 
on people with a protected characteristic. 
 

 
 
Stage 11. Agreeing and publishing the completed analysis 
 
 
Completed analysis approved by    on 
 
 
Where and when published? 
 
 
With report recommending adoption of budget. 
 
 
 

 

Decision-making processes 
 
Where linked to decision on proposals to change, reduce or withdraw service/ 
financial decisions/ large-scale staffing restructures 
 
Attached to report (title):  
 
Date of report: 14 January 2020. 
 
Author of report: Senior Policy officer, Equalities 
 
Audience for report e.g. Cabinet/ date: 23 January 2020. 
 
Web location of report: 
 
 

Page 131



Public 
Appendix Seven 

82 
 

Outcome from report being considered 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Details of follow-up action or monitoring of actions/ decision undertaken 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Updated by: 
 
Date: 
 
 
 

Page 132



Public 

1 

PHR-1042 

 

Agenda Item No 4(d) 

 
DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
CABINET 

 
23 January 2020 

 
Report of the Director of Finance & ICT 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME APPROVALS, TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND 

CAPITAL STRATEGY 
(COUNCIL SERVICES) 

 
 
1 Purpose of the Report 
 
To obtain approval for proposals for submission to Council relating to the 
capital starts programme for 2020-21 and the Treasury Management, 
Investment and Capital Strategies. 
 
2 Information and Analysis 
 
In line with previous years, the proposed new Capital Starts Programme for 
2020-21 has been evaluated and it is recommended to proceed with new 
borrowing of £35.420m (excluding invest to save schemes). The detailed 
proposals are set out in Appendix 1 of this report. 
 
The Treasury Management Strategy Report for 2020-21 (Appendix 2) sets out 
the Council’s management of its cash flow, borrowing and investments and 
the management of its associated risks. 
 
The Investment Strategy Report for 2020-21 (Appendix 3) deals with the 
management of the Council’s balances and reserves, managing the balance 
between risk and return. 
 
The Capital Strategy (Appendix 4) for 2020-21 provides a high level overview 
of how capital expenditure and capital financing contribute to the provision of 
local public services.  
 
3 Considerations 
 
In preparing the report the relevance of the following factors has been 
considered: financial, legal, human resources, environmental, social value, 
property and transport. 

Page 133

Agenda Item 4(d)



Public 

2 

PHR-1042 

 

4 Background Papers 
 
Local Government Act 2003; Prudential Code 2017; Treasury Management in 
the Public Services; Capital Accounting Working Papers. 
 
5 Key Decision 
 
No. 
 
6 Is it necessary to waive the call-in period?  
 
No. 
 
7 Officer’s Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet recommends to Council that it: 
 
7.1 Approves the 2020-21 Capital Starts Programme set out in Appendix 1; 
 
7.2 adopts the Treasury Management Policy set out in Appendix 2; 

 
7.3 adopts the Investment Strategy set out in Appendix 3; and 

 
7.4 adopts the Capital Strategy set out in Appendix 4. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PETER HANDFORD 
 

Director of Finance & ICT 
  

Page 134



Public 

3 

PHR-1042 

 

Appendix 1 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020-21 

The proposed new starts programme for 2020-21, along with funding streams, 
as shown in Table 1, has been evaluated and it is recommended to proceed 
with new borrowing of £35.420m (excluding invest to save schemes).  More 
details on each individual scheme are set out below. 
 
Schemes are funded from a combination of Government grants, capital 
receipts, use of reserves and contributions from revenue budgets.  Capital 
receipts are normally used to support the overall programme.  In cases where 
a new project is directly dependent on the disposal of an existing asset, for 
example, the replacement of a school, then the receipt from the disposal of 
the ‘old’ asset can be earmarked to fund the replacement. 
 
The Capital Programme remains affected by the downward pressure on the 
Council’s finances.  The main limiting factor on the Council’s ability to 
undertake capital expenditure is whether the revenue resource is available to 
support in full the implications of capital expenditure, both borrowing costs and 
running costs, after allowing for any support provided by Central Government, 
which is now mainly through capital grants.   Because of this, there has 
previously been a limit on new borrowing of no more than £15m.   However, 
this year, due to the increasing pressures being placed on school places and 
infrastructure, borrowing has been increased to ensure that the Council meets 
its statutory obligations and in turn assists in delivering the Strategic plan. 
 
The Council will receive estimated Government grants of just under £65m to 
address key issues in highways and maintenance, develop integrated 
transport schemes and address the most immediate condition problems in 
schools.  Funding is requested to cover the funding gaps for a New Care 
Home and Extra Housing Scheme on the Bennerley site and to assist in the 
building of new schools in response to major housing developments.  
 
There are bids to assist in delivering the Government’s target of helping to 
alleviate historical flooding to properties and to ensure that the Council’s 
Waterbodies, for example ponds, lakes, reservoirs and canals, are adequately 
maintained.  
 
In line with the Council’s ICT Strategy, a full capital replacement programme is 

being developed, to ensure that all capital related ICT hardware and software 

will be replaced over a five year cycle.  This envisages borrowing £2m per 

year. 

 

 

  

Page 135



Public 

4 

PHR-1042 

Table 1 Capital Programme Bids 2020-21 

Funding Streams 

 Grant Capital 
receipts 

Borrowing Invest to 
Save 

Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Children’s Services      

Basic Need 6.283    6.283 

Children’s Homes   0.250  0.250 

Devolved Formula Capital 1.953    1.953 

Glossopdale School 
Expansion 

2.345  1.655  4.000 

Newhall Junior School   2.000  2.000 

Schools Access Initiative   0.400  0.400 

Schools Condition 
Allowance 

7.682    7.682 

Capital Support for New 
Schools 

2.000  4.000  6.000 

      

Adult Care      

Disable Facilities Grant 
Adaptations 

6.960  4.000  10.960 

Bennerley Avenue Site 15.000  15.000  30.000 

      

Communities, 
Commissioning and 
Policy 

     

Fire Risk Schemes   0.650  0.650 

Kitchen Ventilation 
Schemes 

  0.500  0.500 

Risk Management   0.130  0.130 

SAP Hana    2.000 2.000 

Replacement of ICT 
Hardware 

  2.000  2.000 

      

Environment, Transport 
and Economy 

     

Derelict Land Reclamation 0.117  0.135  0.252 

Local Transport Plan 22.098    22.098 

Corporate Vehicle 
Replacement Programme 

   2.512 2.512 

Elvaston Castle Defective 
Structures 

  0.500  0.500 

Flood Alleviation Schemes 0.195    0.195 

Waste Management 
Accounting System 

  0.200  0.200 

Risks in Association with 
Water Bodies 

  1.000  1.000 

Infrastructure Support  4.700 3.000  7.700 

TOTAL 64.633 4.700 35.420 4.512 109.265 

  

Page 136



Public 

5 

PHR-1042 

Summary of Individual Schemes 
 
 
Childrens Services 
 
Basic Need £6.283m 
 
The Department for Education (DfE) grant allocation for Basic Need schemes 
is to provide additional school places in areas of population growth.  Feasibility 
studies have been undertaken based on an analysis of pupil projections.  A 
priority list of potential projects is being finalised.  
 
Children’s Homes £0.250m 
 
The Council is a Corporate Parent to children in care and is required to 
provide suitable and homely accommodation for children in the Council’s 
Children's Homes.  The Homes are subject to inspection by Ofsted and should 
the accommodation not meet the quality standards there is a risk of the 
Homes failing inspection. 
 
Devolved Formula Capital (DFC) £1.953m 
 
The Council receives an annual allocation of devolved capital from the DfE.  
This capital grant gives all schools money to invest in their buildings, grounds 
and ICT equipment in order to improve educational standards.  DFC must only 
be used for capital purposes, such as funding new buildings and facilities, ICT 
equipment, capital repairs and refurbishment in accordance with priorities set 
by each school and in line with the asset management plan (AMP) for the 
school. 
 
Glossopdale School Expansion £4.000m 
 
Glossopdale School is a new school that was designed for 1200 pupils but the 
core facilities were built for 1440 in anticipation of further expansion relating to 
housing growth in the town.  The housing growth has come forward faster 
than anticipated and the percentage of normal area pupils preferring to be 
educated at Glossopdale has increased by 12% between 2017 and 2019.  In 
2018 and 2019 the school was oversubscribed and with the pupils likely to be 
generated by the housing, this trend is due to continue.   There is a strong 
desire for pupils to remain in the town and this has generated the need for the 
early expansion of the school. 
 
Newhall Junior School £2.000m 
 
Newhall Junior School is classed as a building at risk and is a high priority. 
The roof, which contains asbestos, requires replacement as a matter of 
urgency, however, given the presence of asbestos, the project is likely to 
involve the temporary re-location of the school whilst the work is carried out.  

Page 137



Public 

6 

PHR-1042 

 
Schools Access Initiative £0.400m 
 
This is a long standing initiative which helps the Council to comply with the 
Equality Act.  The highly sensitive ongoing works ensure vulnerable children 
can access mainstream education. 
 
School Condition Allowance £7.682m 
 
This is DfE grant funding to cover the cost of upgrading and maintaining the 
condition of school accommodation to suit the needs of education in 
Derbyshire.   School Condition Allowance allows for only the most serious 
condition-related issues to be addressed given that the Council has a backlog 
of school condition expenditure of £150 million.  Projects funded on school 
buildings where the condition is poor include re-roofing, replacement windows 
and doors, re-heating and re-wiring.  A priority list of potential projects will be 
finalised once the actual grant figure is known. 
 
Capital Support for New Schools £6.000m 
 
New schools established in response to major housing developments will 
open as academies. Whilst the developments are expected to fund the capital 
costs of the new schools, there can be shortfalls given the protracted 
timescales between the original agreement and the delivery of the housing. 
This funding will be used, if required, to supplement the Section 106 
contributions to allow the schools to be delivered and meet the authority’s 
statutory duty to provide sufficient school places in the County.  
 
 
Adult Care 
 
Disabled Facilities Grant £10.960m 
 
Disabled people requiring major adaptations to their accommodation are able 
to apply for a Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) administered by District 
Councils.  The DFG is mandatory if the applicant is unable to access essential 
facilities within their home.  The County Council has a duty to identifying 
suitable works based upon an assessment of individual needs: however, the 
decision to approve the grant lies with the relevant District Council. 
 
The DFG process is prescribed by legislation and regulations and requires 
that applicants are subject to a Test of Resources (means test).  The Test of 
Resources only looks at an applicant’s income and does not take account of 
their outgoings or personal circumstances.  There are three possible 
outcomes for applicants: a grant to cover the cost of the work (up to a 
maximum of £30,000), a grant to cover part of the work, grant application is 
deemed to be able to meet all the costs of the work.  
 

Page 138



Public 

7 

PHR-1042 

 
The decision on DFG funding is the responsibility of the relevant District 
Council.  However, the County Council, as part of its legal duties under the 
Chronically Sick and Disabled Peoples Act 1970, is required to consider 
providing financial assistance where the applicant cannot meet some or all of 
the cost of the adaptation.   
 
Bennerley Avenue Site £30.000m 
 
On 11 September 2019 Cabinet approved the development of a new Care 
Home and Extra Care Housing Scheme on Bennerley Avenue, Cotmanhay 
including the use of a non-Derbyshire County Council Framework for the 
procurement of a construction contract.  Detailed planning approval for the 
scheme is due to be determined early in 2020, with a tender to award a 
construction contract expected to be complete by April 2020 with completion 
of the whole scheme by Summer 2022.  The home will replace the nearby 
Hazelwood Care Home.  The home will have 40 beds with the capability of 
being extended to an 80 bed home in the future, should the need arise.    
 
 
Commissioning, Communities and Policy 
 
Fire Risk Schemes £0.650m 
 
Under The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 the Council is 
required to undertake fire risk assessments on its building stock.  These 
consist of operational assessments by establishment managers and technical 
assessments by property professionals in Corporate Property.   Technical 
assessments consider the building components, the means of escape, the 
suitability of compartmentation, warning systems and equipment and so on. 
Assessments are carried out on an ongoing basis, agreed with the Fire 
Service, to identify and improve the building form/fabric to a suitable standard. 
The Council's ongoing survey programme has identified the need for further 
funding to address these works. 
 
Kitchen Ventilation Schemes £0.500m 
 
The Council is under a statutory duty to provide safe premises from which it 
can deliver its services and its employees can work.  Part of this involves 
compliance with gas safety regulations and ensuring safe kitchens for staff 
and service users in schools, residential premises and other Council premises 
that have catering kitchens.  This funding is required to enable the 
continuation of a planned programme of works to improve and upgrade gas 
ventilation systems in Council owned schools, residential premises and other 
premises that have catering kitchens and also to establish a contingency pot 
to fund emergency works where premises are in danger of imminent closure 
because of non-compliance with gas safety regulations. 
 

Page 139



Public 

8 

PHR-1042 

Risk Management £0.130m 
 
To provide funding that will actively reduce risk and to increase the 
understanding of risk across all departments within the Council and therefore 
provide a long term cost saving by reducing the risk of injury; improve staff 
absence following incidents; reduce the risk of damage to our properties; 
assist with risk related improvements that impact upon adult care and 
children’s homes that impact upon their classification and support risk 
reduction methodologies that will minimise reputational damage to Derbyshire 
and therefore support visitor growth. 
 
SAP Hana £2.000m  
 
SAP ECC is the Council’s core financial, HR and payroll system and is 
fundamental to the continued operations of the Council.  The current version 
of SAP ECC was implemented in April 2010.  SAP recently announced that it 
will withdraw support from some of its products in 2025, including the version 
of SAP used by the Council.  Additionally, the infrastructure that supports SAP 
ECC requires replacement in 2022 to maintain the existing SAP ECC 
system.  A new version of SAP ECC is available, known as SAP S/4 and is 
supported beyond 2035.  This bid is to facilitate the upgrade to the S/4 in 
timely manner that coincides with the already required infrastructure upgrades 
in 2022 and meets the needs of the Council and ICT Strategy.  SAP S/4 
provides enhanced analytics, reporting and the opportunity to streamline 
business processes driving savings from across the Council.  
 
Replacement of ICT Hardware £2.000m  
 
The ICT Service maintains a five year plan which details the desktop 
equipment and other major ICT infrastructure components that need 
replacing.  This includes users’ laptops and PCs, components and utilities that 
support the Data Centre and Converged Infrastructure and Core VSS Network 
and Network Cabinet replacement to maintain a physically secure network.  
 
Laptops and PCs are replaced on a five year cycle to ensure they are capable 
of running the latest software and meet the demands of service users.  All 
other components are centralised and represent critical elements of the 
Council's ICT Infrastructure.  The ICT infrastructure underpins the delivery of 
front line services through the direct provision of ICT, such as IT equipment 
and connectivity in libraries and the ICT backbone to support large systems 
for practitioners, such as the Adult Care and Children’s Services case 
management system and the SAP platform that provides the Council's core 
financial systems. 
 
The ICT Service has identified a range of major infrastructure components 
that will need replacing over the next five years.   
 
 

Page 140



Public 

9 

PHR-1042 

Economy, Transport and Environment 
 
Derelict Land Reclamation £0.252m 
 
Funding for the land reclamation programme is predominantly provided 
through capital grants secured from a variety of external funding 
organisations, with the Council providing some pump-prime investment.   The 
funding may be used to match other funding from outside bodies and this will 
continue with further bids, working together with Countryside team.  It also 
assists with early scheme development on proposed works.  The funding is 
also required to enable the Council to meet statutory obligations on land in its 
ownership, particularly around physical and environmental work on mines, tips 
and quarries to deal with hazards and contamination.  The work on 
Chesterfield Canal also supports many hours of volunteer time through 
partnership working and a Memorandum of Understanding which, together 
with significant capital investment from the Chesterfield Canal Trust, all 
contributes to the ongoing restoration programme. 
 
Local Transport Plan £22.098m 
 
The Local Transport Plan capital programme supports a number of Council 
plan priorities, but is fundamental to the maintenance of the highway, towards 
which the majorly of the available capital funding is dedicated.  The 
programme also supports preparation and local contributions towards major 
projects including the A61 Growth Corridor, a programme of road safety and 
traffic management engineering schemes, and others to provide infrastructure 
encouraging the use of public transport, walking and cycling. 
 
Corporate Vehicle Replacement Programme £2.512m 
 
The Vehicle Replacement Programme is developed on the age factor and 
mechanical condition of each vehicle within the fleet.  The average age of 
each vehicle to be replaced is ten years.  The investment will assist in bringing 
the Council's vehicle fleet to a standard that minimises inefficient maintenance 
and operational costs with the benefits of making best use of their new 
technologies.  
 
Due to the length of the lead time for ordering winter maintenance vehicles, 
approval is required in 2020-21 to be able to place orders in readiness for the 
2021 winter season.  For specialist vehicles such as gritters and snow ploughs 
the lead time for their manufacture can be twelve months. 
 
Elvaston Castle Defective Structures £0.500m 
 
These buildings and structures are in the midst of a busy country park and are 
Grade ll listed.  The Council has an obligation to keep them in good repair.  All 
require urgent work to comply with this requirement.  
 

Page 141



Public 

10 

PHR-1042 

 
Some of the buildings are badly eroded and there are concerns about their 
stability, for example walls could collapse.   As these areas are subject to high 
volumes of traffic, they could pose a danger to the public, with the potential for 
risk of injury.   Work is required on the early 19th Century pump house, Castle 
Courtyard arch and the North and South Walls of the Old English Garden. 
 
Flood Alleviation Schemes £0.195m 
 
This scheme is to help reduce historical flooding to properties in Bonsall 
Village, Hogshaw Brook Catchment (Buxton), Eyam and Stoney Middleton 
and Oak Close Castle Gresley.  
 
It will reduce the risk of flooding to fifteen residential properties and four 
commercial properties in Bonsall Village, 190 + properties in the Lightwood 
Road area of Buxton, 50 residential properties in Eyam and Stoney Middleton 
and nineteen residential properties in the Castle Gresley area. 
 
It will also assist in delivering the Government's target (still to be determined 
from 2021 onwards) of further reducing flood risk to properties nationally.  It is 
envisaged that the scheme is to be funded entirely from external Grant 
funding.  
 
Waste Management Accounting System £0.200m 
 
The County Council has legislative obligations to manage the treatment and 
disposal of household waste collected by the eight District and Borough 
Councils across Derbyshire.  It achieves this through a number of contracts 
with external contractors. 
 
The existing Waste Management System is fifteen years old and is based on 
a Microsoft Access database.  Support for Microsoft Access 2010 will cease in 
October 2020, at which time security updates will no longer be available, 
leaving the system potentially vulnerable.  Internally ICT Services are similarly 
unable to support the existing system. 
 
ICT Services have reviewed the existing Waste Management System and 
determined that, should a new system be required to be provided in-house, a 
complete rewrite would be required and consume considerable resources. 
It has been concluded that, due to the age of the existing Waste Management 
System, future maintenance and lack of in-house resources, a new accounting 
system needs to be procured in order to ensure the continued efficient 
management of financial accounts for current and future waste management 
contracts. 
 
 
 
 

Page 142



Public 

11 

PHR-1042 

Risks in Association with Water Bodies £1.000m 
 
The Countryside Service manages waterbodies on behalf of the Council, 
including ponds, lakes, reservoirs and canals.  A number of the waterbodies 
are in a poor state, have no regular management of maintenance budget 
attributed to them and require repair or upgrade as a result of regulatory 
change or because of changes in landscape use and climate events not 
anticipated when constructed.   In some cases assets have been 'inherited' by 
the Countryside Service without formal handover and confirmation of fitness 
for purpose, with no allocation made for their on-going maintenance costs. 
The water assets require an on-going inspection, maintenance and 
compliance regime.  The Council is the Navigation Authority for the canals, 
and the Responsible Body for some of the impounded reservoirs, under 
specific legislation.  The other ponds and water bodies are managed as 
assets in the same way as any other Countryside site, under a prioritisation 
structure relating to risk and other elements of site status. 
 
Infrastructure Support £7.700m 
 
This funding supports the immediate delivery of three important regeneration 
projects, through the provision of enabling transport infrastructure, addressing 
access and off-site impacts.  In the absence of this direct financial support 
these projects would impact heavily on highways and transport capital 
programmes and the Council's ability to discharge statutory duties on road 
safety and maintenance and to address its own Climate and Carbon 
Reduction Manifesto. 
  

Page 143



Public 

12 

PHR-1042 

Appendix 2 

Treasury Management Strategy Report 2020-21 

1) Introduction 

Treasury Management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, 
borrowing and investments and the associated risks. The Council has 
borrowed and invested substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to 
financial risks, including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control 
of financial risk is therefore central to the Council’s prudent financial 
management.  
 
Treasury Risk Management at the Council is conducted within the framework 
of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s “Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition” (the 
CIPFA Code) which requires the Council to approve a Treasury Management 
Strategy before the start of each financial year. This report fulfils the Council’s 
legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to the 
CIPFA Code. 
 
Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered 
in the Investment Strategy. 
 
2) External Context 

 
Economic background:  The UK’s progress negotiating its exit from the 
European Union (EU), together with its future trading arrangements, will 
continue to be a major influence on the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy for 2020-21. 
 
UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) was 1.7% year on year in September 2019, 
unchanged from the previous month.  Core inflation, which excludes the more 
volatile components, rose to 1.7%, from 1.5% in August 2019.  The most 
recent labour market data for the three months to August 2019 showed the 
unemployment rate was 3.9%, whilst the employment rate was 75.9%, just 
below recent record-breaking highs.  The headline 3-month average annual 
growth rate for pay was 3.8% in August 2019, as wages continued to rise 
steadily.  In real terms, after adjusting for inflation, pay growth increased by 
1.9%. 
 
UK GDP growth rose by 0.3% in the third quarter of 2019, from a fall of 0.2% 
in the previous three months.  The annual rate fell further below its trend rate, 
to 1.0%, from 1.2%.  Looking ahead, the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy 
Report (formerly the Quarterly Inflation Report) forecasts economic growth to 
pick up during 2020 as EU exit-related uncertainties dissipate.  It is expected 

Page 144



Public 

13 

PHR-1042 

that this will provide a boost to business investment, helping GDP reach a 
forecast 1.6% in Q4 2020, 1.8% in Q4 2021 and 2.1% in Q4 2022. 
 
The Bank of England maintained its Bank Rate at 0.75% in November 2019, 
following a 7-2 vote by the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC).  Despite 
keeping rates on hold, MPC members did confirm that if EU exit uncertainty 
extends for longer than predicted, or global growth fails to recover, they are 
prepared to cut interest rates as required.  Moreover, the downward revisions 
to some of the growth projections in the Monetary Policy Report suggest the 
MPC may now be less convinced of the need to increase rates, even if there 
is an EU exit deal. 
 
Growth in Europe remains soft, driven by a weakening German economy, 
which saw GDP fall by -0.1% in Q2, with a technical recession expected in Q3 
(two successive quarters of negative growth).  Euro zone inflation was 0.8% 
year on year in September 2019, well below the European Central Bank’s 
(ECB) target of ‘below, but close to 2%’, leading to the ECB holding the main 
interest rate at 0%, whilst cutting the deposit facility rate to -0.5%.  In addition 
to maintaining interest rates at ultra-low levels, the ECB announced it would 
recommence its quantitative easing programme from November 2019. 
 
In the US, the Federal Reserve began easing monetary policy again in 2019, 
as a pre-emptive strike against slowing global and US economic growth, on 
the back of the ongoing trade war with China.  At its last meeting the Fed cut 
rates to range from 1.50-1.75%.  Financial markets expect further loosening of 
monetary policy in 2020.  US GDP annualised growth slowed in Q3 to 1.9%, 
from 2.0% in Q2. 
 
Credit outlook:  Credit conditions for larger UK banks have remained 
relatively benign over the past year.  The UK’s departure from the EU was 
delayed three times in 2019 and whilst there remains some concern over a 
global economic slowdown, this has yet to manifest in any credit issues for 
banks.  Meanwhile, the post financial crisis banking reform is now largely 
complete, with the new ring-fenced banks embedded in the market (the big 
four UK banking groups divided their retail and investment banking divisions 
into separate legal entities under ring-fencing legislation). 
 
Looking forward, the potential for a “no-deal” EU exit and/or a global recession 
remain the major risks facing banks and building societies in 2020-21 and a 
cautious approach to bank deposits remains advisable. 
 
Interest rate forecast:  The Council’s Treasury Management Adviser, 
Arlingclose, is forecasting that Bank Rate will remain at 0.75% until the end of 
2022.  The risks to this forecast are deemed to be significantly weighted to the 
downside, particularly the need for greater clarity on EU exit and the 
continuing global economic slowdown.  The Bank of England, having 
previously indicated that interest rates may need to rise if an EU exit 
agreement was reached, stated in its November 2019 Monetary Policy Report 

Page 145



Public 

14 

PHR-1042 

and in its Bank Rate decision (7-2 vote to hold rates), that the MPC now 
believes this is less likely, even in the event of a deal. 
 
Gilt yields have risen but remain at low levels and only some very modest 
upward movement from current levels are expected, based on Arlingclose’s 
interest rate projections.  The central case is for 10-year and 20-year gilt 
yields to rise to around 1.00% and 1.40%, respectively, over the time horizon, 
with broadly balanced risks to both the upside and downside.  However, short-
term volatility arising from both economic and political events over the period 
is a near certainty. 
 
A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is 
attached at Appendix A. 
 
For the purpose of setting the budget, it has been assumed that new Treasury 
Management investments will be made at an average rate of 1% over 1 year, 
and that new long-term loans will be borrowed at an average rate of 3.21% 
based upon an average term of 18 years. 
 
3) Local Context 

 
On 31 December 2019, the Council held £318.974m of borrowing and 
£236.088m of investments.  This is set out in further detail at Appendix B.  
Forecast changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis in 
Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1: Balance sheet summary and forecast 

 

 
 
*   finance leases, PFI liabilities and transferred debt that form part of the 

Council’s total debt.  As a result of the adoption of the new accounting 
standard IFRS 16 Leases, the liabilities relating to leases which were 
previously treated as operating leases will be recognised on the Council’s 
balance sheet.  An estimate has been made of the impact of this change 
and included in the balance sheet summary and forecast.  This change 
increases the General Fund CFR and other debt liabilities by an equal 
amount, therefore Loans CFR is unaffected. 

31.3.19 31.3.20 31.3.21 31.3.22 31.3.23

Actual Estimate Forecast Forecast Forecast

£m £m £m £m £m

General Fund CFR 487.050 558.110 618.340 647.430 647.150

Less: Other debt liabilities * -72.982 -68.874 -73.541 -68.174 -62.579

Loans CFR 414.068 489.236 544.799 579.256 584.571

Less: External borrowing ** -313.124 -277.474 -272.899 -272.899 -265.579

Internal borrowing 100.944 211.762 271.900 306.357 318.992

Less: Usable reserves -338.293 -257.428 -211.531 -190.286 -176.195

Less: Working capital -36.435 -36.435 -36.435 -36.435 -36.435

New borrowing (or 

Treasury investments)
-273.784 -82.101 23.934 79.636 106.362

Page 146



Public 

15 

PHR-1042 

 

** shows only loans to which the Council is committed and excludes optional 

refinancing. 

The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR).  Usable reserves and working capital are the 
underlying resources available for investment.  The Council’s current strategy 
is to maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, 
sometimes known as internal borrowing.  
 
The Council has an increasing CFR because of its capital programme.  
Investments are forecast to fall to £80.000m as capital receipts are used to 
finance capital expenditure and reserves are used to finance the Revenue 
Budget. 
 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends 
that the Council’s total debt should be lower than its highest forecast CFR 
over the next three years.  Table 1 shows that the Council expects to comply 
with this recommendation during 2020-21.   
 
4) Borrowing Strategy 

 
The Council currently holds £390.674m of debt, an increase of £35.832m on 
the previous year, as part of its long term strategy for funding previous years’ 
capital programmes and short term operational cash-flow management.  The 
balance sheet forecast in Table 1 shows that the Council expects to borrow up 
to £106.035m in 2020-21.  The Council may however borrow to pre-fund 
future years’ requirements, providing this does not exceed the authorised limit 
for borrowing of £847.000m. 
 
Objectives: The Council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike 
an appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which funds are required.  
The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Council’s long-term plans 
change is a secondary objective. 
 
Strategy:  Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to 
local government funding, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to 
address the key issue of affordability, without compromising the longer-term 
stability of the debt portfolio.  With short-term interest rates currently much 
lower than long-term rates, it is likely to be more cost effective in the short-
term to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead.   
 
By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite 
foregone investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk.  The benefits of 
internal and short-term borrowing will be monitored regularly against the 
potential for incurring additional costs, by deferring borrowing into future years 
when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will 

Page 147



Public 

16 

PHR-1042 

assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis.  Its output 
may determine whether the Council borrows additional sums at long-term 
fixed rates in 2020-21 with a view to keeping future interest costs low, even if 
this causes additional cost in the short-term. 
 
The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from 

the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) but the government increased PWLB 

rates by 1% in October 2019, making it a relatively expensive option.  The 

Council will now look to borrow any long-term loans from other sources 

including banks, pensions and local authorities, and will investigate the 

possibility of issuing bonds and similar instruments, in order to lower interest 

costs and reduce over-reliance on one source of funding, in line with the 

CIPFA Code. 

Alternatively, the Council may arrange forward starting loans during 2020-21, 
where the interest rate is fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later 
years. This would enable certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a 
cost of carry in the intervening period. 
 
In addition, the Council may borrow further short-term loans to cover 
unplanned cash flow shortages. 
 
Sources of borrowing: The approved sources of long-term and short-term 
borrowing are: 
 

• PWLB and any successor body; 
• any institution approved for investments (see below); 
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK 
• any other UK public sector body; 
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Derbyshire Pension 

Fund); 
• capital market bond investors; 
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies 

created to enable local authority bond issues; and 
• D2N2 Local Economic Partnership 
 

Other sources of debt finance: In addition, capital finance may be raised by 
the following methods that are not borrowing, but may be classed as other 
debt liabilities: 
 

• leasing; 
• hire purchase; 
• Private Finance Initiative; 
• sale and leaseback. 

 
Municipal Bonds Agency: UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established 
in 2014 by the Local Government Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  
It plans to issue bonds on the capital markets and lend the proceeds to local 

Page 148



Public 

17 

PHR-1042 

authorities.  This will be a more complicated source of finance than the PWLB 
for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond 
investors with a guarantee to refund their investment in the event that the 
agency is unable to for any reason; and there will be a lead time of several 
months between committing to borrow and knowing the interest rate payable.  
Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a 
separate report to Cabinet.   
 
LOBOs: The Council holds £5m of LOBO (Lender’s Option Borrower’s 
Option) loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the 
interest rate at set dates, following which the Council has the option to either 
accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost.  £5m of these 
LOBOs have options during 2020-21, and although the Council understands 
that lenders are unlikely to exercise their options in the current low interest 
rate environment, there remains an element of refinancing risk.  The Council 
will take the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has the opportunity to 
do so.  Total borrowing via LOBO loans will be limited to £5m. 
 
Short-term and variable rate loans: These loans leave the Council exposed 
to the risk of short-term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to the 
interest rate exposure limits in the treasury management indicators below.   
 
Debt rescheduling: The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before 
maturity and either pay a premium or receive a discount according to a set 
formula based on current interest rates.  Other lenders may also be prepared 
to negotiate premature redemption terms.  The Council may take advantage of 
this and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without 
replacement, where this is expected to lead to an overall cost saving or a 
reduction in risk. 
 
5) Investment Strategy 
 
The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in 
advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  In the past twelve 
months, the Council’s investment balance has ranged between £236.088m 
and £402.998m.   A report is expected to be taken to the March 2020 Cabinet 
meeting seeking approval for the Council to pay three years of pension 
contributions to the Pension Fund in advance, rather than on a month by 
month basis.  These balances may fall significantly in 2020-21 if approval is 
granted and the decision is taken to proceed but should result in a significant 
budget saving. 
 
Objectives:  The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its funds 
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments 
before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. The Council’s objective 
when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and 
return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of 
receiving unsuitably low investment income. Where balances are expected to 

Page 149



Public 

18 

PHR-1042 

be invested for more than one year, the Council will aim to achieve a total 
return that is equal or higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to 
maintain the spending power of the sum invested. 
 
Negative interest rates:  If the UK enters into a recession in 2020-21, there is 
a small chance that the Bank of England could set its Bank Rate at or below 
zero, which is likely to feed through to negative interest rates on all low risk, 
short-term investment options.  This situation already exists in many other 
European countries.  In this event, security will be measured as receiving the 
contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than 
the amount originally invested. 
 
Strategy:  Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term 
unsecured bank investments, the Council has diversified into higher yielding 
asset classes, with £70m currently invested in strategic pooled investments. 
This diversification will represent a continuation of the new strategy first 
adopted in 2015-16. 
 
The remainder of the Council’s surplus cash is currently invested in short term 
Local Authority loans, short-term unsecured bank deposits, certificates of 
deposit and money market funds.   
  
Business models: Under the IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain 
investments depends on the Council’s “business model” for managing them. 
The Council aims to achieve value from its internally managed treasury 
investments by a business model of collecting the contractual cash flows and 
therefore, where other criteria are also met, these investments will continue to 
be accounted for at amortised cost.  
 
Approved counterparties: The Council may invest its surplus funds with any 
of the counterparty types in Tables 2a and 2b below, subject to the cash limits 
(per counterparty) and the time limits shown. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 150



Public 

19 

PHR-1042 

Table 2a: Approved investment counterparties and limits (County Fund) 

Credit 

Rating 

Banks 

Unsecured 

Banks 

Secured 
Government Corporates 

Registered 

Providers 

UK 

Govt 
n/a n/a 

£ Unlimited 

50 years 
n/a n/a 

AAA 
£30m 

 5 years 

£30m 

20 years 

£30m 

50 years 

£10m 

 20 years 

£10m 

 20 years 

AA+ 
£30m 

5 years 

£30m 

10 years 

£30m 

25 years 

£10m 

10 years 

£10m 

10 years 

AA 
£30m 

4 years 

£30m 

5 years 

£30m 

15 years 

£10m 

5 years 

£10m 

10 years 

AA- 
£30m 

3 years 

£30m 

4 years 

£30m 

10 years 

£10m 

4 years 

£10m 

10 years 

A+ 
£30m 

2 years 

£30m 

3 years 

£30m 

5 years 

£10m 

3 years 

£10m 

5 years 

A 
£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

2 years 

£30m 

5 years 

£10m 

2 years 

£10m 

5 years 

A- 
£30m 

 6 months 

£30m 

13 

months 

£30m 

 5 years 

£10m 

 13 months 

£10m 

 5 years 

Other Bodies  

(Non-Corporate) 
Individual Cabinet Approval 

Strategic Pooled 

funds and real 

estate investment 

trusts (REIT) 

£30m per fund or trust 

Money Market 

Funds  
£30m per fund 

 

Table 2b: Approved investment counterparties and limits (Pension Fund) 

The Pension Fund uses cash for liquidity rather than investment return, hence 
it has shorter duration and fewer counterparty options than the County Fund. 
 
A report is expected to be taken to the March 2020 Cabinet meeting to seek 
approval for the Council paying pension contributions to the Pension Fund in 
advance.   If approval is granted, these advanced pension contributions will 
substantially increase the cash balances of the Pension Fund, pending a 
suitable investment opportunity.   It is therefore requested that the limits on 
Banks are increased from £10m to £30m and on Local Authorities are 
increased from £20m to £30m with effect from 1 April 2020. 
  

Page 151



Public 

20 

PHR-1042 

 

Credit 

Rating 

Banks 

Unsecured 

Banks 

Secured 
Government 

UK 

Govt 
n/a n/a 

£ Unlimited 

13 months 

AAA 
£30m 

 13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

AA+ 
£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

AA 
£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

AA- 
£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

A+ 
£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

A 
£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

13 months 

A- 
£30m 

 6 months 

£30m 

13 months 

£30m 

 13 months 

Money 

Market 

Funds 

(MMF) 

£30m per 

fund 
  

 

Operational bank accounts:  The Council may incur operational exposures, 
for example though current accounts, collection accounts and merchant 
acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and 
with assets greater than £25 billion.  The Bank of England has stated that in 
the event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 billion are more likely 
to be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the Council 
maintaining operational continuity.  These are not classed as investments, but 
are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept 
below:  
 
County Fund:  It is requested the existing additional overnight limit of £30m is 
maintained. 
 
D2N2:  It is requested the existing overnight limit of £10m is maintained. 
 
Derbyshire Developments Ltd: It is requested the existing overnight limit of 
£0.1m is maintained. 
 
Pension Fund: It is requested the existing additional overnight limit of £20m is 
increased to £30m. 
 

Page 152



Public 

21 

PHR-1042 

Pension Fund Currency Accounts US$/€:  It is requested that additional 
limits of US$1,000,000 and €1,000,000 are maintained for lower value 
currency receipts.  Any receipts above these sums will be cleared to Nil by the 
following working day.  
  
Pension Fund Custodian Accounts: 
 
Northern Trust (In House Account):  It is requested the existing limit of £30m is 
maintained. 
 
Northern Trust (Wellington):  It is requested the existing limit of 5% of assets 
under management (approximately £30m US$ equivalent) is maintained.  
 
BNP Paribas:  It is requested a limit of £1m for the previous custodian is 
retained for receipt of outstanding tax claim rebates. 
 
BNY Mellon:  It is requested a limit of £1m for the former custodian is retained 
for the receipt of outstanding tax claim rebates. 
 
LGPS Central: 
 
The Derbyshire Pension Fund joined the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) Central Pool from 1 April 2018. 
 
DCC Pension Fund re LGPS Central Trading Account:  It is requested that a 
cash limit of 0.5% of assets under management (approximately £25m) is 
approved. 
 
Credit rating:  Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published 
long-term credit rating from a selection of external rating agencies.  Where 
available, the credit rating relevant to the specific investment or class of 
investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used.  However, 
investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, and all 
other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account. 
 
Banks unsecured:  Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior 
unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, other than multilateral 
development banks.  These investments are subject to the risk of credit loss 
via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank is failing or likely to 
fail.  See below for arrangements relating to operational bank accounts. 
 
Banks secured:  Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other 
collateralised arrangements with banks and building societies.  These 
investments are secured on the bank’s assets, which limits the potential 
losses in the unlikely event of insolvency and means that they are exempt 
from bail-in.  Where there is no investment-specific credit rating but the 
collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the higher 
of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used to 

Page 153



Public 

22 

PHR-1042 

determine cash and time limits.  The combined secured and unsecured 
investments in any one bank will not exceed the cash limit for secured 
investments. 
 
Government:  Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national 
governments, regional and local authorities and multilateral development 
banks.  These investments are not subject to bail-in and there is generally a 
lower risk of insolvency, although they are not zero risk.  Investments with the 
UK Central Government may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 
years.  
 
Corporates:  Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other 
than banks and registered providers.  These investments are not subject to 
bail-in, but are exposed to the risk of the company going insolvent.   
 
Registered providers:  Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or 
secured on the assets of registered providers of social housing and registered 
social landlords, formerly known as housing associations.  These bodies are 
tightly regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing (in England), the Scottish 
Housing Regulator, the Welsh Government and the Department for 
Communities (in Northern Ireland). As providers of public services, they retain 
the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.   
 
Non-Corporates:  Loans to unrated companies will only be made following 
appropriate due diligence which may include an external credit assessment 
prior to Cabinet approval. 
 
Pooled funds:  Shares or units in diversified investment vehicles consisting of 
any of the above investment types, plus equity shares and property.  These 
funds have the advantage of providing wide diversification of investment risks, 
coupled with the services of a professional fund manager in return for a fee.  
Short-term Money Market Funds that offer same-day liquidity and very low or 
no volatility will be used as an alternative to instant access bank accounts, 
while pooled funds whose value changes with market prices and/or have a 
notice period will be used for longer investment periods.  
 
Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, 
but are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify 
into asset classes other than cash, without the need to own and manage the 
underlying investments.  Because these funds have no defined maturity date, 
but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and 
continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be 
monitored regularly. 
 
Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs):  Shares in companies that invest 
mainly in real estate and pay the majority of their rental income to investors in 
a similar manner to pooled property funds.  As with property funds, REITs 
offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more volatile, especially 

Page 154



Public 

23 

PHR-1042 

as the share price reflects changing demand for the shares, as well as 
changes in the value of the underlying properties.  Investments in REIT shares 
cannot be withdrawn but can be sold on the stock market to another investor. 
 
Risk assessment and credit ratings:  Credit ratings are obtained and 
monitored by the Council’s Treasury Management Adviser, who will notify 
changes in ratings as they occur.  Where an entity has its credit rating 
downgraded so that it fails to meet the minimum approved investment criteria 
then: 
 

• no new investments will be made; 
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be; 

and 
• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 

investments with the affected counterparty. 
 

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for 
possible downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch 
negative”) so that it may fall below the minimum approved rating criteria, then 
only investments that can be withdrawn on the next working day will be made 
with that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This 
policy will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction 
of travel rather than an imminent change of rating. 
 
Other information on the security of investments: The Council 
understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of 
investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available 
information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, 
including credit default swap prices, financial statements, information on 
potential government support, reports in the quality financial press and 
analysis and advice from the Council’s Treasury Management Adviser.  No 
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts 
about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria. 
 
When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of 
all organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally 
reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen in other market measures.  In these 
circumstances, the Council will restrict its investments to those organisations 
of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to 
maintain the required level of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be 
in line with prevailing financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean 
that insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to 
invest the Council’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the 
UK Government via the Debt Management Office or invested in Government 
Treasury Bills for example, or with other Local Authorities.  This will cause a 
reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will protect the 
principal sum invested. 
 

Page 155



Public 

24 

PHR-1042 

Investment limits (County Fund):  The Council’s Total Useable Reserves 
available to cover investment losses are forecast to be £283.605m at  
31 March 2020.  In order to minimise risk in the case of a single default, the 
maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK 
Government or Lloyds Bank (operational bank accounts)) will be £30 million 
and capitalised interest.  A group of banks under the same ownership will be 
treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed 
on fund managers, investments in brokers’ nominee accounts, foreign 
countries and industry sectors as below.  Investments in pooled funds and 
multilateral development banks do not count against the limit for any single 
foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many countries. 
 
Investment limits (Pension Fund):  The Pension Fund’s cash balance is 
forecast to be £299.559m at 31 March 2020.  In order to minimise risk in the 
case of a single default, the maximum that will be lent to any one organisation 
(other than the UK Government, Northern Trust (custodian) or Lloyds Bank 
operational bank accounts as previously detailed) will be £30m and capitalised 
interest.  A group of banks under the same ownership will be treated as a 
single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed on fund 
managers, investments in brokers’ nominee accounts, foreign countries and 
industry sectors as below.  Investments in pooled funds and multilateral 
development banks do not count against the limit for any single foreign 
country, since the risk is diversified over many countries. 
 
Liquidity management:  The Council uses purpose-built cash flow 
forecasting software and Excel spreadsheets to determine the maximum 
period for which funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is compiled 
on a prudent basis to minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow 
on unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments.  Limits on long-term 
investments are set by reference to the Council’s medium-term financial plan 
and cash flow forecast. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 156



Public 

25 

PHR-1042 

Table 3a: Investment limits (County Fund) 

 Cash limit 

UK Central Government Unlimited 

Other bodies with specific Cabinet approval 
Individual Cabinet 

Approval 

Any single organisation or group of 

organisations under the same ownership 

(except for the UK Central Government or 

organisations with specific Cabinet approval) 

£30m each 

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s 

nominee account 
£100m per broker 

Operational Bank Account  £30m additional 

Any group of pooled funds under the same 

management 
£30m per manager 

Foreign countries £30m per country 

Registered providers and registered social 

landlords 
£50m in total 

Unsecured investments with building societies £100m in total 

Money market funds £300m in total 

Real estate investment trusts £50m in total 
 

Table 3b: Investment limits (Pension Fund) 

 Cash limit 

Any single organisation or group of 

organisations under the same ownership, 

except the UK Central Government 

£30m each 

UK Central Government Unlimited 

Operational Bank Account  £30m additional 

Any group of pooled funds under the same 

management 
£30m per manager 

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s 

nominee account 
£200m per broker 

Foreign countries £30m per country 

Unsecured investments with building societies £100m in total 

Money market funds £300m in total 

6) Treasury Management Indicators 

The Council measures and manages its exposures to Treasury Management 
risks using the following indicators. 
 
Security:  The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to 
credit risk by monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its 

Page 157



Public 

26 

PHR-1042 

investment portfolio.  This is calculated by applying a score to each 
investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the arithmetic average, weighted 
by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are assigned a score 
based on their perceived risk. 
 

Credit risk indicator Target 

Portfolio average credit rating: 
County Fund 
Pension Fund 

 
A 
A 

 

Liquidity (Option 1): –  The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its 
exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring the amount of cash available to meet 
unexpected payments within a rolling three month period, without additional 
borrowing. 
 

Liquidity risk indicator Target 

County Fund: 

Total cash available within 1 month 

Pension Fund: 

Total cash available within 1 month  

 

£10m 

 

£60m 

 

Liquidity (Option 2) –:  The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its 
exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring the amount it can borrow each quarter 
without giving prior notice. 
 

Liquidity risk indicator Target 

County Fund: 

Total sum borrowed in past 3 months 

 without prior notice  

£30m 

 

The County Fund can use either Liquidity risk indicator as appropriate. 
 
The Pension fund must use Liquidity risk indicator (Option 1) as it does not 
borrow. 
 
Interest rate exposures:  This indicator is set to control the Council’s 
exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits on the one-year revenue 
impact of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates will be: 
 

Interest rate risk indicator Limit 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in 

interest rates 
£-1.11m 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% fall in 

interest rates 
£1.11m 

 

Page 158



Public 

27 

PHR-1042 

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that 
the borrowing for Advanced Pension Contributions varies from current rates. 
The revenue impact of a 1% fall in rates assumes negative interest rates.  The 
calculation is based on an average short-term borrowing balance of £111m. 
 
Maturity structure of borrowing:  This indicator is set to control the 
Council’s exposure to refinancing risk.  The upper and lower limits on the 
maturity structure of borrowing will be: 
 

Refinancing rate risk indicator Upper limit Lower limit 

Under 12 months 60% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 20% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 20% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 20% 0% 

10 years and within 20 years 40% 10% 

20 years and within 30 years 40% 10% 

30 years and above 40% 0% 
 

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year.  The maturity date of 
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment.  All 
LOBO option dates are potential repayment dates. 
 
The Council’s maturity repayment profile at 31 March 2020 is shown below.  A 
good spread of maturities is desirable.  The average redemption is £6.937m 
per year over the next 40 years.  The maximum redemption is £29.738m in 
2045-46.  The average duration of all the Council’s loans is approximately 18 
years. Any new borrowing would be targeted for maturity in years with nil/low 
repayments. 
 

Page 159



Public 

28 

PHR-1042 

 
 
Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year:  The purpose of 

this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses 

by seeking early repayment of its investments.  The limits on the long-term 

principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end will be: 

 

Price risk indicator 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 

Limit on principal invested beyond 

each year end (including strategic 

pooled funds & non-treasury 

investments) 

£150m £125m £100m 

 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

2
0

2
0

 2
1

2
0

2
2

 2
3

2
0

2
4

 2
5

2
0

2
6

 2
7

2
0

2
8

 2
9

2
0

3
0

 3
1

2
0

3
2

 3
3

2
0

3
4

 3
5

2
0

3
6

 3
7

2
0

3
8

 3
9

2
0

4
0

 4
1

2
0

4
2

 4
3

2
0

4
4

 4
5

2
0

4
6

 4
7

2
0

4
8

 4
9

2
0

5
0

 5
1

2
0

5
2

 5
3

2
0

5
4

 5
5

2
0

5
6

 5
7

2
0

5
8

 5
9

A
m

o
u

n
t 

B
o

rr
o

w
e

d
  (

£
m

)

Year

Repayment Profile

PWLB OTHER

Page 160



Public 

29 

PHR-1042 

Related Matters 
 
The CIPFA Code requires the Council to include the following in its Treasury 
Management Strategy. 
 
Financial Derivatives:  Local authorities have previously made use of 
financial derivatives embedded into loans and investments, both to reduce 
interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and to reduce 
costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and 
callable deposits).  The general power of competence in Section 1 of the 
Localism Act 2011 removes much of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use 
of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are not embedded into a 
loan or investment). 
 
The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, 
forwards, futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to 
reduce the overall level of the financial risks that the Council is exposed to. 
Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the overall level of 
risk.  Embedded derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and 
forward starting transactions, will not be subject to this policy, although the 
risks they present will be managed in line with the overall Treasury Risk 
Management Strategy. 
 
Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria.  The current value of any amount due 
from a derivative counterparty will count against the counterparty credit limit 
and the relevant foreign country limit. 
 
In line with the CIPFA Code, the Council will seek external advice and will 
consider that advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it 
fully understands the implications. 
 
 
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive:  The Council has opted up to 
professional client status with its providers of financial services, including 
advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access to a greater 
range of services but without the greater regulatory protections afforded to 
individuals and small companies.  Given the size and range of the Council’s 
Treasury Management activities, the Director of Finance & ICT believes this to 
be the most appropriate status. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
The budget for investment income in 2020-21 is £2.800m, based on an 
average investment portfolio of £70m at an interest rate of 4%.  The budget for 
debt interest paid in 2020-21 is £14.001m, based on an average debt portfolio 
of £388.474m at an average interest rate of 3.60%.  If actual levels of 

Page 161



Public 

30 

PHR-1042 

investments and borrowing, or actual interest rates, differ from those forecast, 
performance against budget will be correspondingly different.  
 
Other Options Considered 
 
The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury management 
strategy for local authorities to adopt.  The Director of Finance & ICT, having 
consulted the Cabinet Member for Council Services, believes that the above 
strategy represents an appropriate balance between risk management and 
cost effectiveness.  Some alternative strategies, with their financial and risk 
management implications, are listed below. 
 

Alternative Impact on income and 
expenditure 

Impact on risk 
management 

Invest in a narrower 
range of counterparties 
and/or for shorter times 

Interest income will be 
lower 

Lower chance of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be greater 

Invest in a wider range 
of counterparties and/or 
for longer times 

Interest income will be 
higher 

Increased risk of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be smaller 

Borrow additional sums 
at long-term fixed 
interest rates 

Debt interest costs will 
rise; this is unlikely to 
be offset by higher 
investment income 

Higher investment 
balance leading to a 
higher impact in the 
event of a default; 
however long-term 
interest costs may be 
more certain 

Borrow short-term or 
variable loans instead 
of long-term fixed rates 

Debt interest costs will 
initially be lower 

Increases in debt 
interest costs will be 
broadly offset by rising 
investment income in 
the medium term, but 
long-term costs may be 
less certain  

Reduce level of 
borrowing  

Saving on debt interest 
is likely to exceed lost 
investment income 

Reduced investment 
balance leading to a 
lower impact in the 
event of a default; 
however long-term 
interest costs may be 
less certain 

 
  

Page 162



Public 

31 

PHR-1042 

Appendix A – Arlingclose Economic and Interest Rate Forecast January 

2020  

 The global economy is entering a period of slower growth in response to 
political issues.  The UK economy continues to experience slower 
growth due to both EU exit uncertainty and the downturn in global 
activity.  In response, global and UK interest rate expectations are low. 

 Some improvement in global economic data and a more positive 
outlook for US/China trade negotiations has prompted worst case 
economic scenario’s to be pared back.  

 The new Conservative UK government will progress with achieving EU 
exit on 31 January 2020.  The more stable political environment will 
prompt a partial return in business and household confidence in the 
short term, but the subsequent limited EU exit transitionary period, 
which the government is seeking to enforce, will create additional 
economic uncertainty. 

 UK economic growth has stalled in Q4 2019.  Inflation is running below 
target at 1.5%.  The inflationary consequences of the relatively tight 
labour market have yet to manifest, while slower global growth should 
reduce the prospect of externally driven pressure, although escalating 
geopolitical turmoil could continue to push up oil prices. 

 The first few months of 2020 will indicate whether the economy benefits 
from restored confidence.  The Government will undertake substantial 
fiscal easing in 2020-21, which should help support growth in the event 
of a downturn in private sector activity. 

 The weak outlook for the UK economy and current low inflation have 
places pressure on the MPC to loosen monetary policy.  Two MPC 
members voted for an immediate cut in the last two MPC meetings of 
2019.  The evolution of the economic data and political moves over the 
next few months will inform policy but upside risks to the Bank Rate are 
very limited. 

 Inflation is running below target at 1.7%.  While the tight labour market 
risks medium-term domestically-driven inflationary pressure, slower 
global growth should reduce the prospect of externally driven pressure, 
although political turmoil could push up oil prices. 

 Central bank actions and escalating geopolitical risks will produce 
volatility in financial markets, including bond markets. 

 
Forecast:  

 Arlingclose has maintained their Bank Rate forecast at 0.75% for the 
foreseeable future.  Substantial risks to this forecast remain, arising 
primarily from the government’s policy around EU exit and the transitory 
period.  

 Arlingclose judges that the risks are weighted to the downside. 

 Gilt yields remain low due to the soft UK and global economic outlooks. 
US monetary policy and UK government spending will be key influences 
alongside UK monetary policy. 

Page 163



Public 

32 

PHR-1042 

 Arlingclose expects gilt yields to remain at relatively low levels for the 
foreseeable future and judge the risks to be broadly balanced. 
 

 

PWLB Certainty Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 1.80% 

PWLB Local Infrastructure Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.60% 
 

 

 

  

Page 164



Public 

33 

PHR-1042 

Appendix B – Existing Investment and Debt Portfolio Position 

 31 Dec 

2019 

Actual 

Portfolio 

£m 

31 Dec 

2019 

Average 

Rate 

% 

External Borrowing:  

Public Works Loan Board 

Local authorities 

Loans from banks 

Other loans (D2N2) 

Total External Borrowing 

 

262.474 

30.000 

15.000 

 11.500 

318.974 

 

4.56 

0.86 

4.63 

0.75 

4.08 

Other long term liabilities 

PFI 

Finance Leases 

Transferred Debt 

 

Total Other Long Term Liabilities 

 

63.710 

 5.009 

 0.155 

 

68.874 

 

Total Gross External Debt 387.848  

Treasury Investments: 

Banks & building societies  

Government (incl. local authorities) 

Money Market Funds 

 

Total Deposits: 

 

Bonds 

Equities UK 

Equities Global 

Multi Asset 

Property 

 

Total Strategic Pooled Funds 

 

66.398 

78.510 

10.000 

 

154.908 

 

5.032 

9.142 

5.292 

25.690 

24.134 

 

69.290 

 

1.12 

1.32 

0.73 

 

1.20 

 

3.27 

9.59 

2.83 

3.36 

4.33 

 

4.58 

Total Treasury Investments 224.198 2.24 

Net Debt  163.650  

 

Page 165



Public 

34 

PHR-1042 

Appendix 3 

Investment Strategy Report 2020-21 

Introduction 

The Council invests its money for three broad purposes: 
 

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for 
example when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as 
treasury management investments), 

 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 
organisations (service investments), and 

 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where 
this is the main purpose). 
 

This Investment Strategy meets the requirements of statutory guidance issued 
by Government in January 2018, and focuses on the second and third of 
these categories. 
 
Treasury Management Investments  
 
The Council typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from taxes and grants) 
before it pays for its expenditure in cash (e.g. through payroll and invoices).  It 
also holds reserves for future expenditure.  These activities, plus the timing of 
borrowing decisions, leads to a cash surplus, which is invested in accordance 
with guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA).  The balance of Treasury Management investments is expected to 
fluctuate between £80m and £213m during the 2020-21 financial year. 
 
Contribution:  The contribution that these investments make to the objectives 
of the Council is to support effective Treasury Management activities.   
 
Further details:  Full details of the Council’s policies and its plan for 2020-21 
for Treasury Management investments are covered in the Treasury 
Management Strategy, available here:  
 
Service Investments: Loans 
 
Contribution:  The Council lends money to its subsidiaries, local regeneration 
partners, to stimulate local economic growth.  
 
£0.500m - Derbyshire Developments Ltd – to provide local housing solutions 
for local people. Contribution of £0.025m per annum. 
 
£11.390m - Buxton Crescent & Thermal Spa Co Ltd – to regenerate Buxton 
Crescent by redeveloping a derelict Grade I listed building at Buxton Crescent 

Page 166



Public 

35 

PHR-1042 

into a spa hotel.  This will boost the economy and tourism in Buxton and the 
High Peak area.  Contribution of £0.530k per annum when completed.  
 
Security: The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will 
be unable to repay the principal lent and/or the interest due.  In order to limit 
this risk, and ensure that total exposure to service loans remains proportionate 
to the size of the Council, upper limits on the outstanding loans to each 
category of borrower have been set as follows:  
 
Each loan requires individual Cabinet approval. 
 
Table 1: Loans for service purposes in £ millions 

Category of 

borrower 

31 March 2019 actual 2020-21 

Balance 

owing 

 

£m 

Loss 

allowance 

 

£m 

Net 

figure in 

accounts 

£m 

Approved 

Limit 

 

£m 

Subsidiaries 0.500 0.034 0.466 0.500 

Regeneration 7.408 0.496 6.912 11.390 

TOTAL 7.908 0.530 7.378 11.890 

 
Accounting standards require the Council to set aside loss allowance for 
loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-payment.  The figures for loans in the 
Council’s statement of accounts are shown net of this loss allowance.  
However, the Council makes every reasonable effort to collect the full sum 
lent and has appropriate credit control arrangements in place to recover 
overdue repayments.  
 
Risk assessment: The Council assesses the risk of loss before entering into 
and whilst holding service loans by: 
 
Derbyshire Developments Ltd – the Council provided a working capital facility 
for start- up funding to enable recruitment of staff to identify surplus Council 
land that were potential sites for residential housing development.  
Derbyshire Developments Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Derbyshire 
County Council.  The Director of Finance & ICT and the Director of Property 
were both appointed as company directors to facilitate close financial control 
and robust project monitoring. The loan meets State Aid requirements. 
 
Derbyshire Developments Ltd - The risk of loss based upon an Arlingclose 
non-rated corporate estimate of 6.7% on the current loan amount outstanding 
of £0.500m, is £0.034m. 
 

Page 167



Public 

36 

PHR-1042 

Buxton Crescent & Thermal Spa Co Ltd – the Council agreed a development 
loan to renovate and refurbish the Grade 1 listed building at The Crescent 
Buxton into a 5* luxury hotel and spa.  The development would regenerate 
Buxton Crescent and provide a welcome boost to the local economy and 
tourism. 
 
Buxton Crescent & Thermal Spa Co Ltd submit a monthly utilisation request 
for funding based on works completed.  The Council employs an expert to 
provide an independent view and to investigate and confirm the value of the 
works done.  The expert’s report is submitted to the Director of Property for 
approval and to authorise Technical Finance to make the loan payment.  The 
loan meets Sate Aid requirements. 
 
Buxton Crescent & Thermal Spa Co Ltd - The risk of loss based upon an 
Arlingclose non-rated corporate estimate of 6.7%, on the current loan amount 
outstanding of £7.408m, is £0.496m. 
 
Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees 
 
Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged 
hands yet, loan commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to 
the Council and are included here for completeness.  
 
Capacity, Skills and Culture 
 
Elected members and statutory officers:  Elected members receive periodic 
training from the Director of Finance & ICT on Treasury Management 
(including non-treasury investments). 
 
The Director of Finance & ICT holds semi-annual meeting with the Council’s 
Treasury Management advisors to discuss Treasury Management Strategy 
options. 
 
Commercial deals: The Director of Finance & ICT and the Treasury 
Management Accountant are aware of the core principles of the prudential 
framework and of the regulatory regime within which local authorities operate.  
 
Corporate governance: The Council’s corporate governance arrangements 
are fully detailed in the Treasury Management Manual. 
  

Page 168



Public 

37 

PHR-1042 

Investment Indicators 
 

The Council has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected 
members and the public to assess the Council’s total risk exposure as a result 
of its investment decisions.  
 
Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the Council’s total exposure to 
potential investment losses.  This includes amounts the Council is 
contractually committed to lend but have yet to be drawn down and 
guarantees the Council has issued over third party loans.  
 
Table 2: Total investment exposure 

Total investment 

exposure 

31.03.2019 

Actual 

£m 

31.03.2020 

Forecast 

£m 

31.03.2021 

Forecast 

£m 

Treasury management 

investments 

 273.782   160.176 95.976 

Service investments: 

Loans 

    7.908 11.890 11.890 

TOTAL 

INVESTMENTS 

281.690 172.066 107.866 

Commitments to lend     3.982 0.000  0.000 

TOTAL EXPOSURE 285.672 172.066 107.866 

 

How investments are funded:  Government guidance is that these indicators 
should include how investments are funded.  Since the Council does not 
normally associate particular assets with particular liabilities, this guidance is 
difficult to comply with.  However, the following investments could be 
described as being funded by borrowing.  The remainder of the Council’s 
investments are funded by usable reserves and income received in advance 
of expenditure. 
 
  

Page 169



Public 

38 

PHR-1042 

Table 3: Investments funded by borrowing  

Investments funded by 

borrowing 

31.03.2019 

Actual 

£m 

31.03.2020 

Forecast 

£m 

31.03.2021 

Forecast 

£m 

TOTAL FUNDED BY 

BORROWING 

0.000 0.000 0.000 

 

Rate of return received:  This indicator shows the investment income 
received less the associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where 
appropriate, as a proportion of the sum initially invested.  Note that due to the 
complex local government accounting framework, not all recorded gains and 
losses affect the revenue account in the year they are incurred.  
 
Table 4: Investment rate of return (net of all costs) 

Investments net rate of 

return 

2018-19 

Actual 

% 

2019-20 

Forecast 

% 

2020-21 

Forecast 

% 

Treasury management 

investments (excluding *) 

1.10 1.15 1.00 

*Strategic Pooled Funds 4.95 4.58 4.58 

Service Investments: Loans 4.72 4.70 4.70 

ALL INVESTMENTS 2.15 2.73 3.74 

 

Table 5: Other investment indicators 

Indicator 
2018-19 

Actual 

2019-20 

Forecast 

2020-21 

Forecast 

Debt to net service 

expenditure ratio  

1:1.61 1:1.82 1:1.85 

Service Loans income to net 

service expenditure ratio 

1:2146 1:982 1:903 

 

  

Page 170



Public 

39 

PHR-1042 

 

Appendix 4 

Capital Strategy 

 

1 Purpose and Aims 

2 Objectives of strategy 

3 Key projects 

4 Approach to capital investment 

5 Commercial activity and investment property 

6 Loans 

7 Governance arrangements 

8 Funding streams 

9 Key strategies impacting on the Capital Strategy 

10 Prudential Indicators 

11 Knowledge and skills 

  

Page 171



Public 

40 

PHR-1042 

1 Purpose and Aims 

The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities was updated by 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) in 
December 2017.  The framework established by the Prudential Code supports 
local strategic planning, local asset management planning and proper option 
appraisal. 
 
The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure that the capital 
expenditure plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable 
and that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice and in full understanding of the risks involved.  
 
The Prudential Code requires authorities to look at capital expenditure and 
investment plans in the light of overall organisational strategy and resources 
and ensure that decisions are made with sufficient regard to the long term 
financing implications and potential risks to the authority. 
 
The Prudential Code sets out that in order to demonstrate that the authority 
takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service 
objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, 
prudence, sustainability and affordability, the capital strategy should set out 
the long term context in which capital expenditure and investment decisions 
are made and gives due consideration to both risk and reward and impact on 
the achievement of priority outcomes. 
 
This capital strategy sets out a framework for the self-management of capital 
finance and examines the following areas: 
 

 Capital expenditure and investment plans; 

 Prudential Indicators; 

 External debt; and 

 Treasury Management 

2 Objectives of the Strategy 
 
The capital budgets should support the key priorities laid out in the Council’s 
Council Plan.  Each capital proposal is required to clearly demonstrate the 
project links to the Council’s priorities, which are: 
 

1. Work efficiently and effectively 
2. Unlock economic growth and access to economic opportunities 
3. Invest in employment and skill 
4. Repair and improve the condition of Derbyshire roads 
5. Improve accessibility in rural and vulnerable communities 
6. Improve social care 
7. Transform services for people with learning difficulties 
8. Keeping children and adults safe 
9. Be a good corporate parent for children in our care 

Page 172



Public 

41 

PHR-1042 

10. Help children and young people get the best start 
11. Encourage healthy lifestyles 
12. Champion local communities 
13. Support local library services 
14. Protect local people and communities 
15. Promote Derbyshire as a global cultural and tourist destination 
16. Protect and enhance the natural environment 

 
3 Key Projects 
 
Within the Council Plan are a number of key projects which are, or will have 
an impact on the Council’s Capital Programme: 
 

 Delivered the Information and Communications Technology Strategy 

2018-23 to streamline service delivery and embed modern working 

practices 

 Increased fibre enabled broadband coverage across Derbyshire for 

homes and business 

 Invested in well maintained roads and highways infrastructure 

 Supported the development of a network of electric vehicle charging 

points across the county 

 Created an innovation park on the former Coalite site in Bolsover 

 Developed, agreed and begun to implement the Older People’s 

Housing, Accommodation and Support Strategy 

 Ensure all Council run adult care homes have Quality of Care graded as 

good or outstanding 

 

In addition to this, the Council’s Asset Management Framework identifies 

additional activities which are property specific including: 

 

 Develop a model for the community management of Council property 

assets under the Thriving Communities agenda 

 One Public Estate projects 

 Delivery of major regeneration projects including Buxton Crescent 

 Delivery of the schools capital programme 

 Smarter working projects 

 

4 Approach to Capital Investment 
 
Derbyshire County Council’s Capital Strategy defines and outlines the 
Council’s approach to capital investment and is fundamental to the Council’s 
financial planning processes.  It aims to ensure that: 
 

 An affordable and sustainable capital programme is delivered. 

 Use of resources and value for money is maximised. 

 A clear framework for making capital expenditure decisions is provided. 

 A corporate approach to generating capital resources is established. 

Page 173



Public 

42 

PHR-1042 

 Access to sufficient long term assets to provide services are acquired 
and retained 

 Invest to save initiatives to make efficiencies within the Council’s 
revenue budget are encouraged 

 An appraisal and prioritisation process for new schemes is robust. 

 Capital expenditure contributes to the achievement of the Council’s 
strategic plan. 
 

5 Commercial Activity and Investment Property 
 

The CIPFA Code defines investment property as property held solely to earn 
rentals or for capital appreciation or both.  Returns from property ownership 
can be both income driven (through the receipt of rent) and by way of 
appreciation of the underlying asset value (capital growth).  The combination 
of these is a consideration in assessing the attractiveness of a property for 
acquisition. 

 
The Council does not currently borrow to fund these type of activities. 

 
6 Loans 
 
The Council has discretion to make loans for a number of reasons, primarily 
for economic development.  These loans are treated as capital expenditure. 
 
In making loans the Council is exposing itself to the risk that the borrower 
defaults on repayments.  The Council, in making these loans, must therefore 
ensure they are prudent and has fully considered the risk implications, with 
regard to both the individual loan and that the cumulative exposure of the 
Council is proportionate and prudent. 

 
The Council will ensure that a full due diligence exercise is undertaken and 
adequate security is in place.  The business case will balance the benefits and 
risks.  All loans are agreed by Cabinet.  All loans are subject to close, regular 
monitoring. 

 
For further details, refer to the Investment Strategy above. 
 
7 Governance Arrangements 

Capital Programme Approvals 
 
The Council’s constitution and financial regulations govern the capital 
programme as set out below: 
 

 All capital expenditure must be carried out in accordance with the 
Financial Regulations and the Council’s Constitution. 

 The expenditure must comply with the statutory definition of capital 
purposes as defined within this document and wider financial standards. 

Page 174



Public 

43 

PHR-1042 

 The Capital Programme approved by Full Council as part of the 
Council’s annual budget report sets the capital funding availability for 
the Council. 

 Prioritisation of funding and the schemes receiving entry into the Capital 
Programme. 

 Each scheme must be under the control of a responsible person/project 
manager. 

 Any agreements (such as section 106) which contractually commit to 
procure capital schemes will need to follow the same approval process 
as other capital expenditure before it can be formally be incorporated 
into the capital programme. 

 
Capital Programme Bodies 
 
The main internal bodies that are responsible for the governance and 
management of the capital programme are the Full Council, Cabinet, Cabinet 
Member and the Capital Strategy Group. 
 

 Full Council: 
Approves the Capital Programme as part of the Annual Budget Report 
within the strategic boundaries set by the Council. 

  

 Cabinet/Cabinet Member: 
Approves additional schemes into the Capital Programme and cost 
variations to various schemes 
 
Cabinet also receives the capital monitoring reports. 

 

 Capital Strategy Group: 
This is a cross-service group of officers with a finance, service and 
property management background. 
 
It is responsible for ensuring that the Council has a clear and cohesive 
strategy for managing its physical assets and to oversee the 
development and delivery of the Council’s Capital Programme in 
support of that strategy. 

 
8 Funding Streams 
 
The Council’s Capital Programme is funded from a mix of sources including:- 
 

 Prudential Borrowing 
The introduction of the Prudential Code in 2004 allowed the Council to 
undertake unsupported borrowing itself.  This borrowing is subject to the 
requirements of the Prudential Code for Capital Expenditure for Local 
Authorities.  The Council must ensure that unsupported borrowing is 
affordable, prudent and cost effective.  This has provided the Council 
with the flexibility to raise capital funding as demand and business need 

Page 175



Public 

44 

PHR-1042 

have dictated.  This type of borrowing has revenue implications for the 
Council in the form of financing costs. 

 

 External Grants  
The largest form of capital funding comes through as external grant 
allocations from Central Government departments, such as the 
Department for Transport and Department for Education.  
 

 Section 106 and External Contributions  
Elements of the Capital Programme are funded by contributions from 
private sector developers and partners.  Growth in Derbyshire has 
resulted in Section 106 contributions from developers accounting for 
significant elements of funding of the Capital Programme in recent 
years. 

 

 Revenue Funding  
The Council can use revenue resources to fund capital projects on a 
direct basis and this funding avenue has been used in the past. 
However, the impact of austerity on the Council’s revenue budget has 
reduced options in this area and therefore the preference is for Invest to 
Save options to be adopted where feasible. 

 

 Capital Receipts  
The Council is able to generate capital receipts through the sale of 
surplus assets such as land and buildings.  The Council seeks to 
maximise the level of these resources which will be available to support 
the Council’s plans. 
 

The size of the Capital Programme will be influenced by funding sources and 
financing costs.  The main limiting factor on the Council’s ability to undertake 
capital investment is whether the revenue resource is available to support in 
full the implications of capital expenditure, both borrowing costs and running 
costs, after allowing for any support provided by central government, now 
mainly through capital grants. 
 
9 Key strategies impacting on the Council’s Capital Strategy 
 
The three key strategies in place that will significantly influence the Council’s 
Capital Programme over the medium term: 
 
(a) Property Asset Management Framework 

The strategic aim of the Property Asset Management Framework is to ensure 
that the Council has appropriate, cost effective buildings from which to deliver 
services.  
 
The aim of the strategy is to give clarity to the way we manage our assets, 
including: 

Page 176



Public 

45 

PHR-1042 

 

 The organisational arrangements for asset management including 
polices and protocols. 

 The corporate processes for decision making in relation to our assets – 
Corporate Governance. 

 The performance measures and monitoring. 

 How we manage and maintain our data on land and buildings. 
 

Property Policies and Protocols 
 
There are a number of policies and protocols that need to be in place to 
deliver strategic asset management effectively: 
 

 Property Acquisition Protocol  

 Property Disposal Protocol  

 Community Asset Transfer Protocol  

 Lettings Protocol  

 Process for departments to follow when they have a property need  

 Process for departments to follow when they wish to vacate a property 

 Decommissioning Process 

  Property Review Process  
 

(b) ICT Strategy 
 

The Council recognises that ICT is a key enabler of service delivery. The 
strategy outlines how ICT will deliver new technologies to support the 
ambitions and outcomes of the Council Plan and Derbyshire’s approach to 
becoming an Enterprising Council. In order to achieve this, a five year 
replacement capital programme will be developed, and initial requirements 
over this period are likely to be around £10m: 

 
Summary of Strategy Deliverables 

 Changing Service Models  

 ICT Governance Structure  

 Mobile and Agile Workforce  

 Digital by Default  

 Workforce ICT Competencies  

 Corporate and Business systems  

 ICT Infrastructure Delivery  

 Responsible Data management  
 
(c) Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy 
 
Highway infrastructure is the largest and most visible asset the Council is 
responsible for. With a gross replacement cost of £11.0bn, it is fundamental to 
the delivery of the Council Plan.  It includes over 5,000km of road network, as 

Page 177



Public 

46 

PHR-1042 

well as supporting public transport through cycle routes, public rights of ways, 
canals, bus stations and shelters, on-street parking, school buses and vehicle 
fleet.  It reflects the character and quality of the local areas that it serves and 
makes an important contribution to the wider Council priorities, including 
regeneration, social inclusion, education, employment, recreation and health.  
In order to deliver these aims and strengthen local communities, it is crucial 
that it is maintained to enable safe, reliable and sustainable journeys. 
 
There are a variety of factors that need to be taken into consideration when 
determining the Council’s expectations for the highway service: 
 

 Meeting national policy, guidance and codes of practice. 

 Delivering Council goals – including maintenance policy and Local 
Transport Plan. 

 Supporting Council Vision. 

 Complying with legal duties, including Highways Act 1980, Traffic 
Management Act 2004 and The Equalities Act 2010. 

 Enabling effective whole Government accounts and local financial 
reporting. 

 Managing Stakeholder expectations – the Council readily engages with 
stakeholders through Elected Members, the National Transport and 
Public Satisfaction Survey, the DCC website, officer workshops and 
Midland Service Improvement Group (MSIG). 

 Understanding future demands of the highway infrastructure assets. 

 Making the best of financially constrained budgets. 

 Delivering efficiency and value for money. 

 Delivering long term improvements to the condition of the network. 

 Providing a safe and reliable network. 
 
The major groups of assets covered by the Strategy are:  
 

 Carriageways 

 Footways and Cycleways 

 Structures (Bridges/retaining walls) 

 Drainage 

 Street Lighting 

 Electronic Traffic Management 

 Street Furniture (Traffic Signs/Vehicle Restraint Systems etc) 
 
The major source of capital funding for the network is from the Local Transport 
Plan grant from central government which is approximately £22m per annum. 
 
10 2020-21 Prudential Indicators for Capital Finance 
 
This section of the Capital Strategy sets out the prudential indicators and 
outlines how expenditure will be financed by borrowing in an affordable, 
prudent and sustainable way. 

Page 178



Public 

47 

PHR-1042 

 
Information and Advice 
 
The Local Government Act 2003 enables local authorities to determine their 
programmes for capital investment and associated borrowing requirements, 
provided they have regard to the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities developed by CIPFA and also take advice from the Section 151 
Officer. 
 
The Executive Summary of the Code states that “The framework established 
by the Prudential Code should support local strategic planning, local asset 
management planning and proper option appraisal.  The objectives of the 
Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital 
investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, 
and that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice.” 
 
The Code sets out a number of prudential indicators designed to support and 
record local decision making and it is the duty of the Chief Financial Officer 
(the Council’s Section 151 Officer) to ensure that this information is available 
to Members when they take decisions on the Council’s capital expenditure 
plans and annual budget.  Key issues to be considered are: 
 

 Affordability (e.g. implications for Council Tax). 

 Prudence and sustainability (e.g. implications for external borrowing and 
whole life costing). 

 Value for money. 

 Stewardship of assets (Service objectives (e.g. alignment with the Council’s 
Strategic Plan). 

 Practicality (e.g. whether the capital plans are achievable). 
 
Affordability 
 
The fundamental objective in the consideration of the affordability of the 
Council’s capital plans is to ensure that the level of investment in capital 
assets proposed means that the total capital investment of the Council 
remains within sustainable limits. 
 
In considering the affordability of its capital plans, the Council is required to 
consider all of the resources currently available to it and estimated for the 
future, together with the totality of its capital plans, income and expenditure 
forecasts. 
 
The costs of financing capital expenditure are: 
 

 Interest payable to external lenders less interest earned on investments.  

Page 179



Public 

48 

PHR-1042 

 Amounts set aside for repayments of amounts borrowed (including 
repayments of amounts relating to PFI schemes and other finance lease 
liabilities). 

 
Table 1 – Actual and Estimates of financing costs to net revenue stream 

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital against the net revenue 
stream, based on the Capital Programme. 

 

  

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m  £m £m £m £m 

          

Financing costs of 
CFR 

38.23 41.47 47.01 52.08 55.71 

Net Revenue stream 
including DSG 

912.29 873.23 924.11 929.16 943.31 

Percentage 4.19% 4.75% 5.09% 5.60% 5.91% 

Net Revenue stream 
excluding DSG 

533.53 494.47 545.35 550.40 564.55 

Percentage 7.17% 8.39% 8.62% 9.46% 9.87% 

 

Prudence and Sustainability 
 
The Prudential Code requires that the Council shall ensure that all of its 
capital expenditure, investments and borrowing decisions are prudent and 
sustainable. 
 
In doing so it will take into account its arrangements for the repayment of debt 
and consideration of risk and the impact on the Council’s overall fiscal 
sustainability. 
 
The Council is required to make reasonable estimates of the total capital 
expenditure that it plans to incur in the forthcoming financial year and at least 
the following two financial years. 
 
As part of the Prudential Code arrangements the authority needs to calculate 
the Capital Financing Requirement.  This figure covers capital expenditure 
which has not yet been permanently financed through the revenue account.  
 
The Code also states that “In order to ensure that over the medium term net 
debt will only be for a capital purpose, the local authority should ensure that 
net debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital 
financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial 
years.” This is a key indicator of prudence. 

Page 180



Public 

49 

PHR-1042 

Table 2 – Estimates of Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 

Requirement 

The relevant figures from the 2018-19 Accounts are as follows. 
 

  

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m £m 

Capital Expenditure 96.13 174.22 207.47 97.57 50.60 

Funding Sources:           

Borrowing 35.80 81.85 74.26 42.96 23.33 

Capital receipts 5.42 17.14 6.51 8.55 0.00 

Capital grants 54.91 54.86 118.95 43.68 25.26 

Revenue 0.00 20.37 7.75 2.38 2.01 

            

Total CFR at year end 487.05 558.11 618.34 647.43 647.15 

Net movement in CFR 31.14 71.07 60.23 29.09 -0.28 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

4.66 10.79 14.03 13.87 23.61 

            

PFI & Leases in CFR 75.45 71.70 67.75 63.59 59.20 

PFI & Leases in MRP 3.75 3.95 4.16 4.39 4.64  

 

As such there is a requirement to ensure that net debt (the sum of borrowing 
and other long-term liabilities, net of investments) in 2020-21 does not, except 
in the short term, exceed £618.340m (i.e. the estimated CFR for 2020-21). 
 
External Debt 
 
The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to set two borrowing 
limits for next year and the following two years with respect to external 
borrowing. 
 
Operational Boundary –have to be set for both borrowing and long term 
liabilities. 
 
This measure encompasses all borrowing and is used in-year as a tool for 
monitoring the Council’s prudent borrowing requirements.  The operational 
boundary is calculated by taking account of existing borrowing and long term 
liabilities, planned new borrowing, net change in long term liabilities and any 
amounts set aside for  repayment of debt. 
 
Authorised Limit – this higher measure, is the upper limit on the level of gross 
indebtedness which must not be breached without Council approval.  
 
The Operational Boundary for external debt for the next three years is built up 
from the existing level of external borrowing, which was £313.124m and the 

Page 181



Public 

50 

PHR-1042 

level of relevant liabilities (including finance lease liabilities), which was 
£72.982m, on the Balance Sheet at 31 March 2019. 
 
The Authorised Limit for 2020-21 is to be £847m and the Operational 
Boundary is to be £816m. 
 
Table 3 – Authorised Limit for External Debt 
 

 2019-20 
Estimate 

£m 

2020-21 
Estimate 

£m 

2021-22 
Estimate 

£m 

Authorised limit 
for external debt 

655 847 824 

Operational 
boundary for 
external debt 

625 816 791 

Borrowing 277 273 273 

PFI liabilities 69 74 68    

Total 346 347 341 

 

11 Knowledge and Skills 
 
The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior 
positions with responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and 
investment decisions.  Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and 
skills required, use is made of external advisers and consultants that are 
specialists in their field.  The Council currently employs Arlingclose Limited as 
Treasury Management Advisers.  This approach is more cost effective than 
employing such staff directly, and ensures that the Council has access to 
knowledge and skills commensurate with its risk appetite. 

Page 182



 

1 
 

PUBLIC            Agenda Item No 4e 
 

 
DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
CABINET 

 
23 JANUARY 2020 

 
Report of the Executive Director for Adult Social Care & Health  

 
REVISED VISION AND FUTURE STRATEGY FOR DIRECT CARE HOMES FOR 

OLDER PEOPLE 2020-2025 
 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 
 
 
 

1. Purpose of the Report 
 
Cabinet is asked to consider revised proposals for the future of the Council’s 
Homes for Older People as a result of property condition surveys carried out last 
year which have highlighted the poor state of many of the current buildings. 

Since the condition surveys were commissioned and received, considerable work 
has been undertaken to: 
 

 ensure additional mitigations related to any increased risk associated with the 
need to rewire these homes are implemented such as upgrading fire alarm 
systems and replacing fire doors, as well as increasing the number of night staff 
within these homes for fire evacuation purposes to prevent the need for more 
urgent vacation, 

 develop comprehensive plans for rewiring and refurbishment with a clear 
understanding of anticipated costs, 

 understand future need in line with our overall Housing Strategy for Older people 
and anticipated changes in demand, 

 develop options for consideration by cabinet that take account of the fact that 
works are essential and would need to be undertaken as soon as possible and 
that it is not considered possible to modernise these homes to make them fit for 
purpose. 

 
Having completed this work this report comes before Cabinet today to agree next 
steps. 
 
  

Page 183

Agenda Item 4(e)



 

2 
 

Cabinet are requested to approve: 
 

 The future strategy for Direct Care Homes for Older People for the purposes of 
consultation. 

 Public consultation, including consultation with current residents and their 
families, on the proposed closure of those homes which, following evaluation, 
are proposed for the reasons set out in the report to be unsustainable in the 
long-term. These are as follows (one of which includes an integral day centre): 
o Ladycross House (Sandiacre) 
o Beechcroft (West Hallam) 
o East Clune (Clowne) 
o Holmlea (Tibshelf) 
o The Spinney (Brimington) 
o Goyt Valley House (New Mills) 
o Gernon Manor (Bakewell) 

 

 Consultation with residents and their families on the retention and refurbishment 
of the following homes which will be required in the medium term according to 
the Council’s market evaluation and investment plan:  
o Briar Close (Borrowash) 
o Rowthorne (Swanwick) 
o New Bassett House (Shirebrook) 

 

 The completion of an Equality Impact Analysis on the proposals in this report 
which will be presented to Cabinet on completion of the consultation. 

 Approval for funding for design and feasibility works to be undertaken on the 
three homes which it is proposed to refurbish. 

 Approval for funding to support market management and development activity 
associated with the implementation of the Older People’s Housing, 
Accommodation and Support Strategy 2019-2035 that will seek to create a 
range of housing and accommodation options for older people to meet 
demographic demand. 

 
2. Information and Analysis 
 
2.1 Background 
 
Recent Cabinet decisions can be summarised as follows: 

 June 2017: Evaluation of works required at Hazelwood which includes 
recommendation that the home needs the roof replacing.  

 September 2017: Cabinet approves consultation on proposal to close 
Hazelwood. 

 February 2018: Cabinet considers outcome of consultation on the proposal to 
close Hazelwood and approves that it will close when a new care home is 
built to replace it in the Cotmanhay area. 

Page 184



 

3 
 

 
In 2018, detailed property condition surveys were commissioned in relation to some 
of our residential homes for older people. These related to general building 
condition and electrical systems in the older homes. This was commissioned in the 
context of concerns that these ageing buildings were no longer considered fit for 
purpose and a concern for the state of the buildings given their age and the 
ongoing need to ensure the safety and wellbeing of residents both now and in the 
future. The Director of Social Services (DASS) advised Cabinet Members that an 
appropriate and rapid course of action was needed to mitigate the concerns raised 
and ensure the ongoing safety of residents which is outlined in this paper. Given 
the number of properties potentially unfit for purpose (see section 2.8 below) an 
approach that looked at homes on an individual basis was deemed insufficient. 
 
In addition, in July 2018, a bath installation at Ladycross residential home caused 
the electrical system to fail which had meant residents had to be urgently 
evacuated. It was vital to avoid a repetition of such disruption to people’s lives and 
to understand in the fullest possible way the extent of the need for any significant 
repairs or refurbishment required. 
 
Significant refurbishment needs were identified consistent with the age of the 
properties. In particular this included the need for the homes to be rewired in the 
near future as a priority, given the risks that can be associated with any electrical 
failure.  
 
The overall picture that emerged from the work was of a pressing need to address 
the refurbishment and rewiring requirements of the properties surveyed. 
Consideration was given to whether vacation of the properties should be 
immediate. However, to avoid this it was determined that a programme of works 
could be undertaken to adequately mitigate the risks associated with the need to 
rewire the homes and this programme of work is underway and due for completion 
by May 2020. This has meant a more planned approach can be undertaken. 
 
It remains the case that the evidence is that the council is in possession of a 
number of homes, with electrical wiring and other refurbishment issues that needed 
to be addressed with some urgency, but also which are not fit for purpose in terms 
of modern care standards (see 2.8) and could not be modernised to meet those 
standards irrespective of willingness and availability of resources to fund any 
refurbishment. 
 
There are in total 23 Council run Homes for Older People and Community Care 
Centres. For reference, attached as Appendix 1, is a map indicating the 
approximate location of each establishment.  
 
In June 2015, Cabinet approved a Direct Care Strategy for Accommodation, Care 
and Support for Older People and this detailed a plan to close several council 
owned homes for older people and the Ecclesfold short-term/respite care centre in 

Page 185



 

4 
 

Chapel en-le Frith. In addition to the five homes which closed following consultation 
activity linked to the 2015 Direct Care Strategy for Accommodation, Care and 
Support for Older People, a further report was presented to Cabinet in October 
2016 that approved the closure of Ada Belfield Home for Older People in Belper as 
and when a new Council run care home is constructed and opened in the town. 
This new care home is anticipated to open in Spring 2020. 
 
The 2015 strategy also made provision for £4.200m capital funding to be available 
for the refurbishment of the remaining Council run homes for older people. Over the 
past few years, a programme of maintenance and refurbishment has been 
undertaken at a number of establishments, utilising this capital funding alongside 
the Planned Maintenance Programme allocation (PMP) which is managed by the 
Council’s Corporate Property Team. Through this programme, priority was given to 
those homes for older people in most urgent need of work. To date, major 
programmes of maintenance and refurbishment have been undertaken at 
Rowthorne (Swanwick) and The Leys (Ashbourne). In addition, there has been a 
programme of refurbishment of sluices, toilets, replacement of assisted baths, fire 
alarms and call systems.  
 
In planning the programme of refurbishment and maintenance it became clear that 
more work was required at each establishment than was anticipated in the 2015 
strategy evaluation. For example, the original costings for refurbishment work at 
Hazelwood was outlined to Cabinet in June 2015 as £0.729m but this actually rose 
to in excess of £2.000m when all works and the loss of income due to the potential 
partial closure of the home were taken into account. As of December 2019, there is 
now approximately £1.000m of the initial £4.200m allocation for major maintenance 
and repair work remaining.  
 
In addition to the 2015 strategy consultation, there has also been consultation on 
the proposal to close Hazelwood, and subsequently Cabinet agreed in February 
2018 that the home would close when a new Council run care home had been built 
on a site in the Cotmanhay area. Subsequently this led to the development of plans 
for a new residential care home and extra care housing scheme to be constructed 
on the site of the former Bennerley School. 
 
2.2 Strategic context 

In October 2018 Cabinet approved the ‘Housing and Accommodation for an Ageing 
Population: A Strategic Vision for Derbyshire 2035’. This needs analysis was further 
developed in conjunction with district and borough councils and an ‘Older People’s 
Housing, Accommodation and Support Commissioning Strategy 2019-2035’ was 
drafted and approved by Cabinet in May 2019. It outlines a strategic vision which 
states that ‘Derbyshire is a place that meets the housing needs and aspirations of 
older people, but working in partnership across organisations. This is so that older 
people can make informed choices about their housing options to support their 
independence and enable them to live in a safe, accessible and warm home for as 

Page 186



 

5 
 

long as they wish, with support and adaptations as required. A range of housing 
options will be available including support services and specialist housing’. The 
strategy supports the Council Plan action to provide ‘support for people to live at 
home longer’ and reduce the number of people who need residential or nursing 
care.  The strategy also supports the Council Plan ambition to ‘focus on prevention 
and early intervention’. 

The commissioning strategy sets out analysis of the future anticipated need for 
housing and accommodation for older people based on projected demographic 
trends and provides detailed demand modelling across the age designated 
housing, housing with care, residential and nursing care sectors. Appendix 2 sets 
out a summary of the strategy analysis in relation to the anticipated need for 
residential care provision to 2035. 
 
The strategy also outlines associated actions that will enable a person to remain at 
home with care and support, as well as a number of design and quality standards 
we would encourage new schemes, or existing provision be re-shaped, to meet. 
This includes Dementia friendly design standards and design features that supports 
active ageing.  
 
In addition to implementing this strategy, the Council will be embarking on an 
ambitious programme of care pathway redesign which will re-focus support 
arrangements on to ‘what clients need’ rather than ‘what services are available’. It 
is anticipated that this programme of work will result in potentially fewer people than 
projected in the current commissioning strategy modelling being admitted to 
residential care as a long-term admission. Consideration of the implementation of 
the pathway redesign was subject to an Equality Impact Analysis which concluded 
that: 
 
“…. people of all ages are in receipt of support, but that the support can often be 
restrictive and not sufficiently person centred or focussed on meeting the 
individual’s preferred outcomes, for a variety of reasons. 
 
By assessing more consistently across Derbyshire to promote independence and 
reduce reliance on formal care we will significantly improve the whole life outcomes 
for many people.” (Older Adults and Whole Life Disability Equitable Pathways 
Equality Impact Analysis July 2019)  
 
The care pathway redesign programme links to the findings of the latest evidence 
provided in the current Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) for Derbyshire. The 
JSNA is an ongoing process, drawing together information in order to forecast the 
main health and wellbeing needs of Derbyshire people over the next 15 years. It 
provides a snapshot of the current health and wellbeing of Derbyshire’s residents 
and considers the whole population, not just those who receive health and care 
services. The JSNA evidence base supports service re-design to ensure demand is 

Page 187



 

6 
 

met and health inequalities are identified. The JSNA also provides a framework for 
planning across services and agencies to deliver more cost effective services.  
The JSNA states that the number of older people in Derbyshire who are supported 
in residential and nursing care is higher than both the national average and when 
compared to similar other local authorities. This is an Adult Social Care Outcome 
Framework (ASCOF) key performance indicator which is set by the Department of 
Health and Social Care. For Derbyshire the number of people aged over 65 who 
are supported in residential and nursing care is 696.6 per 100,000 population, as 
compared to 575.5 in the rest of England and 582.3 in other similar local 
authorities. 
 
In line with the vision outlined in the commissioning strategy and evidence from the 
JSNA, the Council needs to plan for what housing, accommodation and support 
services will be required in the medium and longer term. The council is seeking to 
shift investment to more community based alternatives, such as housing with care 
provision and manage the wider residential and nursing care market across the 
county. The Council intends during the consultation period to engage further with 
the market as to the ability of private, voluntary and independent sector providers to 
meet the anticipated level of demand.  
 
2.3 Residential and Nursing Care Home Market Management  
 
The Care Act (2014) outlines a range of duties the local authority has in relation to 
market shaping. Market shaping is an activity to understand the local market of care 
providers. Local authorities work with a range of stakeholders from the public, 
private, independent and voluntary sector to stimulate a diverse range of care and 
support services to ensure that people and their carers have choice over how their 
needs are met and that they are able to achieve the things that are important to 
them. The objective of market shaping is to ensure that the care market as a whole 
remains vibrant and stable. 
 
Therefore, the ongoing engagement and involvement by the Council with the wider 
housing and care provider sector will also help deliver the aims and ambitions of 
the Older People’s Housing, Accommodation and Support Commissioning Strategy 
2019-2035. This will include engaging with a number of housing providers, who 
may be particularly well placed to help deliver against the projected net 
undersupply of housing with care provision. Whilst there is a need for further 
discussion with providers, at this stage it is anticipated that sufficient alternative 
provision to residential care will be available to meet additional need. Further 
details on the proposed activity to develop the market is outlined in Appendix 3. The 
proposed activity set out in appendix 3 will be co-produced with people who use 
services and any actions resulting from this activity will be subject to consultation 
separate to the proposals within this report. 
 
 
 

Page 188



 

7 
 

2.4 Direct Care’s role within the market 
 
Direct Care provision currently plays a key role in the local care market in 
Derbyshire as the largest sole supplier of residential care beds. The Direct Care 
homes for older people and Community Care Centres can play an important role in 
the wider market by fulfilling the following function: 
 

 Providing specialist long-term care placements for people living with Dementia 

 Working in partnership with NHS colleagues to provide rehabilitation and  
re-ablement support via Community Support Bed provision commissioned by 
Derby and Derbyshire Clinical Commissioning Group (these often require 
additional space due to the increased need for moving and handling equipment). 

 Providing respite care or short breaks for carers. 

 Jointly working with health services via Place Alliances or other locality working 
arrangements. 

 Providing a limited amount of long-term care placements to assist with the 
authorities wider market management function under the Care Act (2014).  

 
It is therefore important that any decisions regarding the future provision of Direct 
Care homes for older people are considered within the wider market and that the 
Council uses our resources to best effect where there is either a geographical gap 
in provision, or alternatively a specific service where council run services are best 
placed to deliver that provision.  
 
2.5 Evaluation of current Direct Care service provision 
 
A range of criteria needs to be taken into account when determining which Direct 
Care homes for older people are required in the medium and longer term. The 
following criteria, summarised in the bullet points below, form the basis of the more 
detailed evaluation summary provided in the subsequent sections of this report and 
upon which the recommendations and the proposed consultation have been made.  
 
In summary the evaluation criteria considered includes: 
 

 The physical condition of the buildings, works required and urgency of those 
works as outlined in section 2.6 below.  

 The strategic need for services on a locality basis, focussing the services on 
delivering the vision for Direct Care, which is described in section 2.13 of this 
report, and the supporting commissioning intelligence about future need and the 
wider market provision now and in the future as detailed in the Older People’s 
Housing, Accommodation and Support commissioning strategy. Further details 
are outlined in section 2.7 below. 

 The fitness for purpose of each building when considering the future strategic 
need for Direct Care services in each area. This criteria is based on different 
elements of the building design and facilities available within the home, which 

Page 189



 

8 
 

are required in order to deliver high quality services in line with the Council’s 
vision for Direct Care homes. Further details are provided in section 2.8 below. 

 The quality of service being provided at each home and other operational 
considerations (for example staff vacancy levels and use of agency staff) which 
is based in part on current Care Quality Commission (CQC) ratings for each 
home. Further details are provided in section 2.9 below. 

 
As is detailed later in the report the proposals made in the report are primarily 
based on an assessment of the first and second criteria i.e. physical condition and 
the strategic need for continuing provision. However, the other factors set out 
above have also been taken into account. 
 
2.6 Physical condition of the buildings 
 
To inform the evaluation of the homes a programme of building facet surveys was 
undertaken by Faithful and Gould between November 2018 and January 2019 on 
the Council’s Homes for Older People which were constructed more than ten years 
ago. In total this involved surveys being undertaken on fifteen of the Council’s 
homes: Ladycross (Sandiacre), Beechcroft (West Hallam), Briar Close (Borrowash), 
Rowthorne (Swanwick), Holmlea (Tibshelf), New Bassett House (Shirebrook), East 
Clune (Clowne), Thomas Colledge House (Bolsover), The Spinney (Brimington), 
The Grange (Eckington), Goyt Valley House (New Mills), Whitestones (Chapel en-le 
Frith), Gernon Manor (Bakewell), The Leys (Ashbourne), Castle Court (Castle 
Gresley). 
 
The six Community Care Centres have been constructed in the last ten years so 
were not included in the facet survey programme as these buildings have been 
constructed to more modern standards of design and construction.  
 
Two homes for older people were excluded from the facet survey programme - Ada 
Belfield and Hazelwood. As outlined in section 2.1 of this report decisions have 
already been taken by Cabinet and they are due to be closed when new homes 
have been constructed. 
 
The surveys were commissioned for two main reasons: 
 
a) The condition surveys, which were undertaken as part of the 2015 Strategy, are 

now considered out of date and it would be misleading to use these as the basis 
for decisions about what further works are required.  

b) There was concern that electrical wiring systems in homes for older people 
required attention following the full evacuation of Ladycross in July 2018 due to 
safety concerns and subsequent re-wiring work which took place to enable 
residents to move back into the home. 

   
The facet surveys were undertaken by Faithful and Gould in order to provide an 
independent analysis of the work required. In addition an electrical system 

Page 190



 

9 
 

inspection also took place and the results of the two surveys were collated into a 
single report for each establishment. The surveys took account of the age of: 
 

 building components,  

 the industry standard timescale for replacement or refurbishment,  

 a visual inspection of each component (where possible), and,  

 estimated costs for the replacement or refurbishment of each component.  
 
Estimated design fees and contingencies were also factored in alongside an 
estimated additional cost for the phasing of works in order to prevent the need for a 
full evacuation of the home whilst major works were undertaken. Finally, in order to 
give a full representation of the work schedule and potential costs of loss of income, 
works were grouped into ‘projects’ linked to any major works which were essentially 
required.  Following completion of the surveys a number of key priorities for work 
relating to electrical re-wiring were identified.  
 
Seven homes, were identified as needing rewiring as soon as possible and these 
are:  
 

 East Clune (Clowne) 

 The Spinney (Brimington) 

 Goyt Valley House (New Mills) 

 Ladycross (Sandiacre) 

 Beechcroft (West Hallam) 

 Holmlea (Tibshelf) 

 New Bassett House (Shirebrook) 
 
On further evaluation by officers of the Council it became clear that due to the age 
of the buildings and the poor state of electrical systems three more homes need 
rewiring, and these are: 
 

 Rowthorne (Swanwick) 

 Briar Close (Borrowash) 

 Gernon Manor (Bakewell) 
 
In order to mitigate any increased risks associated with the need to rewire these 
homes the Council has arranged for essential works to be undertaken, such as 
upgrading fire alarm systems and replacing fire doors, as well as increasing the 
number of night staff within these homes. The financial implications of these 
measures are set out later in the report in section 4. 
 
Below is a summary of the costs by year, by individual establishment, based on the 
highest priority works being undertaken as soon as necessary: 
 

Page 191



 

10 
 

 
 
It should be noted that these facet costs are estimates as at May 2019 and are not 
likely to fully reflect the actual costs of refurbishment.  
 
2.7 Strategic Need and locality analysis 
 
This criteria utilises the analysis of future need outlined in the Older People’s 
Housing, Accommodation Strategy, as summarised in Appendix 2, to identify 
factors in relation to the local market and future demographic trends in a particular 
geographical locality. From this an assessment has been made about the 
importance of supporting the wider market and the needs of the local population in 
relation to maintaining an appropriate amount of residential care provision to be 
operated by the Council.  
 
2.8 Fitness for purpose 
 
In order to deliver the vision for Direct Care homes there is a minimum “fit for 
purpose” requirement in terms of facilities and space. The Health and Social Care 
Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014 (Regulation 15: Premises and 
equipment) and the associated guidance set out the minimum requirements for 
care homes built after this date. A number of the Council’s older homes do not meet 
these requirements and as such, whilst they are not in breach of the regulations, 
the Council believes that the physical environment in these homes is not conducive 
to providing high quality care to the residents.   
 
The Council has worked closely with the Stirling University Dementia Services 
Development Centre to refine the design of newer care homes in order to ensure 
that they are ‘Dementia friendly by design’. Key design principles include: 
 

 Bedrooms that have 12 square meters of useable space 

Page 192



 

11 
 

 En-suite bathroom facilities  

 Sufficient disabled accessible toilet facilities 

 Accessible outdoor space for residents 

 Dementia friendly design, including building layout, lighting and signage 
   

All six Community Care Centres all meet this minimum requirement, namely:  
  

 Staveley Centre (Chesterfield)  

 Meadow View (Darley Dale) 

 Oakland (Swadlincote) 

 Florence Shipley (Heanor) 

 Thomas Fields (Buxton) 

 Lacemaker Court (Long Eaton) 
 

The following existing homes for older people also meet this requirement: 
 

 Thomas Colledge (Bolsover) 

 Whitestones (Chapel en le Frith) 

 Castle Court (Castle Gresley) 

 The Grange (Eckington) 
 

In addition, the new homes which are being constructed at Ada Belfield (Belper) 
and the Bennerley Fields Scheme in Cotmanhay, Ilkeston meet the requirement. 
 
Eleven homes for older people do not meet these design requirements and these 
are: 
 

 Ladycross (Long Eaton) 

 Beechcroft (West Hallam) 

 Briar Close (Borrowash) 

 Rowthorne (Swanwick) 

 Holmlea (Tibshelf) 

 East Clune (Clowne) 

 New Bassett House (Shirebrook) 

 The Spinney (Brimington) 

 Goyt Valley House (New Mills) 

 Gernon Manor (Bakewell) 

 The Leys (Ashbourne) 
 
2.9 Quality and Compliance 
 
Ensuring a high quality service is important to Direct Care and the Council need to 
consider how we can effectively deliver this in the future in light of reducing budgets 
and workforce issues: 

Page 193



 

12 
 

 A number of homes are struggling to recruit sufficient staff, this remains an 
ongoing concern and has an impact on quality. This relates to management 
posts in some homes, care staff and kitchen staff in particular. 

 Maintaining and improving quality and compliance with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) regulations is an ongoing and growing challenge which 
requires ongoing and increasing investment to maintain standards.  

 Maintaining building quality and standards is essential in order to comply with 
infection control, fire safety and environmental health requirements. 

 There is an ongoing requirement to replace kitchen ventilation systems in some 
homes which is a statutory requirement. 
 

The current CQC ratings for each of the homes under consideration in this report 
are included within Appendix 4 but these have not been used directly to inform the 
proposals about individual homes. The Council maintains its objective to ensure all 
of the homes which it directly operates achieve a “Good” rating and will continue to 
strive to achieve this. 
 
2.10 Interpreting the evaluation criteria 
 
Appendix 4 contains a summary of all of the criteria outlined above and this 
analysis has been used to inform decision making about which homes the Council 
is proposing to retain and which homes it is proposing to close, subject to the 
outcome of consultation. The most important criteria we have used are the 
following: 
 

 The cost of works required within the next five years as identified in the facet 
surveys, this also indicates the general condition of the building. 

 The availability of other Direct Care homes in the locality in line with the strategic 
approach for Direct Care described in 2.12 below. 

 
Of the other criteria only “Fitness for Purpose” has been directly used to inform the 
recommendations in this report and this has been on the basis of a distinction 
between those which are considered to be fit for purpose and those which are 
considered not to be. Whilst the other criteria have been evaluated as part of 
developing the proposals they have not been used in making the 
recommendations. The reason for this is that with the “Quality” and “Efficiency” 
considerations for each home there are a number of external factors which 
influence and affect these which mean that they are not helpful when comparing 
one home with another. 
 
2.11 Proposal to consult on closure 
 
The proposal to consult on possible closure of some of the Council’s Homes for 
Older People is based on the following conclusions from the information presented 
within this report: 
 

Page 194



 

13 
 

 The Council will be seeking to offer alternatives to residential care through 
increased community based services and via engaging with the market in 
relation to the identified undersupply of housing with care provision to 2035. 

 A number of the homes managed by the Council are no longer fit for the purpose 
they were originally designed for in that they do not have the space, facilities or 
capability to be adapted to meet the needs of increasingly frail older people. 

 A number of the homes require significant expenditure in the short and medium-
term in order to address urgent maintenance and refurbishment issues. This 
includes rewiring, heating/boiler replacement, roof works, fire safety 
improvements and kitchen ventilation works which cannot be delayed 
indefinitely.   

 Significant expenditure on those homes which there is diminishing strategic 
need for and which are not fit for purpose is not the best use of public money. 

     
In devising the proposals in this report other options have been considered but 
discounted. In broad terms keeping all of the Direct Care homes open and 
undertaking the works required is not viewed as being the best use of public money 
and it is thought that as alternatives to residential care are developed fewer care 
homes will be required in the longer term. The Council therefore believes that 
retaining some, but not all, of the homes for older people and community care 
centres will be sufficient in the longer term to meet the strategic need. 
 
2.12 Revised strategy for Direct Care Homes for Older People 
 
Under this proposed strategy the Council would retain the Community Care Centres 
and more modern care homes plus sufficient other care homes to ensure a 
minimum of one Community Care Centre and one residential care home for older 
people in each locality. The exception to this is that it is proposed to treat the North 
Eastern area of Derbyshire (Chesterfield/Bolsover/North East Derbyshire) as a 
combined locality, due to its relatively close geography, with this locality having one 
specialist Community Care Centre and two residential homes for older people. This 
means that by area the following homes and Community Care Centres continue to 
operate: 
 
North Eastern area 

 Staveley Centre (Chesterfield)  

 Thomas Colledge (Bolsover) 

 The Grange (Eckington) 
 

Derbyshire Dales 

 Meadow View  Community Care Centre (Darley Dale) 

 The Leys (Ashbourne) 
 

Erewash 

 Lacemaker Court  Community Care Centre (Long Eaton)  

 Hazelwood (Cotmanhay to be replaced by a new home in May 2022) 

Page 195



 

14 
 

 
South Derbyshire 

 Oakland Community Care Centre  (Swadlincote) 

 Castle Court 
 

Amber Valley 

 Florence Shipley Community Care Centre  (Heanor) 

 Ada Belfield (Belper to be replaced by a new home in April 2020) 
 

High Peak 

 Thomas Fields Community Care Centre (Buxton) 

 Whitestones (Chapel en le Frith) 
 

There are therefore ten homes which the Council feels need to be reviewed in 
respect of their medium and long-term future which are as follows: 
 
North Eastern area 

 East Clune (Clowne) 

 Holmlea (Tibshelf) 

 New Bassett House (Shirebrook) 

 The Spinney (Brimington) 
 
Erewash 

 Ladycross House (Sandiacre) 

 Briar Close (Borrowash) 

 Beechcroft (West Hallam) 
  
Amber Valley 

 Rowthorne (Swanwick) 
 
High Peak 

 Goyt Valley House (New Mills) 
 
Derbyshire Dales 

 Gernon Manor (Bakewell) 
 

Based on the evaluation criteria set out in this report, and summarised as Appendix 
4, the Council is proposing to close the following homes as soon as possible. If 
approved, following the consultation period, it is recommended that the closures 
take place in a phased way in order that appropriate planning and alternative 
arrangements can be made for residents living in these homes. The phasing will 
also allow for the further development of alternatives in the locality which will 
ensure that the care market is not destabilised. The proposed phases are: 
 

Page 196



 

15 
 

 Phase 1 – homes identified for immediate closure (subject to the outcome of 
consultation) 
East Clune, The Spinney, Ladycross House, Beechcroft 

 Phase 2 - closure as soon as possible (subject to the outcome of consultation) 
Holmlea, Goyt Valley House, Gernon Manor 

 
In order to assess the wider impact of these proposed changes, Appendix 6 models 
the potential wider market impact if the beds at the above identified homes are 
removed from the modelling utilised in the Older People’s Housing, Accommodation 
and Support Commissioning Strategy 2018-2035. The demand modelling is based 
on analysis of future demographic trends in the population aged 75 and over. This 
modelling does not currently take into account any pathway redesign activity that 
may reduce demand for residential care home placements across the county by 25 
to 40 per cent by 2025, nor does it factor in any other changes within the market 
that may take place, such as a Private, Voluntary or Independent Sector (PVI) 
residential care home closure.  
 
If the proposals in this report are approved following consultation residents in the 
affected homes will have an up-to-date care and support assessment and care plan 
devised which takes account of any health conditions or other specific 
considerations prior to any transfer taking place. Residents and their families will be 
supported to make a choice about which alternative home they wish to move to and 
as far as possible this will be in an area local to the home in which they currently 
live. The Councils Pledges to Residents are set out in appendix 5 and the full 
arrangements are described in the Major Change and Closure Guidance which is 
attached as appendix 7. 
 
2.13 Proposal to refurbish 
 
In consideration of the modelling in the Older People’s Housing, Accommodation 
and Support Commissioning Strategy it is clear that in order to effectively manage 
and support the wider residential care home market, in line with demographic 
trends, some Direct Care capacity will be required at least until 2025. With this in 
mind it is proposed that a programme of refurbishment is undertaken on three 
homes as soon as possible.  
 
The works to be undertaken would include full rewiring, other statutory works (e.g. 
kitchen ventilation replacement if required etc.), works related to the Technical Fire 
Risk Assessments (improvements to emergency lighting and compartmentation) 
and other priority works for the next five years as identified in the facet surveys. 
Once the work is completed there will also be a need to undertake redecoration, 
including the replacement of carpets. 
 
In order to undertake the work required to refurbish the homes the buildings will 
need to be not fully occupied. The Council believes that works can be carried out 
with some residents in situ, however it is recognised that the work will be disruptive 

Page 197



 

16 
 

to residents if they are to remain living in the home whilst work is undertaken. On 
this basis it is proposed that during consultation residents and their families, in all 
three of the homes which are proposed for refurbishment will be given the option of 
either moving out or staying whilst work is undertaken.  
 
In order to progress the refurbishment of those homes which it is proposed are 
retained in the medium term it is recommended that funding is approved to facilitate 
design and feasibility prior to finalising the full programme of works required on 
these three homes. 
 
2.14 Vacation plan 
 
Depending on what choice is made by individuals this might mean social work staff 
would need to meet with residents and their families in order to arrange alternative 
care home placements in the locality in preparation for the refurbishment work 
commencing. This would need to start three months before the work commences in 
order to afford time for residents and their families to make choices as far as 
possible about where they would wish to move to during the time when the work is 
undertaken. It is anticipated that residents will be supported to return to the 
respective home once work is completed if they wish to do so.  
 
2.15 Risks 
 
There are a number of risk factors associated with this report which need to be 
taken in to account, most notably the following: 
 

 Delaying rewiring works leads to an increased risk of failure of electrical systems 
or components, potentially increasing the risk of a fire and/or the need to 
evacuate homes immediately. 

 Current mitigation arrangements include additional staffing at night in the homes 
which require rewiring which is costly and difficult to sustain indefinitely. 

 The care home market position can change quickly potentially leading to a 
shortfall in care home capacity. 

 
All of the current identified risks are being monitored and mitigated on an ongoing 
basis.  
 
3. Consultation plan 
 
If this report is approved it is proposed that formal public consultation will 
commence on 31 January 2020 and last for 12 weeks ending on 24 April 2020. This 
consultation will be for all of the seven homes which are proposed for closure and 
for those three homes which are proposed for retention and refurbishment.  
 
There will be three consultation and engagement events for each establishment, of 
which two events will be held at the individual home for residents, their families and 

Page 198



 

17 
 

friends (one event in the daytime and one event in the evening) and a further one 
event for the public will be held at a local accessible building, such as a library or 
community centre. At these events residents, family members, carers and local 
residents will be able to give feedback on the proposals outlined in this report. The 
consultation will include views on the evaluation criteria which have been used to 
form the basis of the proposals within this report. Where appropriate one to one 
consultation with affected residents and their families will also be considered. In 
addition public views on the programme of proposed closures will be sought via a 
questionnaire. 
 
As previously stated, focussed consultation will also be undertaken in respect of the 
homes where refurbishment work is planned to take place, engagement will take 
place to ascertain whether residents wish to remain in the home whilst 
refurbishment work is undertaken.  
 
It is anticipated that once consultation has been completed and an Equality Impact 
Analysis has been undertaken a further report will be presented to Cabinet on the 
outcome. Dependent upon the outcome of the decision at that time a broad time 
line for events following this would be: 
 

 May 2020: Cabinet receives a report on the outcome of consultation 

 June 2020: if the proposals are agreed reviews and assessments of residents in 
the phase 1 homes would commence 

 September 2020: depending on the outcome of the report to Cabinet following 
consultation, the phase 1 homes would close if all of the residents have been 
relocated 

 September 2020: depending on the outcome of the Cabinet report, review the 
position of the phase 2 homes to consider the timescale for closure for these 
homes  

 January 2021: work would commence on the homes being refurbished 

 June 2021: if the proposals are agreed and subject to the review of the timeline 
in September 2020, reviews and assessments of residents in the phase 2 
homes would commence 

 September 2021: depending on the outcome of the report to Cabinet following 
consultation, the phase 2 homes would close if all of the residents have been 
relocated 
 

Activity will take place in line with the Council’s “Major Change and Closure 
Guidance” and attached as Appendix 5 is the Council’s pledges to residents and 
their families about the way the Council will support people affected by a home 
closure, should this be the outcome following consultation. 
 
4. Financial Considerations 
 
The following costs have been based on a phased timetable as outlined in this 
report in relation to the refurbishment of three homes and the possible closure of 

Page 199



 

18 
 

seven care homes. The total budget available for the proposals considered in this 
report is £30.000m which will be used for both the capital and revenue costs. This 
will be funded from Adult Social Care and Health earmarked reserves. The costs 
associated with the refurbishment of three homes as outlined in the report are 
based on two options: option 1 is for the full vacation of the three care homes to be 
refurbished whilst with option 2 the residents would remain in situ as the work is 
undertaken.  
 
Under option 1 there is a small surplus from the £30.000m resource available and 
option 2 shows a saving of £2.100m as there would be no requirement to arrange 
alternative residential care placements for residents whilst the refurbishment work is 
carried out in the 3 homes. 
 
A sum of £5.000m has been set aside for contingency which forms part of the 
£30.000m that may be required for both capital and revenue use. The capital costs 
may vary considerably once the work commences which has been the case with 
previous renovations of this scale and nature. The revenue costs may change if the 
timetable slips considerably during the implementation phase.   
 
4.1 Capital costs 
 
The capital costs for the three homes to be refurbished is estimated to be 
£11.475m with residents remaining in situ whilst work is carried out.  These costs 
include upfront design fees of £1.000m, costs associated with additional fire safety 
arrangements and the cost of refurbishment of the three homes. Fire alarm and fire 
door replacement is estimated to be £1.350m in all of the 12 homes which need 
rewiring.  
 
4.2 Revenue costs  
 
The revenue costs for the fire safety mitigations are estimated to be £3.800m for 
the duration of the proposed programme. The costs relate to additional night staff in 
the 12 homes which need rewiring. There will be additional costs of security, 
furniture removal and storage and undertaking the consultation which are estimated 
to be £0.500m. The costs of redundancy are estimated to be £1.545m as a one off 
if the seven homes close as outlined in the report.  
 
There will be up to 214 beds required in the independent sector for residents to 
move to if the proposed closure programme is undertaken following consultation. 
The ongoing costs of this would be an estimated £6.700 million based on an 
average weekly cost of £600 per placement. The budget available as a result of the 
proposed closure programme for the seven homes will be in the region of £7.300m, 
realising a surplus if this were to happen of £1.100m per annum on an ongoing 
basis. The savings and number of beds required in the independent sector may 
change as the Better Lives programme is implemented and the pathway redesign 

Page 200



 

19 
 

for older people to remain within their own homes for as long as possible is 
delivered. 
 
4.3 Additional programme costs 
 
As outlined in Appendix 3 the council intends to undertake a number of activities to 
support the development of the market within Derbyshire, particularly in relation to 
housing with care provision. The total anticipated cost of this activity is £0.150m 
and includes provision to support, if required, recruitment of staff to a virtual project 
team. 
 
5. Equality Considerations 
 
The Council has a duty to recognise and mitigate the impact of any changes it 
proposes upon people in protected groups. The proposals in this report affect older 
and disabled people living in residential care homes.  
 
There are 266 residents living in the ten homes (as at 9 December 2019) of which 
252 are in long term placements. Of the total number 194 are women and 72 are 
men; 182 are over 85 years old, 79 are between 65 and 84 years old and 5 are 
under 65; 258 are white British, 3 are from other white backgrounds, 5 peoples 
ethnic origin is not stated or not known.  
 
The Council will take account of the challenges which the people affected by the 
proposals in this report face both in terms of participation in the consultation and in 
ensuring that the impact of any changes is mitigated if they are to be implemented. 
In terms of accessibility the consultation meetings will take place in the care homes 
themselves or in accessible buildings local to the home. Family and friends will be 
invited to participate in the consultation and advocacy services will be arranged for 
people who require them. In terms of the impact of the changes if they are to be 
implemented attached as appendix 7 is the Council’s “Major Change and Closure 
Guidance” which sets out the arrangements which will be made if a decision is 
made to close a home. Also attached as appendix 5 are The Pledges which the 
Council will make to residents and their families if a decision is made to close a 
home. 
 
A full Equality Impact Analysis will be undertaken and this will be reported to 
Cabinet on the completion of the consultation on the proposals in this report.  
 
6. Human Resources Considerations 
 
Any workforce implications arising from the proposals will be the subject of further 
reports on the conclusion of public consultation. Staff will be included in the public 
consultation. 
 
  

Page 201



 

20 
 

7. Legal Considerations 
 

The Care Act 2014 imposes a general duty on local authorities to promote an 
individual’s well-being (section 1 Care Act 2014).  
 
‘Well-being’ is a broad concept but particular reference is made to an individual’s 
control over day-to day life (including over care and support and the way in which it 
is provided) and also the suitability of living accommodation (section 1 (2) (d) & (h) 
Care Act 2014).  
 
Local authorities must promote diversity and quality in the provision of services. 
There is a duty to promote the efficient and effective operation of the market, which 
includes ensuring that there is a variety of high quality services and providers to 
choose from (section 5 Care Act 2014). 
  
An assessment of needs must be carried out where it appears to the local authority 
that a person may have needs for care and support. The assessment must identify 
whether the adult has any eligible needs. If there are, the assessment must state 
what those needs are. (Section 9(1), CA 2014.) A Local authority must also assess 
any carer (current or prospective) where it appears they may have need for 
support. 
  
After assessing what the needs of an adult or carer are, a Local Authority must 
consider whether the needs meet the eligibility criteria for a provision or service 
(section 13(1), CA 2014). The criteria does not specify the types of care and 
support that a LA must provide to meet eligible needs. Prior to any individual 
moving accommodation, their needs assessment and care and support plan should 
be reviewed.  In offering alternative accommodation the local authority should have 
regard to the Care and Support (Choice of Accommodation) Regulations 2014. 
Proposals to make significant changes in service provision require consultation with 
the public and those directly affected, including service users, staff and carers and 
relevant stakeholders. 
 
Following the consultation set out in the report Members will need to take careful 
account of the views expressed in arriving at their decision. In addition any final 
decisions must also take into account the rights of service users as set out in the 
Human Rights Act 1998, specifically Article 8, “Right to respect for private and 
family life”.  
 
In assessing these proposals, the Council should also have regard to its statutory 
duties under the Care Act 2014 set out above and the Public Sector Equality Duty. 
(PSED) under the Equality Act 2010. 
 
  

Page 202

https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/6-606-4525?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/2-607-1207?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=(sc.Default)


 

21 
 

The PSED requires public authorities to have "due regard" to: 
 

 The need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010 (section 149(1a)). 

 The need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it (section 
149(1b)). This involves having due regard to the needs to: 
o remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 
o take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it 
(section 149(4)); and  

o encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low.  
 

Preliminary consideration has been given to the impact of the proposals on persons 
with protected characteristics in drawing up these proposals. In particular it is 
recognised that the methods and content of the consultation will need to be 
designed so as to fully reflect the needs of the relevant protected groups, in 
particular older people and disabled people. 
 
In addition regard has been paid to the Equality Impact Analysis (EIA) carried out in 
respect of the care pathway redesigns as is referred to in the report. A full EIA will 
be prepared during the consultation process reflecting issues that are raised during 
the consultation process. This will be reported in full to cabinet and a full copy of the 
EIA made available to Members in order that any adverse impact along with any 
potential mitigation can be fully assessed. Cabinet members will be reminded at 
that time of the need to have careful regard to the conclusions of the EIA. 
 
8. Other Considerations 

 
In preparing this report the relevance of the following factors has been considered: 
health, environmental, transport, property and crime and disorder considerations. 
 
9. Background Papers 
 
Older People’s Housing, Accommodation and Support: a commissioning strategy 
for Derbyshire 2019-2035 
 
Market Position Statement for Older People’s nursing, residential, extra care 
and homecare services 
 
Older Adults and Whole Life Disability Equitable Pathways Equality Impact Analysis 
July 2019 
 

Page 203



 

22 
 

10. Key Decision  
 

No 
 

11. Is it required that the Call-in period be waived in respect of the  
 decisions being proposed within this report?                     
 

No 
 
12. Summary of Advice from Director of Social Services (DASS). 
 
For the avoidance of any doubt it is my view that the refurbishment work referred to 
in the report is essential. However, the homes proposed for closure are not fit for 
purpose by modern standards and cannot be modernised to make them fit for 
purpose (2.8) and are not likely to be needed in the longer term (2.2). 
 
The consultation proposals set out below have sought to balance a number of risks 
(2.16) including the need to acknowledge that these are people’s long term homes 
against the need to reduce the risks associated with living in a home where 
electrical wiring needs replacing. Whilst mitigations are in place to reduce the risk of 
harm in the event of any fire to an acceptable level (2.6)  these are not a viable  
long-term solution and the risks of any fire occurring cannot be totally eliminated  
without the wiring being replaced. 
 
13. Officer’s Recommendation 
 
That Cabinet approves: 
 

 The revised future strategy for Direct Care Homes for Older People   

 Consultation on the proposed closure of those homes which, following 
evaluation, are proposed for the reasons set out in the report to be 
unsustainable in the long-term. These are as follows (one of which includes an 
integral day centre): 
o Ladycross House (Sandiacre) 
o Beechcroft (West Hallam) 
o East Clune (Clowne) 
o Holmlea (Tibshelf) 
o The Spinney (Brimington) 
o Goyt Valley House (New Mills) 
o Gernon Manor (Bakewell) 

 

 Consultation with residents and their families on the retention and refurbishment 
of the following homes which will be required in the medium term according to 
the Council’s market evaluation and investment plan:  
o Briar Close (Borrowash) 
o Rowthorne (Swanwick) 

Page 204



 

23 
 

o New Bassett House (Shirebrook) 
 

 Approval for funding for design and feasibility works to be undertaken on the 
three homes which it is proposed to refurbish 

 Approval for funding as outlined in Appendix 3 to support market management 
and development activity associated with the implementation of the Older 
People’s Housing, Accommodation and Support Strategy 2018-2035 that will 
seek to create a range of housing and accommodation options for older people 
to meet demographic demand. 

 That a further report will be received following the conclusion of the consultation 
and market engagement processes including a full Equality Impact Analysis 

 
 
 
 

Helen Jones 
Executive Director – Adult Social Care & Health (DASS) 

County Hall 
MATLOCK 

 
 

Page 205



 

24 
 

Appendix 1: Map of Direct Care Homes for Older People and Community Care 
Centres

 

Page 206



 

25 
 

Appendix 2: Summary of Older People’s Housing Accommodation and 
Support - A Commissioning Strategy for Derbyshire  
 
This appendix provides a summary of the modelling within the Older People’s 
Housing, Accommodation and Support Strategy 2018-2035 (agreed by Cabinet 9 
May 2019), in relation to residential care provision. 
 
Overall, the strategy 2018-2035 outlines a clear baseline of the number of housing 
units or beds currently available and anticipated demand and this can be 
summarised as: 
 

 An estimated undersupply of appropriate housing for older people, including a 
likely undersupply of older people’s housing for sale. 

 An estimated undersupply of housing with care, both for rent and for sale. 

 A minimal additional net need for residential care provision – period to 2030.  

 An estimated undersupply of nursing care beds. 
 

The strategy is a ‘live’ document and the information will be updated on a regular 
basis to reflect changing local needs, demand and market position. The Council 
anticipates it will also be able to update the modelling to reflect the impact of the 
Pathway Re-design Programme in 2020. This modelling will support Adult Social 
Care and Health to be proactive in its market shaping and commissioning functions 
to deliver the anticipated demand in the short to medium term (0 to 5 years) as well 
as longer term (5 to 10 years). It will also allow gaps in provision to be identified 
and managed proactively. 
 
The strategy highlights the need to undertake a range of activity to seek to develop 
and expand the range of housing with care, co-housing, downsizer and innovative 
mixed age-appropriate and key worker market-led housing developments across 
Derbyshire.  
  
The strategy analysis suggests the following number of residential care beds will be 
required countywide to 2035:  
 

Year Total number of residential care 
beds required across 
Derbyshire 

2016 (strategy baseline) 3,365 

2020 3,522 

2025 3,753 

2030 3,521 

2035 3,147 

 
The modelling suggest an overall reduction of 218 residential care beds by 2035. 
 

Page 207



 

26 
 

The ‘minimal additional net need’ terminology is used as between 2016 and 2035 
the data modelling suggests that at a county level there is a slight increase in need 
for residential care in the period 2020-2030. The five year modelling data is 
summarised below: 
 

Area 2016 
baseline 
from 
strategy 

2020 2025 2030 2035 

Amber 
Valley  

427 571 621 587 525 

Bolsover 269 320 331 309 278 

Chesterfield 455 452 471 439 390 

Derbyshire 
Dales 

303 401 426 398 355 

Erewash 489 503 526 485 435 

High Peak 553 384 415 395 358 

NE 
Derbyshire 

368 520 548 503 438 

South 
Derbyshire 

501 371 415 405 368 

Derbyshire 3,365 3,522 3,753 3,521 3,147 

 
This modelling is based on demographic trend analysis and acknowledges that 
current provision in Derbyshire is above the national average1.    

                                                           
1 p.22 Housing and accommodation for an ageing population: a strategic vision for Derbyshire to 2035. 

Page 208

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/council/meetings-decisions/meetings/cabinet/11-10-2018-housing-and-accommodation-for-an-ageing-population-strategic-vision-for-derbyshire-to-2035.pdf


 

27 
 

Appendix 3: Implementation approach for the Older People’s Housing, 
Accommodation and Support Strategy. 
 
This appendix provides a summary of the how Adult Social Care and Health intends 
to implement the Older People’s Housing, Accommodation and Support Strategy 
2018-2035 (agreed by Cabinet 9 May 2019) at pace to meet identified need. A 
number of actions are outlined below that will be led by the department alongside 
partners to stimulate the market, address identified need and promote the benefits 
of a range of housing models to deliver the strategy. The proposed actions will 
enable the Council to work with partner agencies to help establish a range of 
accommodation offers across the county that are intended to respond on a short 
and long term basis.  Most of these proposals are likely to take a minimum of 2 -3 
years from the point of agreement to establish any initiative to finally being 
available. This acknowledges the time taken to identify a proposal, investment plan, 
location, planning permission and build.  The council intends to support potential 
providers with identifying land and grants alongside assistance in respect of 
business planning to ensure there is enough demand to meet the returns required 
of any investment. 
 
This approach builds on Adult Social Care and Health’s previous experience of 
delivering a range of housing with care schemes across Derbyshire via a structured 
programme approach and our wider market management role in relation to 
registered care provision.  
 
The proposed key implementation actions are summarised below. 
 
a) Identifying gaps and market opportunities at a sub-district level 

 
District level data presented in the strategy is being refined to a position whereby 
we can identify clear gaps within the market for the next five to ten years.  
Analysis will allow the gaps in provision to be identified and these areas can then 
be matched against established datasets for example: public sector assets 
identified for disposal and other potential development opportunities. This analysis 
will also help us to prioritise where we need to focus activity and explore relevant 
planning and asset disposal options. Through the North Midlands One Public 
Estate (OPE) programme, public sector partners across Derbyshire are seeking to 
enable housing delivery on small to medium sites of up to 80 units. These sites 
could include downsizer housing, lifetime homes bungalows and housing with care 
provision. The OPE programme will utilise the gap analysis mapping to identify 
suitable locations for older people’s housing and what input is required to make 
sites viable so they can address identified need. The first stage of the mapping has 
been completed and a gap analysis is in progress to identify particular locations for 
market development and market stimulation.  
 
 

Page 209



 

28 
 

b) Utilising our assets creatively and demonstrating the cost/ benefit to the 
wider system 
 

Adult Social Care commissioners are working with colleagues in Property Services 
to consider how the wider public estate can be utilised to support or enable 
development of new housing or accommodation schemes. To aid decision-making, 
a cost-benefit analysis model is in the early stages of development. Cost-benefit 
modelling will allow an assessment of the commercial value of a site to be 
compared with the wider public sector system benefit of investing in older people’s 
housing or accommodation. The final model, would be used to test any early 
identified opportunities in 2020/2021.  
 
c) Ongoing collaboration with district and borough councils and partners 

 
Engagement with district and borough councils is ongoing and continues to be 
productive. A number of them have formally adopted the strategy and others are in 
the process of taking this through their governance systems. The development of 
the original strategy was completed with the support of the districts and boroughs 
and fully endorsed by the county-wide Chief Executives Group; making the strategy 
a truly shared approach.  
 
It is essential that the council continues to work with district and borough councils 
as they have a key role through housing and planning teams in the provision of 
accommodation and they have significant market influence through section 106 and 
the planning process. Our aim is to maintain and develop a constructive and open 
partnership approach to addressing this key issue.  
 
Adult Social Care and Health commissioners are engaged with a range of local 
meetings in some specific geographies to help shape and influence policy decisions 
at an early stage or inform decisions about specific sites or schemes.  
 
There is the potential to draw on further specialist expertise from Derbyshire County 
Council’s (DCC) Planning and Property, to strategically influence provision. This 
proactive offer of support from DCC to district and boroughs will be outlined in a 
report to the Derbyshire Chief Executive’s Group in early 2020 and then cascaded 
to other relevant strategic groups. 
 
The Public Health-led Housing and Health Systems Group has been coordinating 
the partnership delivery of a range of preventative housing topics, including 
agreeing a protocol for developer contributions. A time-limited task and finish group 
will been established to progress the actions specific to the strategy 
implementation. This may require health and/ or district and borough council input; 
with the first meeting to take place as soon as the gap analysis mapping, a) above, 
is complete. This sub-group will allow DCC officers to explore a range of innovative 
housing models that utilise, compliment or replace existing housing stock with the 

Page 210



 

29 
 

relevant partners to meet identified need. 
 
d) Influencing long-term planning approaches 

 
District and Borough Councils are beginning to refresh their Local Plans. Working 
alongside Public Health and Planning Policy colleagues, Adult Social Care and 
Health Commissioners are seeking to ensure local planning authorities are 
provided with the necessary information to include a clear policy regarding the 
development of accessible housing and provision of housing built to HAPPI or 
Lifetime home standards that enable independent living for older people.  
Evidence and data is being collated with the aim of demonstrating need at a district/ 
borough and housing market area (HMA) level to influence Local Plan 
development. In addition, Adult Social Care commissioners, working alongside local 
planning officers, will develop a draft local plan policy template and/ or 
supplementary planning policy guidance in relation to older people’s housing 
schemes. Working proactively in conjunction with key stakeholders, via each district 
and boroughs’ planning process, to release additional investment that supports 
older people’s housing provision will, over the next decade, support the 
development of age-friendly communities in Derbyshire in line with the ambitions 
outlined in the strategy. 
 
Adult Social Care and Health are also beginning to have a more active role in the 
allocation of section 106 contributions and has contributed to the draft Derbyshire 
County Council Planning Contribution Protocol (under s.106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, contributions can be sought from developers towards 
the costs of providing community and social infrastructure). This mechanism will 
help inform allocations to promote age friendly and dementia friendly communities 
and help to secure the provision of HAPPI standard housing.  
 
Adult Social Care and Health are also informing a new strategic planning 
framework and evidence based for Derbyshire and this will be developed 
throughout 2020/21 before being formally adopted. The needs of an ageing 
population will be outlined in this document. 
 
e) Accessing a range of different funding models to support developments to 

meet identified need.   
 

Once feasible sites have been identified via the processes described above, we will 
be a position to seek finance to secure the development of the sites. Options for 
finance include partnership agreements whereby housing authorities utilise funds 
from their revenue accounts whilst the county council supply land or support 
specific services at the site. Other options are public sector borrowing or external 
funding drawn down from bodies such as Homes England. Adult Social Care is 
engaging with local housing officers to identify sites that may be able to access 
Homes England funding.  
 

Page 211

https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/Design-building/HAPPI/
http://www.lifetimehomes.org.uk/


 

30 
 

f) Older People’s Investment Prospectus Launch 
 

Other local authorities have successfully expanded their extra care offer via market 
engagement events and it is recommended that this approach is replicated in 
Derbyshire. It is proposed that an initial event for registered social landlords and 
housing developers takes place in February 2020, followed by a more formal 
Investment Prospectus launch in summer 2020. Additionally, a Prior Information 
Notice to enable engagement with the market will be published in Spring 2020. The 
aim will be to have initial discussions with the wider market regarding an investment 
approach in line with the commissioning strategy recommendations. The events 
would seek to encourage providers to invest in Derbyshire to develop and deliver 
some of the innovative housing models described in the strategy. Providers would 
also be encouraged to identify opportunities for partnership working and cost 
effective solutions to enhance the local offer. 
 
Several other authorities have recently undertaken similar events so we are linking 
with these organisations to gather learning to ensure the maximum impact of the 
Derbyshire events. We would also seek to secure input and involvement of key 
speakers from organisations such as the Housing LIN, Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government, Homes England to ensure a high profile and 
well attended investment prospectus launch event in the summer.  
 
Any follow up conversations with key providers or organisations could take place 
after the investment prospects launch event to then identify opportunities which 
required further input and potential business case development.  
 
Other authorities have successful organised and run an event with a budget of 
£5,000 to cover the event costs and any publicity, promotional or resource 
materials required. All of these resources are available electronically after the event 
to inform ongoing market management. 
 
Once in place the Investment Prospectus would be refreshed annually to reflect he 
key priorities across the county in relation to accommodation and support.  This will 
make sure that the market has up-to-date information on current supply and 
demand and the identified gaps. We will seek to refine and development this 
document so it is as comprehensive as possible and informs the market of 
identified need that has been met.  
 
g) Market management for private and voluntary sector care providers.  

 
As a more short-term approach we would also seek to engage with current 
residential and nursing care providers in Derbyshire to further understand current 
market capacity and development issues. This engagement takes place on a 
regular basis, but we would want to seek to gain additional insight into how we in 
partnership might support strategy delivery.  Discussions will also be held with 
providers in January 2020 providers about a limited supply of underutilised or 

Page 212



 

31 
 

closed provision to consider suitability for remodelling/ reopening to meet strategic 
priorities. 
 
h) Qualitative evidence to co-produce future housing options 

 
During the strategy development, the Housing LIN noted that there was a need to 
further develop the qualitative evidence from older people regarding their housing 
preferences, particularly at a district and borough level. The Housing LIN suggested 
there was an opportunity to co-ordinate and share further qualitative insight with 
local planning authorities and housing teams to provide relevant evidence. This 
would support the council’s ambition to do things ‘with’ rather than ‘to’ local people.  
 
Following this advice the Council plans to undertake detailed independent research 
which enabled us to draw detailed conclusions regarding local older people’s 
propensity to move or not, preferred tenure and housing types, and ability of 
individuals’ to downsize at a district or borough level. This information was then 
used to stimulate and shape the local market addressing and meeting identified 
need. 
 
The outputs of this activity will be openly shared with partners and potential 
investors to help shape the market. The cost of undertaking this research is 
approximately £15,000 and will be subject to procurement and development of an 
agreed business case.  
 
i) Practical housing support to enable independent living 

 
Stimulating new development and reshaping existing provision is only one element 
of the strategy. Of equal importance is developing and promoting an enhanced 
approach around how Adult Social Care and partners support older people to 
remain living independently in their own home, which is appropriate to their need. 
Current work that is taking place to support and promote independent living will be 
key to achieving the vision outlined in the strategy. This includes the upcoming 
pathway redesign work that will enable Adult  Social Care  to deliver an improved 
re-ablement pathway; the current project to review and reshape ‘practical housing 
support’; covering use of Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG), Handy Vans, Home 
Improvements Agency, Warm Homes etc.; together with our programme to increase 
the use of Assistive Technology.  
 
The Housing LIN identified that information and advice provided across the county 
could be better aligned and co-ordinated to provide a clearer and more consistent 
message. Targeting individuals who are approaching older age is important to 
make sure that they put plans in place at an early stage. 
 
A dedicated communications campaign will be launched in 2020 to describe and 
promote the benefits of making sure a person’s home is age-friendly, as well as 
provide practical tips to live well at home for longer and outlining options to 

Page 213



 

32 
 

downsize. The campaign may require the development of bespoke marketing and 
communications material that would need to be available at locations across the 
county, an indicative budget of £15,000 is being requested via a business case to 
support delivery and development. 
 
A service procured by Derbyshire Dales District Council and run by Age UK 
provides information, advice and support to older people to move to a more suitable 
age-friendly home. It is recognised by partners that this scheme has system-wide 
benefits. The county council currently supports this scheme using an allocation 
from the second homes council tax levy. We are currently scoping whether funding 
could be secured to support this service to operate at a county wide level and begin 
to shift demand away from specialist accommodation to more mainstream housing 
and a proposal will be developed for elected member approval.  
 
In addition, other county councils are working with the districts and boroughs to 
provide an integrated service (called Lightbulb) that covers all of the practical 
housing support areas set out above by making use of a flexible approach to the 
use of the Better Care Fund and the DFGs allocations received by districts and 
boroughs. 
 
4.  Working together to implement the strategy 
 
To deliver the strategy at pace and scale will require additional resources to 
supplement existing capacity and skills within Adult Social Care and Health, via 
both additional internal DCC and external resource, some examples of which are 
cited above.  
 
The Older People’s Housing Strategy Delivery Group is already bringing together 
key members of staff across the authority to ensure a council wide approach to 
implementation. However, this group’s role and remit would be enhanced by 
developing a dedicated ‘virtual’ project team utilising a wide skills base from across 
the authority to make sure all the key elements required to ensure effective 
implementation of the strategy is secured. A further £25,000 is requested to support 
the development of this project team and if necessary secure additional staffing 
resource. A full business case will be developed to support this proposed activity. 
 
 

  

 

Page 214



 

33 
 

Appendix 4                                                  Collated information on each home  
Home name and area Indicative cost of works in first 5 years Rank  

 

Fit for purpose as 

per section 2.8? 

Yes/No 

CQC rating Number of 

Community 

Support Beds 

Total 

number of 

beds 

Number of 

residents as at 

13.12.19 

Erewash:         

Beechcroft £1,321,458 5 N Good  40 29 

Ladycross £1,461,389 4 N Requires 

Improvement  

8 35 19 

Briar Close £658,762 9 N Good  40 34 

Amber Valley:        

Rowthorne £654,321 10 N Good  40 39 

NED:        

The Grange £173,935 14 Y Good 5 25 25 

Bolsover:        

East Clune £2,338,668 1 N Requires 

Improvement 

 25 22 

New Bassett House £792,609 8 N Good  40 25 

Holmlea £2,139,382 2 N Requires 

Improvement 

7 40 31 

Thomas Colledge £401,839 12 Y Good 6 24 21 

Chesterfield:        

The Spinney £1,720,305 3 N Requires 

Improvement 

 37 21 

High Peak:        

Goyt Valley House £899,322 7 N Requires 

Improvement 

 27 24 

Whitestones 0 15 Y Good  41 36 

Derbyshire Dales:        

Gernon Manor £922,495 6 N Requires 

Improvement 

 34 22 

The Leys £568,851 11 N Good  35 30 

South Derbyshire:        

Castle Court £350,891 13 Y Good  41 33 

P
age 215



 

34 
 

Appendix 5 
 

OUR PLEDGES TO RESIDENTS 
 

1. We will treat you with dignity and respect, consulting with you and keeping you 
informed throughout the process 
 

2. We will ensure relatives and friends chosen by you are informed of the home 
closure and are able to remain involved in the process too 
 

3. We will name a member of staff from your present care home who knows you well 
to listen to you, support you and stay in contact with you 
 

4. We will provide an advocate to assist anyone who does not have mental capacity to 
make decisions about their future arrangements and has no family or friend to do 
this 
 

5. We will discuss your preferences, and care and support needs with you; addressing 
any concerns you or your family or friends have about you moving. We will update 
your assessment if necessary and check you agree with what has been written 
 

6. We will try our best to meet your own personal priorities, for example you may have 
friends you particularly wish to stay together with when you move 
 

7. We will ensure you have as much choice as possible about the type of care service 
you choose. We will arrange for you to visit ones you consider may be suitable, or 
for your family or friends to do this if you are unable to do so 
 

8. We will complete a new ‘support plan’ and ‘life book’ with you to make clear your 
likes, things you want to do or be assisted with; your interests and priorities now and 
in earlier life. Once you are in agreement with what is in the plan/book this can be 
used to brief your new service providers and help them prepare for your arrival 
 

9. We will ensure within reason you do not incur any additional costs through moving 
to a new provider 
 

10. We will carefully plan the day of your move with you to reduce stress or worries. We 
will take into consideration things like how you travel, who you want to travel with 
you, and write a list of your personal items 
 

11. Finally we pledge to visit you and find out how you are doing after the move and 
check if there is anything else you wish to be done 

 

Page 216



 

35 
 

Appendix 6: Modified modelling for residential care capacity 2020-2025 (utilising base line modelling from the Older People’s Housing, Accommodation and Support Strategy 
2018-2035 

 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

           Strategy demand modelling 

Revised baseline 
modelling - beds or units 
required at each point in 
time 2

0
1
6

 r
e

s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 

c
a
re

 b
e
d

 b
a

s
e
li
n

e
 

s
u

p
p

ly
 f

ro
m

 

s
tr

a
te

g
y

 

2
0
1
9

 r
e

s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 

c
a
re

 b
e
d

 c
u

rr
e
n

t 

s
u

p
p

ly
 (

S
e
p

te
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
9
) 

M
o

d
e
ll
e
d

 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 o
f 

p
h

a
s
e
 1

 p
ro

p
o

s
a
ls

 

o
n

ly
 (

2
0
2

1
) 

M
o

d
e
ll
e
d

 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 o
f 

p
h

a
s
e
 2

 p
ro

p
o

s
a
ls

 

o
n

ly
 (

2
0
2

1
-2

0
2

3
) 

M
o

d
e
ll
e
d

 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

te
m

p
o

ra
ry

 r
e
d

u
c
e
d

 

c
a
p

a
c
it

y
 d

u
e
 t

o
 

p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 r
e
fu

rb
 

(2
0
2
1
/2

2
/2

3
) 

M
o

d
e
ll
e
d

 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 o
f 

p
h

a
s
e
 1

 a
n

d
 

re
d

u
c
e
d

 c
a
p

a
c
it

y
 

d
u

e
 t

o
 r

e
fu

rb
 (

2
0
2
1

-

2
0
2
4
) 

In
d

ic
a
ti

v
e

 r
e

v
is

e
d

 

s
u

p
p

ly
 d

u
e
 t

o
 

o
v
e
ra

ll
 i
m

p
a

c
t 

o
f 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 o
f 

p
h

a
s
e
 1

, 
2
 a

n
d

 

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 r

e
fu

rb
 

o
f 

D
C

C
 p

ro
p

e
rt

ie
s
 

(2
0
2
1
-2

0
2
5
) 

O
th

e
r 

P
V

I 
p

ro
v
is

io
n

 

c
h

a
n

g
e
 f

ro
m

 d
a
ta

 

b
a
s
e
li
n

e
 a

n
d

 2
0
1
9

 

c
u

rr
e
n

t 
s
u

p
p

ly
 

A
d

d
it

io
n

a
l 
D

C
C

 

c
a
p

a
c
it

y
 f

ro
m

 

s
tr

a
te

g
y
 b

a
s
e

li
n

e
 

a
n

d
 2

0
1

9
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 

s
u

p
p

ly
 

2
0
2
5

 r
e

v
is

e
d

 

p
o

s
it

io
n

 (
im

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

p
h

a
s
e
 1

, 
2
, 

re
fu

rb
, 

P
V

I 
a
n

d
 a

d
d

it
io

n
a
l 

D
C

C
 c

a
p

a
c
it

y
) 

2020 2025 2030 

Amber Valley  427 457 457 457 417 417 457 60 15 532 571 621 587 

Bolsover 269 323 293 283 283 253 253     253 320 331 309 

Chesterfield 455 474 437 474 474 437 437     437 452 471 439 

Derbyshire Dales 303 382 382 349 382 382 349     349 401 426 398 

Erewash 489 533 458 533 493 378 458   0 458 503 526 485 

High Peak 553 541 541 511 541 541 511     511 384 415 395 

North East Derbyshire 368 369 369 369 369 369 369     369 520 548 503 

South Derbyshire 501 468 468 468 468 468 468     468 371 415 405 

DERBYSHIRE (total) 
             
3,365  

             
3,547  

             
3,405  

             
3,444  

             
3,427  

             
3,245               3,302  

                   
60  

                   
15               3,377          3,522  

        
3,753  

        
3,521  

P
age 217



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 1 of 31 

 

 

Appendix 7 
 

Derbyshire County Council Adult Care 

Major Change and Closure Guidance - Accommodation, Care 

and Support for Older People 

 

Approval and Authorisation 

 

Name Job Title Date 

Authored by: 
David Gurney & 
Katey Twyford 

 

Group Manager Performance 
Group Manager Capital 
Investment Project 

 

August 2012 

Approved by: 
Bill Robertson 

Strategic Director August 2012 

Authorised by: Quality Assurance Group November 2017 

 

Change History 

Version Date Name Reason 

V 1 October 2012 David Gurney & 
Katey Twyford 

New Guidance 

V 2 November 2014 David Gurney Review and update 

V 3 May 2015 David Gurney Changes to Appendices 2-3 to reflect 
best practice 

V4 November 2015 Jenny Hudson Changes to reflect best practice for 
stages 3 and 4 

V5 August 2017 David Gurney Review and update to include 
information from the Stakeholder 
Engagement Team 

V6 December 2019 Rob Moore Review and inclusion of 
arrangements for urgent 
evacuation and temporary 
vacation of a care home 

 
 

This document will be reviewed on a regular basis – if you would like to make any 
comments, amendments, additions etc please email Phil Robson – Procedures 
and Information, phil.robson@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Page 218

mailto:phil.robson@derbyshire.gov.uk


Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 2 of 31 

 

 

Version: 6 

FOI Status: Public 

Major Change and Closure Guidance - 

Accommodation, Care and Support for Older 

People 

Issued: December 2019 

Review Due: November 2021 

 
 
 

Contents 

1. Introduction ......................................................................................................... 4 

2. First Stage:  Agreeing the strategy and plan ....................................................... 5 

2.1. The case for change ..................................................................................... 5 

2.2. Consulting on the strategy or proposals ........................................................ 5 

2.3. Criterion for agreeing change or closure ....................................................... 6 

2.4. Preparing for the consultation ....................................................................... 7 

2.5. Undertaking the consultation ......................................................................... 8 

2.6. Analysis and submitting the proposal for consideration and approval ........... 9 

2.6.1. Gathering and analysing the information ................................................ 9 

2.6.2. Selecting the best format to present the proposals ................................. 9 

2.6.3. Including key information in the report or presentation ........................... 9 

2.6.4. Confirming the outcome of the consultation and the proposed strategy 10 

2.7. Preparing for the next stage ........................................................................ 10 

3. Second Stage:  Consulting on the Delivery Plans ............................................. 11 

3.1. Background to consultation on specific delivery plans ................................ 11 

3.2. Good practice in Stage Two consultation .................................................... 11 

3.3. Next steps after the Stage two consultation ................................................ 13 

4. Third Stage: Working with individuals to manage the change or closure .......... 14 

4.1. Process of Assessment ............................................................................... 14 

4.1.1. Supporting individuals to communicate their needs and wishes ........... 14 

4.1.2. Consideration of risks ........................................................................... 15 

4.1.3. Multi-disciplinary contribution to the assessment .................................. 15 

4.1.4. Important and useful information about an individual ............................ 16 

4.2. Support planning ......................................................................................... 16 

4.3. Monitoring the transition arrangements ....................................................... 16 

4.4. Providing independent information and support .......................................... 16 

4.5. Resettlement ............................................................................................... 17 

4.5.1. Choice and control ................................................................................ 17 

Page 219



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 3 of 31 

 

 

 
4.5.2. Financial implications............................................................................ 17 

4.5.3. Considering the options available ......................................................... 17 

4.5.4. Making the transition............................................................................. 17 

4.5.5. Reviewing the transition and new arrangements .................................. 18 

4.5.6. Timescales for making the move .......................................................... 19 

4.6. Managing any complaints ............................................................................ 19 

5. fourth Stage: Making the transition – the practical steps ................................... 20 

5.1. Closing down a service or building .............................................................. 20 

5.1.1. Pre-planning: at least three months before closure .............................. 20 

5.1.2. Four weeks notification of closure ............................................................ 21 

5.1.3. Reminders to agencies and contractors: one week before closure .......... 22 

5.1.4. Final task for closure: on the last day ....................................................... 23 

5.2. Preparing to take up occupancy in a new building ...................................... 23 

5.2.1. Ordering furniture and equipment: four months ahead of completion ... 23 

5.2.2. Confirm delivery dates – one month before completion ........................ 23 

5.2.3. Initial tasks upon occupancy ................................................................. 23 

5.2.4. Settling in: the first twelve months ........................................................ 24 

6. Urgent vacation of a care home in emergency situations .................................. 25 

7. Temporary vacation of a care home  ................................................................. 27 

 

Appendix 1: Pre-move checklist .............................................................................. 28 

Appendix 2:  Process of the move ............................................................................ 29 

Appendix 3:  Post move arrangements and review .................................................. 30 

Appendix 4: Transfer to new provision – summary and feedback sheet .................. 31 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 220



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 4 of 31 

 

 

Version: 6 

FOI Status: Public 
Major Change and Closure Guidance - 

Accommodation, Care and Support for 

Older People 

Issued: December 2019 

Review Due: December 

2021 

 

1. Introduction 
 
Any potential major change, which may include closure, in the way a service is 
provided can be an unsettling and traumatic event for those at the heart of service 
currently provided. 

 
The purpose of this guidance is to ensure that the preparation of proposals, any 
required consultations, decision-making processes, and subsequent implementation 
of changes or closures are carried out thoroughly and transparently. 
Any proposals for change, consultations, decisions made, and subsequent actions 
will need to be carried out sensitively, and with full regard to the needs of the 
residents or clients. 

 
This guidance sets out how the process should be conducted from inception of the 
proposal to Cabinet through to supporting individuals affected to make the change. 
The guidance is set out in four sections: 
First Stage: Agreeing the strategy and plan 
Second Stage:  Consulting on the delivery plans 
Third Stage: Working with individuals to manage the change or closure 
Fourth Stage:  Making the transition – the practical steps. 

 
The guidance in this document is based on established and emerging best practice 
using information gathered from other Local Authorities, research based evidence, 
guidance from the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services, and the 
outcomes of judicial reviews and legal challenges. As such, any new change or 
closure being considered by the Authority will also need to be considered in the light 
of any recently issued best practice and guidance. 

Page 221



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 5 of 31 

 

 

 

2. First Stage:  Agreeing the strategy and plan 
 
The modernisation and maintenance of accommodation, care and support to meet 
the needs of a rapidly ageing population has to respond to increasing expectations 
around choice and personalised outcomes as well as regulatory requirements. 

2.1. The case for change 

 
Reviewing services, and considering alternative proposals, should fit within 
a strategic framework or plan.  A sound plan should: 

 Serve as a framework for decisions or for securing support/approval. 

 Provide a basis for more detailed planning. 

 Explain the business proposal to others in order to inform, motivate 
& involve. 

 Assist benchmarking & performance monitoring. 

 Stimulate change and a become building block for next plan. 
It is important that the strategy or plan is backed up by a business case to 
support any proposals within it. As the Authority is governed by the County 
Council Cabinet any strategy or plan for major changes or closure will need 
to be approved by Cabinet. 

 

2.2. Consulting on the strategy or proposals 
 

In preparing the business case or report for Cabinet it is important to take 
into account the views of the local populations that could be affected by the 
proposals.  Some large scale changes require statutory consultation, others 
do not. Specific guidance should be sought from the Authority’s legal 
department on whether statutory consultation is required. 

 

The Cabinet Office Code of Practice on Consultation1 provides seven 
criteria that should be considered if consultation is to be carried out at this 
strategic level.  They are: 

 
Criterion 1 When to consult 

Formal consultation should take place at a stage when there is scope 
to influence the policy outcome. 

 
Criterion 2 Duration of consultation exercises 

Consultations should normally last for at least 12 weeks with consideration 
given to longer timescales if required by the particular circumstances of the 
service concerned. 

 
 

 

1 HM Government, Cabinet Office Code of Practice on Consultation, July 2008 

  

Page 222



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 6 of 31 

 

 

Criterion 3 Clarity of scope and impact 

Consultation documents should be clear about the consultation process, what 
is being proposed, the scope to influence and the expected costs and benefits 
of the proposals. 

 
Criterion 4 Accessibility of consultation exercises 

Consultation exercises should be designed to be accessible to, and clearly 
targeted at, those people the exercise is intended to reach. 

 
Criterion 5 The burden of consultation 

Keeping the burden of consultation to a minimum is essential if consultations 
are to be effective and if consultees’ buy-in to the process is to be obtained. 

 
Criterion 6 Responsiveness of consultation exercises 

Consultation responses should be analysed carefully and clear feedback 
should be provided to participants following the consultation. 

 
Criterion 7 Capacity to consult 

Officials running consultations should seek guidance in how to run an effective 
consultation exercise and share what they have learned from the experience. 

 
Derbyshire County Council is keen to ensure that consultation is appropriate 
and meaningful. The Authority aims to optimise the way it consults by 
adopting a proportionate and targeted approach, so that the type and scale of 
engagement is proportional to the potential impacts of the proposal. The 
emphasis is on understanding the effects of a proposal and focusing on real 
engagement with key groups. 

 
The Derbyshire County Council Adult Care Consultation and Engagement 
team and/or the Authority’s legal section will be available to provide guidance 
and advice on appropriate consultation for each individual circumstance in line 
with the criteria and principles set out above. 

 

2.3. Criterion for agreeing change or closure 

 
A proposal for strategic change, which could include closure of a service, will 
be based upon a set of key objectives. A criteria should be agreed and used 
to analyse the relevant factors set out within the proposal or business case. 
These should be published within the consultation documentation. 

 
Criterion could include such issues as: 

 Changes in demand based on Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and 
current service provision 

 Any agreed commissioning priorities 

 Performance data, including service delivery and financial costs 

 Condition of any buildings 

 Regulatory compliance issues, including both building quality 
and service e.g. health and safety and Care Quality Commission 

Page 223



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 7 of 31 

 

 

 The current circumstances of the service including location, ability to 
adapt within the proposed strategy, and any opportunity costs for the 
service, building or land 

 Availability of comparable or complementary services within the locality 

 Potential impact on different groups with protected characteristics 
as defined by the 2010 Equality Act. 

 
The criteria selected for consultation should be based on the 
specific requirements of any proposed strategy. 

 

2.4. Preparing for the consultation 

 
In order to undertake an effective consultation the following checklist 
should be used: 

 

 Task 
  

1. Gain cabinet approval, if required, to go out to consultation by 
setting out for them the subject of consultation, the proposed 
methodology and the proposed target group(s) 

 

2. Identify the criteria to be used during the consultation  

3.  Prepare the consultation document – make it useful and  

  accessible.  It should include: 

 3.1. Introduction – does it recap the situation; does it set out what is 

  non-negotiable; does it give feedback on what people have said 

  previously? 

 3.2. Outline of the proposal and elements within it 

 3.3. Description of the benefits of the proposal and planned services 

  or facilities 

 3.4. Description of the rationale for the changes eg demographic 

  changes, available funding etc 

 3.5. Description of any background analysis that will need to be done, 

  and set out the criteria that will be used to inform any specific 

  proposals within the strategy; and where there are a number of 

  options for consideration, be clear what the preferred option(s) is / 

  are 

 3.6. How individuals or groups can have their say, any support that 

  may be available to help them have their say, and how long the 

  consultation period will last 

 3.7. Description of what options might be available to individuals who 

  currently use services or facilities that might be affected 

 3.8. Description of what will happen once the consultation period has 

 
3.9. 
 
3.10. 

closed 
Confirmation of how individuals can contact the organisation / 
submit their views and confirm any confidentiality issues 

How individuals can obtain any supporting documents 

4. Review whether the documentation is transparent  

Page 224



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 8 of 31 

 

 

5. Agree what formats the consultation documentation should be 
available in; digital, hard copy, large print, other languages etc 

 

6. Set out the dates for the consultation, and who will lead / support 
in the consultation itself 

 

7. Set out the recording and reporting procedures to be used  

8. Set out the timescale for analysing the feedback from the 
consultation 

 

9. Set out the timescale for reporting the outcome of the consultation 
to the appropriate decision making group (including Cabinet 
where necessary) 

 

10. Discuss the consultation plan and any likely risks or issues with 
the Authority’s public relations team 

 

 

2.5. Undertaking the consultation 

 
Once the preparations have been made, the consultation should 
be undertaken over the required period.  It will be important to 
ensure: 

 Consultation should be undertaken simultaneously in all 
services affected 

 An equality impact analysis should be undertaken at the same time 
as the consultation 

 All staff involved in facilitating the consultation are briefed in advance 

 There is ongoing support for those undertaking the consultation 

 Appropriate support is provided for anyone who has 
identified communication needs 

 There is a central co-ordinating role to ensure consistency where 
the consultation involves multiple groups, services or facilities 

 Records of meetings and consultation events are stored in an 
appropriate format and in a timely manner. They should be easily 
retrievable in the event that they are required during or after the end 
of the consultation (for further guidance see Meeting Standards). 
 

2.6. Analysis and submitting the proposal for consideration and 
approval 

 
2.6.1. Gathering and analysing the information 

 
Supporting information should be gathered in parallel with the 
consultation being undertaken, so that the analysis can take into 
account: 

 Qualitative and quantitative data regarding the relevant criteria as 
set out in section 2.3 above 

 Feedback provided by all groups and individuals as part of the 
consultation. 

Page 225



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 9 of 31 

 

 

 
Involvement of partner organisations will be required at this stage, where 
appropriate, to help complete the analysis and formulate any revisions to 
the proposed strategy or plans. 

 
2.6.2. Selecting the best format to present the proposals 

 
The outcome of the consultation and the resulting proposal should be set 
out in a format that can be used to inform and seek approval from 
Cabinet. 

 
In addition to this, other means of presenting the proposals may be 
required to inform a wider audience of the outcome of consultation. 
These could include: 

 An information sheet such as the Adult Care ‘Perspectives’ 

 A powerpoint presentation / DVD. 

 
2.6.3. Including key information in the report or presentation 

 
The format of the report should be appropriate to the intended audience, 
but should include some or all of the following: 

 The background and reason for the proposed strategy or plan (eg 
financial effectiveness of the service, service no longer appearing 
to meet required standards, changes in demand for the service etc) 

 The criteria used to develop the proposal 

 The methods used to analyse the information 

 The process used to consult on the criteria 

 Any changes to the criteria that need to be considered as a result 
of consultation 

 The main points arising from any options considered (any detail 
should be included as appendices) 

 The outcome of any option appraisal 

 The preferred option and the reason for it being the preferred 
option 

 Any property, financial, human resource, legal, equal opportunities 
and other consideration (which could include prevention of crime 
and disorder, environmental, health and transport considerations) 

 Any specific officer recommendations for approval. 

 
2.6.4. Confirming the outcome of the consultation and the 

proposed strategy 

 
There may be a range of outcomes once Cabinet has considered the 
report, including: 

 The officer recommendations are not approved, and an alternative 
proposal or strategy may need to be developed and consulted upon 

 The officer recommendations are approved with conditions, and the 
proposal or strategy may need to be revised (with or without further 
approvals required) 

 The officer recommendations are approved without conditions, and 
more detailed planning will start. 

Page 226



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 10 of 31 

 

 

 
In all cases it will be necessary to feedback the outcome to all relevant 
parties, with information on what will happen next and when. The level 
and method of communication should be appropriate to the target 
audience, and should form part of a project or service communication 
plan. Close working with the Authority’s public relations team will be 
essential at this stage. 

 

2.7. Preparing for the next stage – consultation on proposed 
delivery plans 

 
At the conclusion of the first stage, if approval has been given for the 
proposals to be implemented there will be detailed planning work to set out a 
delivery plan for the approved strategy. The delivery or implementation plan 
will require an appropriate level of governance and programme or project 
management supported by necessary specialists across the Authority. 
Consideration should be given on how best to include current clients or other 
potential stakeholders in taking forward the implementation plan. The Adult 
Care Consultation and Engagement team will be able to support in identifying 
and initiating contact with potential community reference group members. 

 
The delivery plan will include proposals for managing the change of individual 
services or facilities. The delivery plan will include contingencies or 
alternatives should it not be possible to proceed with any one specific element 
of the proposals. 

 
Where individuals or groups are going to be directly affected by the specific 
delivery plans it will be necessary to consult on those plans. 

 

3. Second Stage:  Consulting on the Delivery Plans 
 

3.1. Background to consultation on specific delivery plans 

 
Consultation will be required on a specific proposal for change of service or 
service closure. It is important to differentiate between consultation about 
the proposed closure (with residents, families and other key stakeholders) 
and subsequent consultation with staff once a decision to change or close a 
specific service has been made. Second stage consultation on the delivery 
plans is aimed at the former. Consultation with staff about their employment 
will only start once Cabinet has made its decision on the future of the 
service in which they work. This consultation will take place in line with 
human resource policies agreed with trade unions. 

 
Second stage consultations should be carried out as and when required to 
ensure people are given timely information, at a point when a decision on 
the future of their individual service is business critical, so that they can 
contribute fully to the process. 

 

3.2. Good practice in second stage consultation 

 
This round of consultation will provide information about the implications of 
the previously approved strategy, the likely timescales, options and choices, 

Page 227



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 11 of 31 

 

 

and any special considerations that should be applied to their specific service 
that might prevent their establishment being taken forward as proposed.  As 
well as providing information, the consultation must seek to gather the views 
of all with a legitimate interest who wish to participate in the consultation. An 
equality impact analysis should be conducted in parallel with the 
consultation. 

 
Good practice guidelines set out in the section on first stage 

consultation should be adhered to. The following checklist should 

be used to prepare and undertake the consultation on delivery 

plans: 

  

Page 228



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 12 of 31 

 

 

 

 

 Task 
  

1. The consultation teams and equality impact analysis are in 
place (consider any need for independence from either the 
current service or the proposed changes) 

 

2. The consultation timetable is agreed  

3. Public Relations are advised of the consultation proposals and 
timetable 

 

4. 
4.1. 
4.2. 

Supporting materials are in place, including: Key 
messages from any first stage consultation 
Background analysis on the circumstances surrounding the 

 

 particular establishment affected 
4.3. An outline of any options that can be considered / or any items 

 that are non-negotiable 
4.4. Any list of pledges that may be relevant to the service or 

 people affected 
4.5. Any press releases that may support the consultation process 

5. Advocacy eg Independent Mental Capacity Advocate is 
available if needed 

 

6. The consultation team and those facilitating the consultation 
are briefed and the consultation plan agreed 

 

7.  Those directly affected by the proposal are notified of the 
consultation process: 

 Those receiving the service 

 Family carers, advocates and any close friends acting in 
effect as next of kin 

 Staff are notified that the process will begin and their role 
within it 

 

 
7.1. 

  
7.2. 

8. Consultation start and finish dates are adhered to but with 
flexibility to extend the finish date in exceptional circumstances 

 

9.  The views and comments of all stakeholders are captured and  

  recorded.  Stakeholders are encouraged to express their views 

  in a manner that suits them which may include some or all of 

  the following: 
 9.1.  Digital or hardcopy questionnaires 
 9.2.  Group meetings or one to one conversations *Note1 

 9.3.  Web-based comments 

 9.4.  Letters and emails 

 9.5.  Telephone enquiries 

Page 229



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 13 of 31 

 

 

10. A communication plan is in place to ensure that the broader 
range of agencies and voluntary sector groups with a legitimate 
interest in the future of the particular service are contacted and 
asked to contribute their views 

 

11. Clear lines of accountability are in place in Adult Care to 
respond to ad-hoc queries from interested parties and the 
press, and to disseminate the outcome of any considerations, 
approvals, or agreed actions 

 

12. Time and resources are allocated to analyse the information and 
write the consultation outcome report including the conclusions 
of the consultation and the draft recommendations on the future 
of the service or establishment 

 

13. The report and officer recommendations are prepared and 
submitted to appropriate approval processes, including Cabinet 
where required 

 

14. A briefing session is held with managers as soon as possible 
after the approval process has completed to provide them with 
information about any decisions made, the implications of any 
outcome to the report and our next steps, enabling them to 
manage communication with staff and residents/clients to 
ensure the right messages are being received 

 

 

*Note 1: it is recommended that: 

 A minimum of two group meetings will take place within each affected 
service. The first meeting should take place in day-time and the second 
meeting should take place in the evening. The two meetings should take 
place no less than two weeks apart.  These steps will ensure relatives 
and residents/clients have an option of when to attend to suit them. 

 A lead officer from the consultation team should attend each meeting 
plus the service’s manager or deputy manager. 

 A stakeholder event for agencies and voluntary sector groups with a 
legitimate interest in the proposal should be organised approximately 
half way through the consultation process and will involve those 
stakeholders identified within the communication plan. 

 

3.3. Next steps after the second stage consultation 

 
If, as a result of the approval process, it is decided that a major change or 
closure will go ahead, then time and energy must centre on how the needs of 
residents/clients are to be best met during a period of transition to assist them 
in making the right choices for their future. 

 
Underpinning this will be the set of pledges, tailored to the service and target 
group of individuals involved, set out in the consultation process detailing how 
the Authority would address the concerns of residents/clients. 

Page 230



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 14 of 31 

 

 

 

4. Third Stage: Working with individuals to manage the change or closure 

 
When a decision has been made to change or close a service currently being 
provided to individuals, the Authority has a duty to assess the needs of all 
residents/clients irrespective of the individual arrangements for paying for their care. 

 
This section sets out the process by which fieldwork service case workers and direct 
care staff will support individuals to manage the change or closure. A basic principle 
running throughout the process is that relevant agencies should work together in the 
best interests of the residents. 

 

4.1. Process of Assessment 

 
Fieldwork services case workers need to undertake individual assessments of 
the residents/clients, using the standard documentation on the Case 
Management System, taking into account all appropriate elements of the 
pledges and ensuring these are covered within the documentation. The 
process will include family carers, advocates (where required), staff at the 
home/unit and relevant health care professionals to ensure that the fullest 
picture possible is gained of needs, wants and aspirations of the individual 
resident/client. Ensuring the health and wellbeing of all individuals throughout 
this very significant change will be of central importance. 

 
An assessment must be carried out by a fieldwork services case worker with 
an individual resident/client within an appropriate timescale relevant to the 
timescales for decommissioning of the service. The assessment should be 
carried out no sooner than 5 months before they would be resettled and allow 
plenty of time once the assessment has been completed to allow that 
information to be used to identify options and choices for the individual. Given 
that in any care setting, friendship groups will have been formed, it is 
important that close consideration is given as to how these can be maintained, 
either by friends moving together if they so wish or by making arrangements 
for continued contact to be made through, for example, visits. These 
friendships may in some instances be as important, or indeed more important, 
than the relationships individuals have with people visiting them. 

 
4.1.1. Supporting individuals to communicate their needs and wishes 

 
Any specific communication needs of individuals will be addressed to 
ensure they play the fullest possible part in setting out their needs, 
wishes and aspirations and how these are best met. 

 
The provisions of relevant legislation such as the Mental Capacity Act 
2005 and the Mental Health Act 1983 will be considered wherever 
appropriate and where required a referral made to the IMCA service 
requesting support for the individual resident/client. 

Page 231



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 15 of 31 

 

 

4.1.2. Consideration of risks 

 
Particular attention in the assessment and the subsequent recording must be 
paid to the risks involved in a resident /client moving from their current setting. 
As with any major change in the circumstances of an individual, significant life 
changes (of which moving home/day-care setting is one) can be traumatic 
and in extreme cases life threatening, and this may be exacerbated if the 
resident/client has had to deal with other major changes in their lives. Risk 
cannot necessarily be eliminated but good planning will help to mitigate the 
impact of risk. 

 
Some individuals are more susceptible to the impact of relocation than others. 
They are likely to be more affected by any life event. Characteristics which 
identify people likely to encounter the greatest difficulty include: 

• Evidence of previous breakdown in response to stress 
• Age, with very advanced age making it more difficult to adapt 

• Gender – men by and large adapt less well to change and stress than 
women 

• The presence of pathological impairments which may produce physical 
impairments, reduced mobility or urinary incontinence and/or make it 
more difficult to understand the environment (e.g. reduced eyesight, 
reduced hearing or deafness or other loss of sensory facility) 

• The presence of depression, anxiety or a demonstrated vulnerability to 
such symptomology is likely to be exacerbated by any move 

• The presence of cognitive impairments, such as impairment of the facility 
to understand, comprehend, remember and reason with the information 
that a move is to be made makes the individual particularly vulnerable. 
No matter how much effort is put into explaining the situation and to help 
them come to terms with it, all that work may be lost because of the 
failure to register and remember. In addition to this, fragments of an 
understanding and the anxieties associated with that understanding or 
half understanding may come back repeatedly to haunt the individual. 

Combinations of these vulnerability factors increase the risk of adverse 
reactions to the relocation stress and their presence should be noted. 
Additionally, residents with a history of falls are more at risk of increased falls 
in a new environment and so this should be highlighted so that additional falls 
precautions/preventions can be considered in any future location. 

 
4.1.3. Multi-disciplinary contribution to the assessment 

 
As part of the assessment process, the fieldwork services case workers must 
obtain the views of the GP or consultant in writing as to what risks there may 
be in a resident/client moving, whether these can be mitigated and if so what 
needs to be done to achieve this. This could involve medical supervision 
during the transfer process. 

Page 232



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 16 of 31 

 

 

Contributions from other members of multi-disciplinary teams should be 
sought as appropriate to the individual. 

 
4.1.4. Important and useful information about an individual 

 
All residents/clients should be offered the opportunity to complete a Life 
Book and Move Book. The content of the former will be determined by 
the individuals though the suggested framework is likely to cover such 
areas as personal history, likes and dislikes relationships, education, 
memories and interests. It could also include photographs (past or 
present). The contents of the latter will focus on what important factors 
need to be taken into account in the move itself. This will be more 
appropriate where the client is moving into a care setting supported by a 
different group of staff rather than circumstances where there is 
continuity of care and support. 

 
4.2 Care and Support Planning 

A new and detailed Care and Support Plan will be produced in conjunction 
with residents/clients. This document will provide clear statements of future 
care needs and of the preferred way this care should be provided in the new 
care setting. It will specify in detail the ways the resident/client’s care and 
support should be provided so as to ensure that their personal dignity, 
independence, abilities and control over services is maximised. 

 

4.3. Monitoring the transition arrangements 

 
Internal monitoring processes, overseen by a member of the senior 
management team, need to be in place to ensure that progress is being made 
at an appropriate rate on the assessment and future care and support 
planning for all residents/clients. It is important that residents do not feel 
rushed into making a decision. 

 

4.4. Providing independent information and support 

 
Residents/clients and families/carers will have access to an independent 
information, support and advocacy service. The advocacy service is primarily 
aimed at those people who lack capacity or have communication difficulties 
and do not have other support available or where there is conflict between the 
views of the resident/client and others involved in the process. 

Page 233



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 20 of 31 

 

 

4.5 Resettlement 
 

The identification of the appropriate resource to meet the needs and 
preferences of individuals will be based on the assessment and the resulting 
agreed care and support plan. 

 
4.5.1. Choice and control 

 
It will be important for people to feel that they are given the maximum 
amount of control over their future care provision. This will be enhanced 
by them being able to consider all available options, and to make an 
active positive choice about which provision they prefer. They will be 
facilitated to visit alternative provisions that appear to be able to meet 
their support needs and for which they appear to meet any admission 
criteria. Fieldwork services case workers will provide details to 
individuals of the current potential resources that are available.  The 
Care and Support After-care (Choice of Accommodation) regulations 
(number 2670), 2014 are applicable in the selection of a new home. 

 
4.5.2 Financial implications 

 
The financial implications to the individual of the various options they are 
considering will be carefully explored with them in order to assist them to 
make the best decision for themselves. For many clients this will involve 
the use of a personal budget if they are living independently. If they are 
in a residential home this will cover primarily the costs of a new potential 
placement and how any difference in cost between current and future 
fee levels are met. 

 
4.5.3. Considering the options available 

 
Fieldwork services case workers will be updated about vacancies across 
a range of services by Brokers on a regular basis so that as vacancies 
occur residents can be informed of potential opportunities for moving. 
Care Qualities Commission inspection (CQC) care home reports will be 
made available to assist individuals to make a comparative judgement 
on the quality of homes. 

 
4.5.4. Making the transition 

 
In order to facilitate the smoothest possible transition from the present 
home to the new care setting, a number of checklists have been drawn 
up to provide guidance on issues that need to be covered. The 
checklists cover the areas of: 

 Pre move arrangements (Appendix 1) 

 The process of the move (Appendix 2) 

 Post move arrangements and review (Appendix 3) 

 Transfer to New Provision Summary and Feedback 
Sheet (Appendix 4). 

 
The day of the move will be a particularly significant event in the life of an 
individual. No matter how much planning goes into this to make it as 

Page 234



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 21 of 31 

 

 

positive and supportive as possible, some factors cannot be accurately 
foreseen. These include the health of the resident, the weather and the 
last-minute unavailability of key staff in the actual move. However 
advanced the plans may be, it may be necessary for the move date to be 
re-scheduled rather than to keep to a date despite changing or 
unforeseen circumstances.  This should be kept under close review by 
the Fieldwork services case workers, care staff and relatives/advocates. 

 
The pre-move checklist and process of move checklist (appendices 1 
and 2) are designed to ensure that all aspects of the move have been 
considered in advance and that all arrangements have been made for a 
smooth transition, ensuring that the resident/client moves to a new 
setting with the maximum possible continuity of care to meet their health 
and social care needs. 

 
4.5.5 Reviewing the transition and new arrangements 

 
A review of the new arrangements for each individual will be co- 
ordinated by the Fieldwork services case workers no later than 28 days 
after the move. An earlier review can be arranged if required at the 
request of any party. The Fieldwork services case workers will arrange 
for notes and outcomes of the review to be provided to all those in 
attendance and to those who it is agreed should also receive them. The 
review will consider all aspects of the new support package. 

 
Particular attention needs to be paid in the review to the health and well- 
being of the resident in the light of the risks identified in the assessment 
and how effective the mitigation has been. The review must also consider 
whether fresh risks have been identified now the move has taken place 
and how these can be addressed through mitigation. 

 
After the first review the fieldwork services case workers must complete 
on the Case Management System the Transfer to New Provision 
Summary and Feedback Sheet, available as Appendix 4. These will be 
read by the senior manager involved in the re-settlement process for that 
particular care setting to address any lessons that need to be learnt for 
the current process of re-settlement and any future similar events. 

 
Further reviews need to be carried out on a minimum of an annual basis 
once all parties have agreed that the placement is settled. Up to that 
point reviews need to be carried out at a frequency which enables all 

parties to discuss and resolve how best to ensure the resident/client 
becomes settled in their new setting. If this proves to be unachievable, a 
fresh assessment will be required to consider other options which need to 
be explored. 

 
4.5.6. Timescales for making the move 

 
Research undertaken by the University of Birmingham summarises the 
recommendation by individuals and relatives about closure timescales 
for care homes. The key recommendation made is that notice of closure 

Page 235



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 22 of 31 

 

 

(or departure date) should be flexible and sufficient to allow time for 
alternatives to be properly explored and choices considered. Some 
establishments have waiting lists and these must be taken into account. 
At least two months is recommended, more in areas where there is 
limited supply.  A specific day should not be named. 

 
In order to ensure that sufficient time is available for assessments and 
resettlement plans with all individuals at a home, it is anticipated that the 
assessments and resettlement process will take about 6 months to 
complete. 

 
4.6. Managing any complaints 

A fast track complaints process will be in place so that if any party is 
concerned about any aspect of the process, then they can draw this promptly 
to the attention of the Adult Care complaints manager. 

 

5. Fourth Stage: Making the transition – the practical steps 
 
If the building is to be replaced and there is a particular item that clients and staff 
would like to be put in the building, ensure the new build design team knows this at 
an early stage. Examples of things that can be incorporated into the scheme are 
stained glass, a fire surround. 

5.1. Closing down a service or building 
The closure tasks will be phased over a period of approximately three months: 

This needs to be flexible and require handling sensitively to allow the service to 
operate normally until all the effected individuals have moved. 

5.1.1. Pre-planning: at least three months before closure 

 
At least three months before closure it will be necessary to prepare for the 
move ahead. At this stage it is important to think about what, if anything will 
need to move into any new build, or will need to be taken by current clients / 
residents to their new facility or home.  The following checklist can be used. 

Page 236



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 23 of 31 

 

 

 

Task   

Start to clear out all unwanted items, furniture and rubbish.  

Check existing inventory for accuracy, have items to be disposed 
of written off. This inventory must be retained, and must be 
accurate for audit purposes 

 

Ask for confidential waste to be removed when required  

Advertise a list of items available for re-use, first to local Adult 
Care establishments, then to all Adult Care establishments. 
Ensure they know they will have to make arrangements for 
collection. If there are still items available advertise to other 
departments 

 

REMEMBER chairs, settees, beds and mattresses that do not 
meet FIRE STANDARD IGNITION SOURCE 5 must be put in a 
skip and disposed of 

 

Label items with the name of the establishment it is to go to and 
keep a list where everything has gone 

 

REMEMBER a skip must be 10 meters away from the building and 
if it is to stay on the grounds overnight should have a lockable lid. 
If rubbish is to be collected it should not be piled up next to a 
building 

 

Label all keys to building  

 

 

5.1.2. Four weeks notification of closure 

 
The following tasks include the formal notifications that will be required to 
ensure that a building can be closed down and will not be liable for any 
ongoing amenity bills etc. 

The following list is not comprehensive and each establishment should ensure 
it has notified any other organisations or sections relevant to their 
establishment or service. 

 

Task – The following external organisations have been 
notified in writing: 

  

District Council for Business/Council Tax  

Utilities for gas, electric and water (with a copy to County 
Procurement Section to ensure the establishment is taken off 
any contract lists) 

 

Post Office, with provision of a forwarding address for mail  

Waste companies, sanitary bin suppliers, food suppliers, 
papers, linen hire, call system, burglar alarm 

 

 

 

Task – The following internal organisations have been 
notified by e-mail: 

  

Insurance Section  

The Adult Care General Office with provision of a forwarding 
address for mail 

 

Audit Services  

Page 237



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 24 of 31 

 

 

Exchequer Division  

Human Resources  

ICT Section for telephones, MDF and computer equipment. BT 
for final telephone bill 

 

 

 

5.1.3. Reminders to agencies and contractors: one week before closure 

 
As the date of closure approaches it is important to ensure that the final 
practical and safety arrangements are in place. These will include, but may 
not be limited to: 

 

Task   

Inform Property Services to collect fire-fighting equipment, turn 
off gas, electric and water.  Drain down the heating system. 
Board up windows and doors if required 

 

Inform the Police and ask them to keep an eye on the property  

If the property is to be sold, when the building is completely 
empty all the keys are to be given to the Estates Department. 
Fixed items must not be removed without prior consent 

 

If the building is to be demolished fixed items are not to be 
removed unless permission has been given before the 
demolition contract is awarded 

 

During the period leading-up to the closure of an establishment 
the Unit Manager should seek the co-operation of the suppliers 
of goods and services by asking them to render their final few 
invoices promptly, thereby enabling as many invoices as 
possible to be processed for payment before the property is 
vacated. 

 

  

5.1.4. Final task for closure: on the last day and beyond 
 

 
Task   

Take meter readings and keep a record of them  

 

 
5.2. Preparing to take up occupancy in a new building 

 
As with closure of a facility, preparation for opening a new facility will need to be 
planned ahead and phased. Colleagues from property services or any relevant 
project teams will be able to assist the new manager in this process. 

 

5.2.1. Ordering furniture and equipment: four months ahead of 
completion 

All furniture and equipment will be purchased from approved suppliers on the 
Derbyshire County Council Framework Agreement. This will optimise 
purchasing power, reduce administrative costs and meet DCC financial 
Regulations. 

Page 238



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 25 of 31 

 

 

 
Task   

Place orders with Manufacturers.  
Give Manufacturers estimated delivery dates  

Arrange for quotation for the supply and fitting of curtains and 
bed throws 

 

Arrange with builder when curtain contractors can take an 
accurate measurement 

 

8 weeks before occupation start the registration of the service 
with Care Quality Commission. 

 

Contact the Accountancy Section to arrange for a new imprest 
account, if required. 

 

 

 
5.2.2. Confirm delivery dates – one month before completion 

 

 
Task   

Confirm delivery dates with builders and manufacturers  

Arrange contracts for waste disposal, window cleaning etc.  

 

 
5.2.3. Initial tasks upon occupancy 

 
The manager of the new facility will need to: 

 

Task   

Ensure registration of service has been approved by Care quality 
Commission. 

 

 

Update Travel Plan to reflect journeys of staff appointed.  

Complete fire risk assessment. This will need to be reviewed 
when the building is occupied and as and when required 

 

Prepare Fire Evacuation procedures  
Prepare booking in and out procedure for tracking fob / pagers  
Accept delivery of remaining furniture and equipment  

Arrange for Commissioning/demonstration/instruction of 
equipment such as baths, cooking equipment, call system, fire 
alarm, heating controls 

 

Ensure all operating manuals and certificates are handed over to 
the manager 

 

 

 

5.2.4. Settling in: the first twelve months 
 

 
Task:   

Ensure staff are aware of who to contact about any defects in the 
fabric of the building, fire alarm and electrics. (The builder for the 
first 12 months) 

 

Page 239



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 26 of 31 

 

 

Ensure staff are aware of who to contact about any defects in the 
cooking equipment, dishwasher, laundry equipment and baths. 
(The manufacturer for the first 12 months or until extended 
guarantee expires) 

 

Ensure staff are aware of who to contact about any defects in 
any installed telecare or nurse call system (contact the supplier) 

 

Where accommodation and services are provided through 
partnership arrangements, ensure all staff are aware of whether 
the initial contact as set out above is direct or via partners and 
any differences to contact points in and out of hours 

 

 

 
Please note: If Property Services are called to repair equipment in the first 

twelve months the guarantee is invalid. 

 

6.  Urgent vacation of a care home in emergency situations 

 

Sometimes it is unavoidable that a building needs to be urgently vacated because of a 

catastrophic occurrence. These kinds of occurrences although rare give rise to concerns about 

the immediate health and safety of the residents and staff in the building. Some examples are 

as follows: 

 Major failure of electrical systems which cannot be rectified immediately  

 Major failure of heating systems which cannot be rectified immediately 

 Structural damage caused by flooding, trees falling, or other severe weather related 
incidents 

 Disruption to essential services or supplies for example gas, water, drainage or 
electricity 

 A dangerous occurrence in the local area (e.g. major fire or gas leak) 

In these circumstances a decision would be made by a member of the Adult Social Care and 

Health Senior Management Team (in consultation with relevant Senior Managers from the 

Council’s Property Team) to immediately vacate the building. The Senior Manager will appoint 

a Group Manager to lead and co-ordinate the arrangements required. 

6.1 Given the urgency of the situation the majority of the arrangements described in 
the Major Change and Closure Guidance do not apply. It is however essential that 
communication with staff, residents and their families is facilitated as soon as 
practicable. This needs to include: 

 The reason why it is necessary to evacuate the building 

 What arrangements are being made for residents to move to other suitable 

facilities 

 If possible how long these arrangements might be required 

A nominated Direct Care Service Manger should take responsibility for 

coordinating contact with residents’ families to inform them of the situation as 

soon as practicable. 

 

Page 240



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 27 of 31 

 

 

 

6.2 All Unit Managers of establishments have a responsibility to keep and maintain a 
Business Continuity Plan. If the emergency occurs outside of normal office hours, 
or if a place of safety is required on a temporary basis, it may be necessary to use 
an emergency rest centre. The Council’s Emergency Planning Team will be able 
to assist with arrangements in these circumstances. 

 

6.3 If it is anticipated that the care home needs to be vacated for more than 8 hours 
the priority must be to find alternative placements for residents to move to. Where 
it is possible to make arrangements for residents to move to other local care 
homes this will be facilitated. The local Social Work team Service Manager will be 
responsible for identifying any local available care home places and securing these 
for residents to move to. 

 

6.4 A nominated Direct Care Service Manager will be responsible for arranging 
transport for residents to a rest centre (if required) or directly to another care home 
if this is practicable. The Service Manager will be responsible for ensuring that the 
resident’s belongings (sufficient for the immediate requirements) plus any 
equipment and medication are transported with the resident to the new care home. 

 

6.5 A nominated Direct Care Service Manager will be responsible for ensuring that an 
up to date Personal Service Plan is transferred with the resident to any temporary 
placement. This should include all of the necessary documentation to support the 
provision of support to the resident (i.e. risk assessments, moving and handling 
plan, medication records, log sheets, etc.) 

 

6.6 It may be that depending upon the nature of the situation parts of the building may 
not be accessible and that arrangements will need to be made to secure clothing 
or equipment from another source. The nominated Group Manager will need to 
liaise with the relevant Property Services and Health and Safety advisors on this 
matter and instruct a Service Manager to make the necessary arrangements. 

 

6.7 The nominated Group Manager will confirm to Property that the building has been 
evacuated in order that arrangements can be made for security and turning off of 
utilities (if appropriate). It may be possible (depending on the nature of the 
incident) for the Unit Manager or Deputy Manager to remain in the building in order 
to close down finances and empty the contents of the safe, but this would only be 
after consultation with the relevant Property and Health and Safety advisor. 

 

 

  

Page 241



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 28 of 31 

 

 

7.  Temporary vacation of a care home 

 

It may become necessary to vacate a care home, either fully or partially, on a temporary basis 

whilst work is carried out on the building. This is normally the case when health and safety 

concerns indicate it would not be safe for residents and staff to remain in the building whilst 

work is undertaken. The kind of situations where this might apply are as follows: 

 When rewiring is required meaning that the electrical systems need to be out of action for 

prolonged periods 

 Any works which involve large scale removal of asbestos material from the building 

 Roof replacement or major repairs to the structure of the roof 

 Heating system replacement requiring new pipework and boilers which mean that the 

heating and hot water systems are out of action for prolonged periods 

Wherever possible the provisions in the Major Change and Closure Guidance will still apply, 

the following key points and exceptions should be noted however. 

7.1   Consultation and communication with residents and their families should be 

undertaken in the same way as for a proposal to close a care home. It may be 

necessary to adjust the arrangements depending on the planned work programme. 

If there is concern that the home is unsafe and work is required immediately then 

this is covered by the arrangements set out in section 6 above. 

7.2 The resident and their family’s choice of a temporary placement in another care 
home will also apply as far as possible as per the provisions of section 4.5.1 in the 
Major Change and Closure Guidance above. 

 

7.3 The sections of the Major Change and Closure guidance which do not apply in the 
case of a temporary vacation of a care home in large part relate to the building 
once it has been vacated. It will not be necessary to shut down systems as these 
are likely to still be required to be in operation whilst work is undertaken. It may still 
be necessary to arrange for security at the building at night, the Unit Manager 
should consult with Property about these arrangements.

Page 242



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 29 of 31 

 

 

 

Appendix 1:  Pre-move checklist 

 

Task Person responsible 

Are all relevant assessments up-to-date, detailed and available? Case worker 

Has the new Support Plan been completed and made available? Case worker 

Have the new Personal Support Plan, Life Book and Moving Book 
been completed and made available? 

Unit manager 

Is there a contingency plan for what happens if the person is not 
fit to move on the day? 

Case worker 

Have arrangements been made for a settling in period in the 
receiving care setting? 

Case worker 

Has there been discussion with the manager in the receiving care 
setting who will be responsible for the resident/client? 

Case worker 

Does the resident/client and their relatives or carers know who 
this will be? 

Case worker 

Have arrangements been made for staff in the receiving care 
setting to get to know the resident/client prior to transfer through 
one or more visits to the new care setting? 

Unit manager 

Are the staff of the receiving care setting familiar with the 
resident/client's personal support plan, including issues such as 
how to handle distress and any necessary falls prevention 
considerations? 

Case worker 

Have the staff of the receiving care setting been involved in 
drawing up the transfer plan? 

Case worker 

Has medical cover been discussed and arranged – in particular 
what arrangements are in place for transfer to another GP where 
this is necessary? Also has access to District Nursing support 
been confirmed where required? 

Case worker 

Has an adequate (at least two weeks) supply of medication, 
dressings, and equipment been ordered to cover the post transfer 
period? 

Unit manager 

Has the local pharmacy been informed about any special needs? Unit manager 

Have the assessed needs and the support plan been reviewed in 
the 3 to 4 weeks before the planned transfer? 

Case worker 

Has it been decided who will be travelling with the resident/client 
during the transfer? 

Unit manager 

Has transport been arranged taking account of how many people 
will be travelling with the resident/client and who they will be? 

Unit manager 

Have arrangements been made in the new setting for relatives 
and carers or friends to be able to contact or visit the 
resident/client? 

Case worker 

Does this allow for continuation of previous visiting patterns? Case worker 

Has the resident/client had the opportunity to say goodbye to 
friends and staff? 

Unit Manager 

Has it been agreed what the individual is taking with them? This 
will include the personal possessions they have in their room. It 
may also include a particular item such as a picture or ornament 
which belongs to the home 

Unit Manager 

 

 

Page 243



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 30 of 31 

 

 

Appendix 2:  Process of the move 

 

Task Person Responsible 

Is the resident well enough to move and if not what contingencies 
are in place? 

Unit Manager 

Is all the following documentation completed, dated and ready to 
travel with the resident/client? 

 Moving Book 

 Life Book 

 Personal Service Plan 

 Manual Handling Plan 

 Medication Assessment Record Sheet 

 Key contacts for family, friends and Adult Care staff 

 Details of when the most recent medical examination took 
place 

Unit Manager 

Has the Assessment documentation been shared with special 
note made of any significant risk factors identified and an agreed 
plan of action if intervention is required? 

Case worker 

Are the identified equipment, aids and supplies, either ready for 
travel with the client or in place in the receiving setting? 

Unit Manager 

Have arrangements for packing and transporting the 
resident/client’s possessions been made which include: 

 identifying the items to travel with them and those to arrive in 
advance? 

 packing personal possessions in a suitcase or suitable travel 
bag (not in a plastic bag)? 

Unit Manager 

Have travel arrangements been made which include: 

 who is to travel with the resident/client (eg, key worker, relative 
or carer, or a combination)? 

 the date and time of day travel is to take place, avoiding times 
that would disrupt routine? 

Unit Manager 

Have arrangements been made for the resident/client to be 
received in the new setting which include: 

 confirmation, in advance, by staff in the receiving care setting 
that the new setting is fully prepared? 

 identification of the manager on duty in the new setting to 
receive them? 

Unit Manager 

Page 244



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 31 of 31 

 

 

 

Task Person Responsible 

Is the resident well enough to move and if not what contingencies 
are in place? 

Unit Manager 

 whether the resident/client and their relatives or carers 
accompanying them are to receive a meal or snack and drink 
on arrival? 

 the receiving staff knowing what is likely to be the 
resident/client’s greatest concern - for example where their 
personal possessions are? 

 informing relatives and carers or friends of their safe arrival 

 The capacity of the receiving setting to cope with the new 
arrivals if a large group are arriving on one day 

 

 

Appendix 3:  Post move arrangements and review 

 

Task Person Responsible 

Have the following contact details been provided to the receiving 
home? 

 
Originating home 
Health contacts, particularly the GP / District Nurse / CPN with 
responsibility for the client at the new home 
Fieldwork services case workers 
Partner /family / next of kin 
Contact details of residents/clients of the previous setting that the 
person wishes to continue have contact with. 

Unit Manager 

Have arrangements been made for a follow up visit by the 
Fieldwork services case worker? 

Case worker 

Has a provisional date for reviews been set for no later than 28 
days after the move? Are all potential attendees aware of at least 
the date? 

Case worker 

Are arrangements clear for any agreed visit from staff of the 
previous setting – date / time, for how long? This may be to 
support the resident or to offer advice to the new care setting. 

Unit Manager 

Has the Transfer to New Provision Summary and Feedback 
Sheet been completed and passed to the Group Manager 
(Performance)? 

Case worker 

Has the required review or reviews been held? Service Manager 

Was it on schedule? If not, why not? Service Manager 

Page 245



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 32 of 31 

 

 

 

Task Person Responsible 

Has the care and support plan been revised if necessary to 
address any identified risks and issues? 

Case worker 

 

Appendix 4: Transfer to new provision – summary and feedback sheet 

 
This feedback sheet is designed to collect information about the experience of each 
of the moves arranged. This information will be used to inform the way other moves 
are arranged. 

 
NAME OF CLIENT: 

Summary of move: 

Aspects of the move that went well: 

Aspects of the move that did not go well: 

Any general comments or observations: 

 
Fieldwork services case workers: Date of move: 

Date sheet completed: 

  

Page 246



Once printed, this is an uncontrolled document - Page 33 of 31 

 

 

Appendix 8 

Direct Care Homes for Older People: Timeline of events 

February 2012: Cabinet approves report on the “Revised plan to deliver the strategy for 

accommodation, care and support for older people in Derbyshire”. This was followed by 

consultation on the proposals and subsequent development of Community Care Centres and 

Extra Care developments, and then the closure of some Council run care homes in line with the 

Strategy. 

June 2015: Cabinet approves report on the “Strategic direction for Derbyshire County Council 
Direct Care older persons residential care services 2015-2020”. This changed the direction of 
travel for the Council’s Homes for Older People with a proposal that all would be retained except 
for 4 homes and 1 respite care facility which it was proposed to close. Following consultation 
these closed during 2016. In addition £4.2m was made available to undertake refurbishment 
works at the remaining homes. 

January 2016: refurbishment works commenced at Rowthorne with a view to residents from The 
Glebe moving in when works were completed.  

October 2016: Cabinet approves following consultation the closure of Ada Belfield when a new 
homes is built on Derwent Street, Belper. 

January 2017: Cabinet approves report seeking to undertake essential capital works in all 
homes plus full refurbishment of The Leys. 

June 2017: Evaluation of works required at Hazelwood which includes recommendation that the 
home needs the roof replacing.  

September 2017: Cabinet approves consultation on proposal to close Hazelwood. 

February 2018: Cabinet considers outcome of consultation on the proposal to close Hazelwood 
and approves that it will close when a new care home is built to replace it in the Cotmanhay 
area. 

July 2018: assisted bath installation at Ladycross causes electrical system to fail. Full 
evacuation of all residents undertaken to other local Council run care homes. 

August to November 2018: essential repairs to the electrical system undertaken at Ladycross. 

November 2018: Faithful and Gould commissioned to undertake facet surveys due to concerns 
about general building conditions and electrical systems in the older homes. 

December 2018: works completed at The Leys (including rewiring). 

February to June 2019: Facet survey reports received and developed into project plans. 

May 2019: Cabinet approves a report on the “Older People’s Housing, Accommodation and 
Support Commissioning Strategy” 

September 2019: work begins to develop options for consideration which culminate in the 
January 2020 Cabinet report. 

 

Page 247



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4(a) Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019-20  (as at 31 October 2019)
	4(b) Budget Consultation Results
	4(c) Revenue Budget Report 2020-21
	4(d) Cabinet Programme Approvals, Treasury Management and Capital Strategy
	4(e) Revised Vision and Future Strategy for Direct Care Homes for Older People 2020-2025

